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" INDICTMENT

.The United States of America, by the undersigned Telford Taylor,
Chief of Counsel for War Crimes, duly appointed to represent said
Government in the prosecution of war criminals, charges that the defen-
dants herein participated in a Common Design or Conspiracy to commit
and did commit War Crimes and Crimes against Humanity, as defined
in Control Council Law No. 10, duly enacted by the Allied 'Contro_l
Council on 20 December 1945. These crimes included murders, bru-
talities, crueltiés, tortures, atrocities, and other inhumane acts, as set

. forth in Counts One, Two, and Three of this Indictment. Certain defen-
dants are further charged with membership in a Criminal Organization,
as set forth in Count Four of this Indictment. '

The persons accused as guilty of these crimeés and accordingly named
as defendants in this case are:

KARL BRANDT—Personal physician to Adolf Hitler; Gruppen-
fiihrer in the SS and Generalleutnant in the Waffen SS (Major
General); Reich Commissioner for Health and Sanitation (Reichs-
kommissar fiir Sanitiits- und Gesundheitswesen); and member of
the Reich Research Council (Reichsforschungsrat).

SIEGFRIED HANDLOSER-—Generaloberstabsarzt (Lieutenant
General, Medical Service); Medical Inspector of the Army (Hee-
‘res-Sanitdtsinspekteur); and Chief of the Medi\cal Services of the

~ Armed Forces (Chef des Wehrmachtssanitdtswesens).

PAUL ROSTOCK—Chief Surgeon of the Surgical Clinic in

" Berlin; Surgical Advisor to the Army; and Chief of the Office for

Medical Science and Research (Amtschef der Dienststelle Medi-

zinische ‘Wissenschaft und Forschung) under the defendant Karl
Brandt, Reich Commissioner for Health and Sanitation.

OSKAR SCHROEDER—Generaloberstabsarzt (Lieutenant Gene-
ral, Medical Service); Chief of Staff of the Inspectorate of the
Medical Service of the Luftwaffe (Chef des Stabes, Inspekteur des
Luftwaffe-Sanititswesens); and Chief of the Medical Service of
the Luftwaffe (Chef des Sanititswesens der Luftwaffe).

KARL GENZKEN—Gruppenfiihrer in the SS and Generalleut-
nant in the Waffen SS (Major General) and Chief of the Medical

-
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Department - of the Waffen ss (Chef des Sanitifsamts der Waf--
fen SS).

KARL GEBHARDT—Gruppenfiihrer in the SS and General-
leutnant in the Waffen SS (Major General); Personal physician to
Reichsfithrer SS Himmler; Chief Surgeon of the Staff of the Reich
Physician SS and Police (Oberster Kliniker, Reichsarzt SS und
Polizei); and Pre51dent of the German Red Cross. :

KURT BLOME——Deputy Reich Health Leader (Relchsgesund-
heitsfithrer); and Plenipotentiary for Cancer Research in the Reich
Research Council. ’

RUDOLF BRANDT—Standartenfiihrer in the Allgemeine S8
(Colonel); Personal Administrative Officer to Reichsfithrer SS
Himmler (Perstnlicher Referent von Himmler); and Ministerial
Counsellor and Chief of the Ministerial Ofﬂce in the Reich
Ministry of the Interior. :

JOACHINM MRUGOWSKY-—Oberfiihrer in the Waffen S8
{Senior Colonel); Chief Hygienist of the Reich Physician SS and
Police (Oberster Hygieniker, Reichsarzt SS und Polizei); and Chief
of the Hygienic Institute of the Waffen SS (Chef des Hygienischen
Institutes der Waffen SS).

HELMUT POPPENDICK—Oberfithrer in the SS (Senior Colo-
nel); and Chief of the Personal Staff of the Reich Physician SS
and Police (Chef des Personlichen Stabes des Reichsarztes SS und

" Polizei).

e

WOLFRAM SIEVERS—Standartenfiihrer in the SS.(Colonel);
Reich Manager of the “Ahnenerbe” ,(Society and Director of its In-
stitute for Military Scientific Research (Institut fiir Wehrwissen-'
schaftliche Zweckforschung); and Deputy Chairman of the Manag-
ing Board of Directors of the Reich Résearch Council.

GERHARD ROSE—Generalarzt of the Luftwaffe (Brigadier
General); Vice President, Chief of the Department for Tropical
Medicine, and Professor of the Robert Koch Institute; and Hygienic
Advisor for Tropical Medicine to the Chief of the Medical Service
of the Luftwaffe.

SIEGFRIED RUFF—Director of the Department for Aviation
Medicine at the German Ezxperimental Institute for Aviation
(Deutsche Versuchsanstalt flir Luftfahrt).

HANS WOLFGANG ROMBERG—Doctor on the Staff of the
Department for Aviation Medicine at the German Experimental
Institute for Aviation.



VIKTOR BRACK—Oberfilhrer in the SS (Senior Colonel) and
Sturmbannfiihrer in the Waffen SS (Major); and ,Chief Adminis-
trative Officer in the Chancellery of the Fiithrer of the NSDAP
.(Oberdienstleiter, Kanzlei des Fihrers der NSDAP),

HERMANN BECKER-FREYSENG-—Stabsarzt in the Luftwaffe
(Captain, Medical Service); and Chief of the Department for Avia-
tion Medicine of the Chief of the Medical Service of the Luftwaffe.

GEORG AUGUST WELTZ—Oberfeldarzt in the Luftwaffe
(Lieutenant Colonel, Medical Serv‘ice); and Chief of the Institute
for Aviation Medicine in Munich (Institut fiir Luftfahrtmedizin)\

KONRAD SCHAEFER—Doctor on the Staff of the Institute for
Aviation Medicine in Berlin.

WALDEMAR HOVEN—Hauptsturmfithrer in the' Waffen S8
(Captain); and Chief Doctor of the Buchenwald Concentration
Camp.

WILHELM BEIGLBOECK-—Consulting Physician to the Luft-
waffe.

ADOLF POKORNY—Physician, Spec1ahst in Skin and Vene-
real Diseases.

. HERTA. OBERHEUSER—Physician at the Ravensbruck Con-
centration Camp; and Assistant Physician to the defendant Geb-
hardt at the Hospital at Hohenlychen.

FRITZ FISCHER—Sturmbannfiihrer in the Waffen SS (Ma]or),
and Assistant Physician to the defendant Gebhardt at the Hospital
at Hohenlychen.

AY

COUNT ONE — THE COMMON DESIGN OR CONSPIRACY.; :

1. Between September 1933 and April 1945 all of the defendants
herein, acting pursuant to a common design, unlawfully, wilfully, and
knowingly did conspire and agree together and with each other and with
divers other persons, to commit War Crimes and Crimes against Human-
.ity, as defined in Control Council Law No. 10, Article II.
2. Throughout .the period covered by this Indictment all of the defen-
dants herein, acting in concert with each other and with others, unlaw-=_
{ully, wilfully, and knowingly were principals in, accessories to, ordered, -
abetted, took a consenting part in, and were connected with plans and
enterprises involving, the commission of War Crimes and.Crimes against.
Humanity. - :



3. All of the defendants herein, acting in concert with others for
whose adcts the - defendants are responsible unlawfully, wilfully, and
‘knowingly participated as leaders, organizers, instigators, and accom-
plices in the formulation and execution of the said common design, con-
spiracy, plans and enterprises to commit, and which. involved the com-
mission of, War Crimes and Crimes against Humanity.

. 4, It was a part of the said common design, conspiracy, plans and’
enterprises to perform medical experiments upon concentration camp
inmates and other living human subjects, without their consent, in the
course of which -experiments the .defendants committed the murders,
brutalities, cruelties, tortures, atrocities, and other inhumane acts, more
fully deseribed in Counts Two and Three of this Indictment.

5. The said common design, conspiracy, plans and enterprises embraced
the commission of War Crimes and Crimes against Humanity, as set
forth in Counts Two and Three of this Indictment, in that the de-
fendants unlawfully, wilfully, and knowingly encouraged, aided, abet-
ted, and participated in the subjection of thousands of persons, including
civilians, and members of the armed forces of natiens then at war with
the Gerrman Reich, to murders, brutalities, cruelties, tortures, atrocities,
and other inhumane acts.

. EY

COUNT TWO — WAR CRIMES

6. Between September 1939 and April 1945 all of the defendants herein
unlawfully, wilfully, and knowingly committed War Crimes, as defined
by Article II of Control Council Law No. 10, in that they were principals
in, accessories to, ordered, abetted, took a consenting part in, and were
connected with plans and enterprises involving medical experiments
without the subjects’ consent, upon civilians and members of the armed
forces of nations then at war with the German Reich and who were in the
custody of the German Reich in exercise of belligerent control, in the
course of which experiments the defendants committed murders, brutal-
ities, cruelties, tortures, atrocities, and other inhumane acts. Such expe-
riments included, but were-not limited to, the following:

(A) HIGH ALTITUDE EXPERIMENTS. From about March 1942 to
about August 1942 expenmen*ts were conducted at the Dachau Concen-
tration Camp for the benefit of the German Air Force to investigate the
limits of human endurance and existence at exiremely high altitudes.
The experiments were carried out in a low-pressure chamber in which
the atmospheric conditions and pressﬁres prevailing at high altitude (up
to 68400 feet) could be duplicated. The experimental subjects were
placed in the low-pressure chamber and thereafter the simulated alti-
tude therein was raised. Many victims died .as a result of these experi-
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. ments and others suffered grave injury, torture, and ill treatment. The
defendants Karl Brandt, Handloser, Schroeder, Gebhardt, Rudolf: Brandt,
Mrugowsky, Poppendick, Sievers, Ruff, Romberg, Becker-Freyseng,. and
Weltz are charged with special responsibility for and pammpahon in
these crimes.-

{B) FREEZING EXPERIMENTS. From about August 1942¢to about
May 1943 experiments were conducted at the Dachau Concentration
Camp primarily for the benefit of the German Air Force to investigate
the most effective means of treating persons who had been severely
chilled or frozen. In one series of experiments the subjects were forced
to remain in a tank of ice water for periods up to three hours.’ Extreme
rigor developed in a short time. Numerous victims died in the. course -
of these experiments. After the survivors were severely chilled, ‘rewarm-
ing was attempted by various means. In another series of experiments,
the subjects were kept naked outdoors for many hours at temperatures
below freezing. The victims screamed with pain as parts of theirbodies
froze. The defendants Karl Brandt, Handloser, Schroeder, Gebhardt,
Rudolf Brandt, Mrugowsky, Poppendick, Sievers, Becker-Freyseng, arid
Weltz are charged with special responsibility for and part1c1pat1on ‘in
these crimes.

(C) MALARIA EXPERIMENTS. From about February 1942 to about
April 1945 experiments were conducted at the Dachau ~Concentration
Camp in order to investigate immunization for and treatment of -nya-
laria. Healthy concentration camp inmates were  infected by mosqui-
toes or by injections of extracts of the mucous glands of mosquitoes.
After having contracted malaria the subjects were treated with various
drugs to test their relative efficacy. Over 1,000 involuntary subjeects
were used in these experiments. Many of the victims died and others
suffered severe pain and permanent disability. The defendants: Karl
Brandt, Handloser, Rostock, Gebhardt, Blome, Rudolf Brandt,;. Mrugow-.
sky, Poppenidlck and Sievers-are charged with spec1a1 respons1buh1;y for
and participation in these crimes.

(D) LOST (MUSTARD) GAS EXPERIMENTS. :At varicus tiimes beft-
ween September 1939 ‘and April 1945 experiments  were conducted:at
Sachsenhausen, Natzweiler, and other concentration camps.for the bene-
fit of the German Armed Forces to investigate the most effective treat-
ment of wounds caused by Lost gas. Lost is a poison gas which is com-
monly known as Mustard gas. Wounds deliberately .inflicted on the sub-
jects were infected with Lost. Some of the -subjects died as a result of
these experiments and others suffered: intense - pain and injury. The

_ defendants Karl Brandt, Handloser, Blome, Rostock, Gebhardrt Rudolf
Brandt, and Sievers are charged with special responsanh'ty for and
participation: in these crimes. . - . L . S
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€) SULFANILAMIDE EXPERIMENTS. From about July 1942 to
about September 1943 experiments to invesfigate the effectiveness of
sulfanilamide were condueted at the Ravensbruck Concentration Camp
for the benefit of .the German Armed Forces. Wounds deliberately
" inflicted on the experimental subjects were infected with bacteria such
as streptococcus, gas gangrene, and tetanus. Circulation of blood was
“interrupted by tying off blood vessels at both ends of the wound to
create a condition &milar to that of a battlefield wound. Infection was
aggravated by forcing wood shavings and ground glass into the
voounds. The infection was treated with sulfanilamide and other drugs
to determine their effectiveness. Some subjects died as a result of these
experiments and -others suffered serious injury and- intense agony. The
defendants ‘Karl Brandt, Handloser, Rostock, Schroeder, Genzken, Geb-
hardt, Blome, Rudolf Brandt, Mrugowsky, Poppendick, Becker-Freyseng,
Oberheu:ser and Fischer are charged with special responsibility for and

. parntmcupartmon in these crimes.

. (F) BONE, MUSCLE, AND NERVE REGENERATION AND BONE
TRANSPLANTATION EXPERIMENTS. From about September 1942 to
about December 1943 experiments were conducted at the Ravensbruck
Concentration Camp for the benefit of the German Armed Forces to-
study bone, muscle, and nerve regeneration, and bone transplantation
from one person-to another. Sections of bones, muscles, and nerves were
removed from the subjects. As a result of these operations, many
viotims suffered intense agony, mutilation, and permanent disability.
The defendants Karl Brandi, Handloser, Rostock, Gebhardt, Rudolf
Brandt, Oberheuser, and Fischer are charged with special responsibility
for and participation in these crimes.

(Q) ‘S‘EAWATER EXPERIMENTS. From about July 1944 fo about
‘/September 1944 experiments were conducted at the Dachau Concen-
“{ration Camp for the benefit of the German Air Force and Navy to
study wvarious methods of making seawater drinkable. The subjects
‘were deprived of all food and given only chemically processed seawater.
Such experiments caused great pain and suffering and. resulted  in
serious bodily injury to the victimms. The defendants Karl Brandt, Hand-
loser, Rostock, Schroedm', Gebhardt, Rudolf . Brandt, Mrugowsky, Pop-
pendick, Sievers, Becker-Freyseng, Schaefer, and Beiglboeck are. charged
-with special- responsibility for and participation in these crimes.

(H) EPIDEMIC JAUNDICE EXPERIMENTS. From about June 1943
to about January 1945 experiments were conducted at the Sachsen-
hausen and Natzweiler Concentration Camps for the benefit of the
‘Gérman Armed Forces to investigate the causes of, and inoculations
against, epidemic jaundice. Experimental subjects were deliberately
infected with epidemic jaundice, some of whom died as a result, and
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‘others were caused great pain and suffering. ' The defendants Karl
Bramdt, Handloser, Rostock, Schroeder, Gebhardt, Rudolf Brandt, Mru-
gowsky, Poppendick, Sievers, Rose, and Becker-Freyseng are -charged
with special responsxblhty for and partlcxpatlon m these crimes.

{I) STERILIZATION EXPERIMENTS From about March 1841 ‘to
about January 1945 sterilization expemmenrts were conducted at the
Auschwitz and Ravensbruck Concentration C-éfmps, and ' other places.
The purpose of these experiments was to develop a methiod of sterili-
zation which would be suitable for steﬁlizing millions of people with a’
minimum of time and effort. These experiments were conducted by
means of X-Ray, surgery, and wvarious drugs. Thousands of - victims
were sterilized and thereby suffered great mental and physical anguish.
‘The defendants Karl Brandt, Gebhardt, Rudolf Brandt, Mrugowsky,
Poppendlck Brack, Pokorny, and Oberheuser are charged with spemal
responsibility for and participation in these crimes.

(J) SPOTTED FEVER EXPERIMENTS. From about December 1941
to about February 1945 experiments were conducted at the Buchenwald
and Natzweiler Concentration Camps for the benefit of the German
Armed Forces to investigate the effectiveness of spotted fever and other
vaccines, At Buchenwald numerous healthy inmates were deliberately
infected with spotted fever wirus in order to keep the virus alive; oyer
90 % of the victims died as a result. Other healthy inmates were uspd
to determine the effectiveness of different spotted fever vaccines and of
various chemical substances. In the course of these experiments‘ 75 %0
of the selected number of inmates were vaccinated with one of the
vaccines or nourished with one of the chemical subsba.ncas and, after:a
period of three to four weeks, were infected with spotbed fever germs.
The remaining 25 % were infected without any previous protection in
order to compare the effectiveness of the vaccines and the chemical
substances. As a result, hundreds of the persons experimented upoh
died. Experiments with yellow fever, smallpox, typhus, paratyphus A
and B, cholera, and diphtheria were also conducted. Simillar/experi-
ments with like results were .conducted at Natzweiler Concentration =
Camp. The defendants Karl Brandt, Handloser, Rostock, Schroeder,
Genzken, Gebhardt, Rudolf Brandt, Mrugowsky, Foppendick, Sxevers
Rose, Becker-Freyseng, and Hoven are charged w1th spemal lespon-
31b11'xfty for and partlmpaztuon in these crimes. :

(K) EXPERIMENTS WITH POISON. In or about December 1943 and
in or about October 1944 experiments were conducted at the Buchen-—
wiald Concentration Camp to investigate the effect of various porson;s
upon human beings, The poisons were secretly administered to experi-
mental subjects in their food. The victims died as a result of the poison
or were killed immediately in order to permit autopsies. In or about
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September 1944 experimental subjects were shot with poison bullets and
suffered torture and death. The defendants Genzken, Gebhardt, Mru-
gowsky, and Poppendick are charged with special responsibility for .
and participation in these crimes. :

' (L).INCENDIARY BOMB EXPERIMENTS. From about November
'1943 to about January 1944 experiments were conducted at the Buchen-
wald Conncenftnatxwon Camp to test the effect of various pharmaceutical
preparations on phosphorus burns. These burns were inflicted on experi-
mental subjects with phosphorus matter taken from incendiary bombs,
and caused severe pain, Suffemng, and serious bodily injury. The defen-
dants Genzken, Gebhardt, Mrugowsky, and Poppendick are charged with
special res;ponsxbuhty for and participation in these crimes.

7.. Between June 1943 and September 1944 the defendants Rudolf .
Brandt and Sievers unlawfully, wilfully, and knowingly committed War
Crimes, as defined by Article II of Control Council Law No. 10, in that
tk.ey were principals in, accessories to, ordered, abetted, took a con-
senting part in, and were connected with plans and enterprises involv-
ing the murder of civilians and members of the armed forces of nations
then .at war with the German Reich and who were in the custody of
the German Reich in exercise of belligerent control. One hundred twelve
Jews ‘were selected for the purpose of completing a skeleton collection
for the Reich University of Strasbourg. Their photographs and anthro-
pological measurements were taken. Then they were killed. Thereafter,
comsparilson tests, anatomical research, studies regarding race, patholo-
gical features of the body, form and size of the brain, and other tests,
were. made. The bodies were sent to Strasbourg and defleshed.

8. Between May 1942 and January 1943 the defendants Blome and
Rudolf Brandt unlawfully, w1lfully and knowingly committed War
Cmmes as defined by Article II of Controlf Council Law No. 10, in that »
they were prmCLp_als in, accessories. to, ordered, abetted, took a consent-
ing part in, and were connected with plans and enferpniSes involving the
murder and mistreatment of tens of thousands of Polish nationals who
were civilians and members of the armed forces of a nation then at war
with the German Reich.and who were in the custody of the German
Reich in exercise of belligerent control. These people were alleged to be
infected with incurable tuberculosis. On the ground of insuring the
health and welfare of Germans in Poland, many tubercular Poles were
ruthlessly exterminated . while others were isolated in death camps

with - ‘inadequate .medical facilities.

9. Between September 1939 and- Apl‘l]. 1945 the defendants Karl
Brandt, Blome, Brack, -and Hoven unlawfully, wilfully, and knowingly
committed War Crimes,Aas-defined by. Article II of Control Council Law
No. 10, in that they were principals in, accessories to, ondere;l,abeftted,
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took a consermtmg part in, and were con:nec‘oed with pltans and enter-
prises involving the execution of the so-called “euthanasia” program of
the German Reich in the course of which the defendants ‘herein murder-

'ed hundreds of thousands of human beings, including nationals’ of
German-occupied countries. This program involved the systematic and -
secret execution of the aged, insane, incurably ill, of deformed children,
and other persons, by gas, lethal mJectmms and divers other means in

" nursing, homes, hospitals, and asylums. Such persons were regarded- as
“yseless eaters” and a burden to, the’ German war machine. The rela-
tives of these victims were informed that they died from natumal causes,
such as heart failure. German doctors involved in the “euthanasia”
program were also sent to the Eastern occupied countries to assist in the
miass extermination of Jews. ’

10. The said War Crimes constitute violations of international con-
ventions, particularly of Articles 4, 5, €, 7, and 46 of the Hague Regu-
lations, 1907, and of Articles 2, 3, and 4 of the Prisoner-of-War' Coniven-
tion (Geneva, 1929), the laws and customs of war, the general principles
of criminal law as derived from the criminal laws of -all civilized

- nations, the internal penal laws of the countries in which such crimes
were commifted, and of Article II, of Control Council Law No. 10.

COUNT THREE — CRIMES AGAINST HUMANITY
- 11. Between September 1939 and April 1945 all. of the defendants
herein unlawfully, wilfully, and knowingly committed Crimes against
Humanity, as defined by Article II of Control Council Law No. 10, in
that they were principals in, accessories to, ordered, abetted, took a con-
senting part in, and ‘were.connected with plans and. enterprises involv-
ing medical experiments, without the subjects’ consent, upon German
¢ivilians and nationals of other countries, in the course of which experi-
ments the defendants committed murders, brutalities, cruelties, tortures,
atrocities, and other inhumane acts. The panticulars concerning such
experiments are set’ “forth 1n Paragraph 6 of Count Two of this. Indict-
ment and are mcorponated herein by reference.
- 12. Between: June 1943 and September 1944 the defendants Rudolf
7 BrandTand Sievers: unlawfully, -wilfully, and knowingly K committed
. Grimes agamsthwmamty, as.defined by Article II of Control Counc11 Law
No. 10; in' that ‘they were principals-in, accessories -to, ordered, abetted,
B took a consenting part in, and were connected with plans. and enterprises.
involving the murder of German civilians and nationals of other coun-
fries, The- pantmullars coneerning . such murders are set “orth in Para-
- graph 7 of Count Two of. this Indncbmemt and are mcorporated herein
~ By-reference. .
13 Between ‘May 1942 and January 1943 the. defendants Blome . and
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Rudolf Brandt unlawfully, wilfully, and knowingly committed Crimes
against Humanity, as .defined by Article II o:f Control Counml Tiaw
‘No. 10, in that they were pmnmpals in, accessories. td orderewd abe
took a consenting part in, and were connected with plans and enter—
prises involving the murder and mlsrea’cment of tens of thousands of
Polish nationals. The particulars concerning such murder and 1nhuumane_
treatment are set forth in Paragraph 8 of Count Two of thls Imdmtment
and are incorporated herein by ‘reference.

14. Between. September 1939 and April 1945 the d'efendan’vs Karl
Brandt, Blome, Brack, and Hoven unlawfully, wilfully, and knowmgly
committed Crimes agamst Humanity, as defined by Arhcle II oi Comtrol_
Council Law No. 10, in that they were pnnclpals m accessorles to or-'
dered, abetted, took a consenting part in, and were connected wmh
plans and enterprises involving the execution of the so-called “euthanra-
sia” program of the German Reich, in the course _of which the defen-

" dants herein murdered hundreds of thousands of human beings, mcluvd-
ing German civilians, as well as civilians of ofther naltwns The partlou-
lars concerning such murders are set forth in Paragraph 9 of Count ’I‘wo
of ‘this Indictment and are incorporated herein by reference o

15. The said Crimes against Humanity . constitute. v1ola1;10ns of . 1qter~
national conventions, including Artncle 46 of the Hague Regulartmns
1907, the laws and customs of war, the general "principles’ of criminél
law as derived from the criminal laws of all civilized na’mons, ‘the inter-

nal penal laws of the countries in which such cmmes ‘were commrltted
and of -Anticle II of -Control Council Law No 10 E k

COUNT FOUR. ~— MEMBERSHIP IN CRIMINAL ORGANIZATION

16. The defendants Karl Brand(c, Genzken, Gebhardt, Rudolf ‘Brandt,
Mrugowsky, Poppendick, Sievers; Brack, Hoven, and Fischer are guilty
of membership in an organization declared to be criminal:by the In-
ternational Military Tribunal in Case No. 1, in that each of the said
defendants was a member of DIE SCHUTZSTAFFELN DER NATIOG-
NALSOZIALISTISCHEN DEUTSCHEN ARBEITERPARTEI (comnionly
known as the “SS”) after 1 September 1939.  Such membeérship: is in vio- -
lation of Paragraph I (dj Article IT of Control Council:Law No. 10.-:

Wherefore, this Indictment is. filed with.the Secretary: General of the
Military Tribunals and the charges herein’ made against. the above .
mamed defendanrts are hereby presented to MILITARY. TRIBUNAL Nn 1.

: : " - TELFORD- TAYLOR™

- Brigadier -General,” USA“ S

Chief -of "Counsel “fo"Wat Crimes * :
Acting .on Behalf of the Umted Staftes*of Amenca'
“Nuranberg, 25 ‘October 1946~ < - -
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INDICTMENT

The. United States of America, by the undelsigned Telford Taylor,

. Chiet of Counsel for War Crimes, duly appointed to represent said
Government in the prosécu’rion of war criminals, charges the defendant

" Erhard Milch with the commission of War Crimes and Crimes- against
Humanity as defined in Control Council Law No. 10, duly enacted by

. the Allied Control Council on 20 December 1945@ defendant Milch
;belween 1939 and 1945 was: Secrefary of State in the Air Ministry -

" (Slaafssekretdr im Reichslufifahri-Ministerium), Inspecior General of the
" Air Force (Ge‘neralinspecieur.der\ Luflwaffe), Deputy fo the Commander
in Chief of the Air Force (Stellverireter des Oberbefehlshabers der Luft-

‘waffe), and Member of the Nazi Party (Mitglied der NSDAP). The defen-
dant Milch was also Field Marshal in_the Lufiwaffe (Generalfeldmarschall

in der Luftwaffe) 1940—45, Aircraft Master General (Generallullzeug-

meister) 1941—44,- Member of the Central . Planning Board (Mitglied

der ,Zentralen. -Rlanung”) 1942—1945, and Chief of ‘the Jaeger--

-stab 1944—1945. The War Crimes and Crimes against Humanity charged
herein agamsl H're defendant MIlCh include deportation, enslavement

and mis-treatment of millions of persons patticipation in criminal medi-

cal ‘experimenfs upon human beings, and murders, brutalities, cruellles,

forlures, alrocmes, and other inhumane acfs.
)

COUNT ONE

1 Between Seplember 1939 and May 1945 the defendant Miich
) unlawfully, wiltully, and knowingly committed War Crimes as defined by
Article Il of Confrol Council Law No. 10, in that he was a principal -in,
accessory b, ordered, abetted, fook a consenting part.in, and was con-
~ nected with plans and enterprises involving slave labor and deportation '
to slave labor of - the civilian populations of Austria, Czechoslovakia,-
ltaly, Hungary, and other countries and territories occupied by the Ger-
man armed forces, in the course of which millions of ‘persons were™
enslaved, deported, ill treated, terrorized, tortured, and murdered.



* 2. Between September 1939 and May 1945 the defendant Milch
“unlawfully, wilfully, and knowingly committed War Crimes as defined
- by Arhcle Il of Control Council Law No. 10, in that he was a principal
in, accessory fo, ordered, abetted, fook a consenting part in, and was
connected with plans and enferprises involving the use of prisoners of
war in war operations and work having a direct relation with war opera-
tions, including the manufacture and fransportation of arms and muni-
tions, in the course of which murders, cruelties, ill freatment, and other
infiu_mané’acis were commitfed against members of the armed forces of
" nations then at war with the German Reich’ and who were in custody of
the German Reich in the exercise of) belligerent confrol. '

3. In the execution of the plans and entferprises charged in Paragraphs
1 and 2 of this Count, millions of persons were unlawfully subjected to
forced labor under cruel and inhumane conditions which resulted  in
~ widespread. suffering. At least 5,000,000 workers were deported -to
- Germany. The conscription of labor was accomplished in many cases by
drastic and violent methods. Workers destined for the Reich were sent.
) un;der'éuard-fo Germany, often packed in trains with8ut adequate heat,
food, clothing or sanitary facilities. other inhabitants of occupied coun-
-tries were conscripted and compelled to work in their own countries to
assist the German war economy and on forfifications and military instal-
lations. The resources and needs of the occupied tountries were com-
plefely disregarded in the execution of the said plans and enferprises.
Prisoners of war were assigned to work directly related o war opera-
tions, including work in munitions factories, loading bombers, carrying
ammunifion, and manning anti-aircraft- guns. The freatment of slave
laborers and prisoners of war based on the principle that they should be
fed, sheltered, and ftreated in such a way as to exploit them to ihe.
greaiesi possible extent at the lowest expendliure * :

4. The defendant Mllch from 1942, to 1945 was a member of the
" Central Planning Board which had supreme authority for th& schedul-
ing of production and the allocafion and development of raw-materials
in the German war ecomony. The Central Planning Board determined
the labor requiren/renfs of industry, agriculfure and all other phases of
German war economy, and made requisitions for and allocations of
such labor. The defendant Milch had full knowledge of the illegal man-
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ner in which fdrelgh faborers were ®onscripted and prisoners of war
utilized to meef such requisitons, and of the unlawful and inhumane
conditions under. which they were exploifed. He atténded the meelings
of the Central Planning Boatd, participated in ifs decisions and in the
formulation of basic policies will reference to the exploitation of such
labor, advocafed the increased use of forced labor and prisoners of war '
. fo expand war production, and urged that cruel and repressive measures

‘ be ufilized to procure and exploit such labor..

5 During the years 1939—1945 the defen}ianf Milch, as Secretary of
, Sfafe in the Air Ministry, Inspector General of the Air Force, Deputy fo
the Commander in Chief of the Air Force, Field Marshal in the Luft-
" waffe, Aircraft Master General, and Chiet of the Jaegerstab, had respon-
~ sibility for the development and production ‘of arms and munitions for
' the German Air Force. The defendant Milch exploited foreign laborers
and prisoners of war in the arms, aircraft and munitions factories under
- his control, made requisitions for and allocations of such labor within
the aircraft industry, and personally directed that cruel and repressive
measures be adopfed towards such labor.

6. Pursuant fo the order of the defendant Milch, prisoners of war _
who had attempted escape were murdered on or about 15 February 1944.

7. The said War Crimes constitute violations of mfernahonal conven-
hons, parhcularly of Arficles 4, 5, 6, 7, 46, and 52 of the Hague Regula-
fions, 1907, and of Articles 2, 3, 4, 6, and 31 of the Prisoner-of-War Con-

" vention- (Geneva, 1929), the laws customs of war, the general principles-
" of-criminal law as derived from the criminal laws of all civilized nafions,
the infernal penal laws of the countries in which such crimes were com="
mitted, and Article Il of Control Council Law No. 10.

COUNT TWO

8. Between March 1942 and May 1943 the defendant Milch unlaw-
fully, wiltully, and knowingly committed War Crimes as defined in
Arlicle Il of Control Council Law No. 10, in that he was a principal in,
accessory fo, ordered, abetfted, took a-consenting part in and was con-
nected with plans and enferprises involving medical experiments without
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the subjects’ consent, upon members of the armed forces and civilians
of nations then at war with the German Reich and who were in the’
-custody of the German Reich in the exercise of belligerent control, in
the course of which experimenfs the defendant Milch, together with
divers ofher persons, commitied murders, bruialities, cruelfies, fortures,
and other .inhumane acfs. Such experiments included, but were not
limited to, the following: ) .

) (A) HIGH ALTITUDE EXPERIMENTS. From about March-1942 o about
" August 1942 experiments were conducted at the Dachau concentrafion,
camps for the benefit of the German Air Force fo investigate the limits
~ of human endurance and- exis!ence at exiremely high altitudes. The expe-
rimenfs were carried out in a low-pressure chamber in which the atmos-
pheric conditions and pressure prevailing at high altitudes (up to 68,000
feet) could be duplicated. The experimental subjects were placed in the
low-pressure chamber and thereafier the simulated alfitude therein was
raised. Many victims died as a result of these experlmenfs and others

suffered grave injury, torture, and ill freaiment. '

" (B) FREEZ: NG EXPERIMENTS. From about Augusf 1942 to about May
1943 expenmenfs were conducted at the Dachau concentration camp
primarily for the benefit of the German Air Force to invesfigate the most
effective means of treating persons who had been sevetely chilled or
frozen. In one series of experimenfs the subjects were forced to' remain
in a fank of ice water for periods up fo three hours. Exfreme rigor
developed in a short fime. Numerous victims died in the course of these
experiments. After the survivors were severly chilled, rewarming was
attempted by various means. In another series of experiments, the sub-
jects were kept naked outdoors for many hours at temperatures below
freezmg The victims screamed with pain as parts of their bodies froze.

9. The sal'd War Crimes constitute violations of |nfernahonal conven-
tions, particularly of Articles 4,5, 6, 7, and 46 of the Hague Regulations,
1907, and of Arficles 2, 3, and 4 of the Priscner-of-War Convention -
(Geneva, 1929), the latvs and cusfoms of war, the general principles of
criminal Iv:-;w as derived from the criminal laws of all civilized nations,
the infernal penal laws of the counfries in which such crimes were
committed, and of Article Il, of Convirol ‘Council Law No ’10
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COUNT THREE »

" 10. Between September 1939 and May. 1945 the defendant Milch
unlawfully, wilfully, and khowingly committed Crimes against Humanity,-
~as defined by Article Il of Control Councnl Law No 10, in that he was a
principal in, accessory fo, ordered, abetied took a consenting part in, -
and was connected with plans and enterprises involving slave labor and
deporiahon to slave labor of German natfionals and nationals of other
countries in “the course of which mllhons of persons were enslaved,
deported, ill ireated, terrorized, 1oriured and murdered. The particulars
of these crimes are set forth in Count One of this Indictment and are
incorporated h\érein by reference. )

11, Between March 1942 and May 1943, the defendant Milch unlaw-
fully, wilfully, and knowingly committed Crimes against- Humanity as
defined in Article I of Conirol Council Law No. 10 in that he was prin-
cipal in, accessory to, ordered, abetied, fook a consenting part in, and
was connected withplans and enlerprises involving medical experiments, .
without the subjects’ consent, upon German nationals and nationals of
other counfries, in the course of which experiments the defendant Milch,
together with divers other persons,'c‘ommiﬂed murders. brutalities, cruel-
{ies, tortures, atrocifies, and other inhumane acts. The parficulars of such
experiments are set forth in Count Two of this Indictment and are ‘incor-

porated herein by refei'ence
.

12, The said Crimes 'against Humanity consfifute violations of infer-
nahonal convenhons, the laws and customs of war, the general principles
of-criminal law-as derived from the criminal laws of all civilized nations,
the infernal penal laws of the countries in which such crimes were com-
mitted, and Aricle Il of Control Councii Law No. 10.

WHEREFORE, this Indictment is filed with the Secretary General of
the Military Tribunals and the charges herein made against the above
,n'amed defendant are hereby presented to the Military Tribunals.

. .. TELFORD TAYLOR .
o ‘ C Brigadier General, USA
' ' Chief of Counsel for War Crimes
Acting on Behalf of the United States of Amer;ca

Nurnberg, 13 November 1946
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INDICTMENT

- The United States of America, by the undersigned Telford Taylor,
Chief of Counsel for War Crimes, duly appointed to represent said
" Government in the prosecution of war criminals, charges that the defend-
-ants herein participated in a Common Design or Conspiracy to commif
- and did commit War Crimes and Crimes against Humanity, as defined -
in Control Council Law No. 10, duly,enacied by the Allied Control
Council on 20 December 1945. Th,ese crimes included murders, bru-
falifies, cruelties, tortures, atrocities, plunder of private property, and
_ other inhumane acts, as set forth in Counts One, Two, and Three of this
“Indictment. Certain defendants are further charged with membership in
Criminal Organizations, as set forth in Count Four.of this Indictment.

, - The persons accused as guilty of these crimes and accordlngly named .
~ as defendants in this cause are:

_JOSEF ALTSTOTTER — Chief (Mmlsferlaldlrekfor) of the Civil Law
and Procedure Division (Abtéilung V1) of the Reich Ministry of Justice;
and Oberfuehrer in the SS.

WILHELM VON AMMON — Ministerial Counsellor (Mlnlsienalraf)
of the Criminal Legislation and Administration Division. (Abteilung IV)
of the Reich Ministry. of Justice and coordinator of proceedings against
foreigners for offenses agalnsf Reich occupahonal forces abroad.

PAUL BARNICKEL — Senior Public Prosecutor (Relchsanwalf) of the
People's. Courf (Volksgerlchishof), Sturmfuehrer in the SA. - E

HERMANN CUHORST- — Chief Justice (Senaisprasident) of the

Special Court (Sondergericht) in Stuttgart; Chief Justice of the First Crimi-

" nal Senate of the District Court (Landgericht) in Stuttgart; member of the

- Leadership Corps of the Nazi Party at Gau executive level; sponsoring
member (Foerderndes Mitglied) of the SS.

KARL ENGERT — Chief (Ministerialdirektor) of the Penal Adminis-
tration Division (Abfeilung V) and of the secret Prison Inmate Transfer
- Division (Abteilung XV) of the Reich M‘lnlsiry of Justice; Oberfuehrer in
the SS; Vice President of the People’s Court (Volksgerlchishof), Orts-
_Sruppenleiter in the NSDAP Leadership Corps. '

GUENTHER JOEL — Legal Adviser (Referent) to the Reich Minister -
of Justice concerning criminal prosecutions; Chief Public Prosecutor
(Generalslaatsanwal’r) of Westphalia at Hamm; Obersfurmbannfuehrer
in the SS5; Unfersiurmbannfuehrer in the SD.



HERBERT KLEMM — State Secrefary (Staatssekretaer) of the Reich
- Minisfry of Justice; Director (Ministerialdirektor) of the Legal Education
and Training Division (Abteilung 11y in the Ministry of Justice; Deputy
Director of the National Socialist Lawyers League (NS Rechtswahrerbund);
Obergruppentfuehrer in the SA. -

ERNST LAUTZ — Chief Public ‘Prosecitor (Obetreichsanwalt) of the -

- People’s Court.

WOLFGANG METTGENBERG — Represen’tahve of the Chief (Mini-

sierlaldlrlgeni) of_the Criminal Legislation and Administration Division
" {Abteifung 'IV) of the Reich Ministry of Justice, parhcularly supetvising
criminal offenses- against German occupahonal forces in occupied ter-
Jr”rorles :

GUENTHER NEBELUNG — Chiet Jushce of ihe Fourth Senaie of

-the People’s Court; Sturmfuehrer in the SA; Orisgruppenlelier in the

"NSPAP Leadership Corps

* RUDOLF OESCHEY — Judge (Landgerlchisraf) of fhe Speual Court
in Nurnberg and succéssor fo the defendant Rothaug as Chief Justice

(Landgerichisdirektor) of the same court; member of the Leadership’

Corps of the Nazi Party at Gau executive level (Gauhaupisiellenleiter);
an executive (Kommissarischer Leiter) of the Nahonal Socialist Lawyers
League.

‘HANS PETERSEN — Lay Judge of ihe F|rsf Senate of the Peop!e s
‘Court; Lay Judge of the Special Senate (Besonderer Senat) of the
People_’s Courl; Lieutenant General (OBergruppenfuehrer) in the SA,

- OSWALD ROTHAUG — Senior Public Prosecutor (Reichsanwalt) of

- the-People’s Court; formerly Chief Justice of the Special Court in Nurn-

berg;- member of the Leadershlp Corps oi- fhe Nazi Party: af Gau
executive level.

CURT ROTHENPERGER — State Secretary (Staatssekretaer) of the
Reich Ministry of Justice; deputy president of the Academy of German
Law (Akademie des Deutschen Rechis), Gaufuehrer of the Nahonal
Socialist Lawyers League.

FRANZ SCHLEGELBERGER — State Secrefary, Achng Reich Minister

of Jushce .

CARL WESTPHAL — Ministerial Counsellor (Ministeriairat) of the
Criminal Legislation and Administration Division (Abteilung 1V) of the
Reich Ministry of Justice, and officially responsible for questions of
criminal procedure and‘ penal execution within the Reich; Ministry
coordinator_for nullity pleas against adjudicated senfences$
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COUNT ONE
'I'HE COMMO’N DESIGN AND CONSPIRACY

- - - >

’ 1 Between January 1933 and April 1945 all of the clefendanis herein,
achng pursuant fo a common design, unlawfully, wilfully, and knowingly-
~did conspire and agree fogether and with each other and with divers.
- other persons, fo commit War Crimes and Crimes against Humanliy, as
deflned in Control Council Law No. 10, Arficle II.-

2 Throughout the period covered by this Indlclmenf all of ihe de—

: fefidanls herein, acting in concert with each other and with othess,

-unlawfully, wilfully, and knowingly were principals in, accessories fo,

" ordered, abetted, fook a consenting part in, and were connecied with

~plans and enterprises involving, the commission of War Crlmes and
Crlmes ‘against Humanity. - :

B 3. All of the defendanls herein, achng in concerf W|fh each other
" and with others, unlawfully, wilfully, and knowmgly participated " as
leaders, organizers, instigators, and accomplices in the formulation and
" execution of the said common design, conspiracy, plans, and enterprises .
‘o commit, and which involved the commission of, War Crimes ‘and -
Crimes agairist Humanity, and accordingly are individually responsible
for their own acts and for all acts performed by any. person or persans.
in exe’:uhon of the said common design, conspiracy, plans, and enier- :
prises. - -

4. The sald common design, conspiracy; plans, and. enierprlses

embraced the commission -of War Crimes and Crimes against Humanity,
as set forth in Counts Fwo and Three of this Indictment, in that the
defendanfs unlawfully, W|lfu|ly, and knowingly encouraged, aided, abet-
- ted, and participated in the commission of atrocities and offenses against
persons and property, inciuding plunder of private property, murder, -
extermination, enslavement, deporiation, unlawful imprisonment, forture, -
-persecutions on political, racial, and religious grounds, and ill-treatment
-of,-and other inhumane acfs against thousands of persons, including
German civilians, nahonals of other countries, and prisoners of war.

» 5.0t was a part of the said common dengn, conspiracy, plans, and
»enierpnses to enact, issue, enforce, and give effect to certain purported
stafutes; decrees, and orders, which were criminal both .in inception and -
€xecution, and to work with the Gestapo, SS, SD, SIPO, and RSHA
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_ for criminal purposes, in the course of which the defendants, by distor-

" tion.and denial of judicial and penal process, commitied the murders,

“brutalities, cruelties, fortures, atrocities, and other inhumane acts, more’
fully de scribed in Counts Two and Three of this Indictment.

6.The said common design, conspiracy, plans, and ‘enterprises
embraced the ‘assumption by the Reich Ministry of Justice of total control
of the Administration of Justice, including preparation of legislation
concerning -all branches of law, and control of the courts and prisons.
" The supfeme adminisiration of justice in all German states was frans- -
ferred to the Reich Ministry of Justice in 1934.- Thereupon, cerfain extra-
ordinary couris of a predominantly political nature, with wide and ar-
bitrary criminal jurisdiction, were superimposed upon the existing or-
“dinary court system. The People’s Court (Volksgerichishof) became the
- court of original and final jurisdiction in cases of "high freason” and
"treason”. This Court itself had jurisdiction over the investigation and
prosecution of all cases before it, and there was no appeal from -ils
‘decision._ The Court’s territorial jurisdiction was extended not only to
all annexed countries of the Reich but also to the “Protectorate”
(Bohemia and Moravia) .in 1939. Beginning in 1933, Special Courls
-(Sondergerichte) also were-superimposed upon the ordinary court system
under the Reich Ministry of Justice. These Special Courts were of a.
character which had been outlawed unfil the NSDAP seizure of power.
Jurisdiction of these Special Courfs extended to all “political” cases, as
well as to all acts deemed inimical fo either the Party, the Government,
or continued prosecution of the war. At least one Special Court was
altached to every Court of Appeal (Oberlandesgericht); Public Pros-
“ecutors could arbitrarily refer thereto any case from the local courts
(Amisgerichte) or from the criminal division of the district courfs (Land-
-gerichte). Despite guaranties in the Weimar Constitution and the German
Judicature Act, that no one may be deprived of his competent judge,
‘and prohibitions against irregular fribunals, these courts were imposed
upon Germany, as well as upon the “Protecforate” and the occupied
countries. \

7.The said common design, conspiracy, plans, and enferprises
embraced the use of the judicial process as & powerful weapon for the -
persecution and ‘exfermination of all.-.opponenis of the Nazi regime
regardless of nafionality and for the persecution and extermination of
“races”. The special political fribunals mentioned above visited cruel
punishn‘]ent and death upon polifical opponents and members of cerfain
“racial”” and netional groups. The People’s Court was presided over °
by a minority of trusted Nazi lawyers, and a majority of equally frusted
laymen appointed by Hitler from the Elite Guard and Party hierarchy.
- The/People’s- Court in collaboration with the Gestapo became a terror

\
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court, nofonous for the seventy of pumshmeni,_ secrecy of proceedmgs,
‘and denial fo the accused of all semblance of judicial process. *Pun-
ishment was meted out by Special Courts to victims under a law which
condemned all who offended the “healthy sentiment of the people”.
Independence of the judiciary was desiroyed Judges were removed
~ from the bench for political and “racia¥. reasons. Periodic “letters” were -
“sent by the Ministry of Justice fo all Relch judges and public prosecutors,
instructing them as to the results they must accomplish. Both the. bench
and bar were continually spied upon by the Gestapo and SD, and were
directed to keep disposifion of their cases politically acceptable. Judges,
prosecutors and, in many cases, defense counsel were reduced in effec
-fo an administrative arm of the Nazi Party. - :



'COUNT TWO — WAR CRIMES

~ 8.Between September 1939 and April 1945 all of the defendants
herein unlawfully, wilfully, and knowingly committed War Crimes, as
defined by Control Council Law No. 10, in that they were pnnupals in,
accessories fo, ordered, abetted, fock a consenting part in, and were
connected with plans and eniferprises involving the commission of
afrocities and offenses against persons and property, including, but not
limited to, plunder of -private property, murder, -torfure, and illegal
imprisonment of, and brufalitiss, atrocities, and - other inhumane acis
against thousands of persons. These crimes included, but were not
limited {o, the facts set out in Paragraphs 9 to 117 inclusive, of this Indict-
ment, and were committed against civilians of occupied territories and
members of the Armed Forces of nations then at war with the German -
Reich and who were in the custody of the German Reich in the exearcise
of belligerent control.’ . : ~ '

9. Extraordinary irregular courts, superimposed upon the regular couri
system, were used by all of the defendants for the purpose of and in
fact creating a reign of terror fo suppress political opposition ‘to the
Nazi regime. This was accomplished principally through the People's
Court (Volksgerichishof) and various Special Courts (Sendergerichte),
which subjected civilians of the occupied countries fo criminal abuse of
judicial and penal process including repeated trials on the same charges;
criminal abuse of discretion,. unwarranied imposition of the - death
penalty, pre-arrangement of sentences between judges and prosecutors,
-discriminatory frial processes, and other criminal practices, all of which
resulted in murders, brutalities, cruelties, tortures, atrocities, plunder of
" private property, and other inhumane acts, N

: 10. Special Couris subjecfed Jews of all naﬁonaliiies, Poles, Ukranians,
" Russians, and other nationals of the occupied Eastern territories, indis-
criminafely classed as “Gypsies”, todiscriminatory and special penal
laws and trials, and denied them all semblance of judicial process. These
. persons who had been arbitrarily designated “asocial” by conspiracy
and agreemenf between the Ministry of Justice and the SS.were turned
- ‘over by the Ministry of Justice, both. during and after service of prison
senfences, fo the SS to be worked to death. Many such persons were
given a summary travesty of frial before extraordinary courts, and after
serving the seniences imposed upon them, were turned over to the
Cestapo for “protfective custody” in concentration camps.. Jews dis-
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charged fram prison were furned over to the Gestapo for final detention -
in Auschwitz, Lublin, and other concentration camps. The above-
described proceedings resulted in the murder, torture, and ill-freatment
of thousands of such_persons. The defendants von Ammon, Engert,
Klemm, Schlegelberger, Mettgenberg, Rothenberger, and Westphal are
charged with special responsibility for and participation in these crimes.

11.The German criminal laws, through a series of expansions and.

" perversions by the Ministry of Jusiice, finally embraced passive defeatism,
petty misdemeanors and irivial private utterances as freasonable for the

" purpose ‘of exterminating Jews or other nafionals of the occupied coun-
tries. Indictments, trials and conviclions were fransparent devices for
a system of murderous extermination and death became the routine

~ penalty. Jutisdiction of the German criminal code was extended to. the
entire world, o cover acts of non-Germans as well as Germans living

- outside the Reich. Non-German naticnals were convicted of and executed.
for.“high freason” allegedly commited against the Reich. The above-

~ describad proceedings resulted in the murder, torture, unlawful impris-

- -onment, and ill-freafiment of thousands of persons. The defendants Bar-.
nickel, Cuhorst, Klemm, Lautz, Meftgenberg, Nebelung, Oeschey, Pefer- -
sen, Rothaug, Rothenberger, Schlegelberger, and Westphal are charged

* with special responsibility for and participation in these crimes. . - -

“= 12, The-Justice Ministry aided and implemented the unlawful annexa-
tion and occupation of Czechoslovakia, Poland, and France. Special
" Courls- were created: fo tacilitate the extermination of Poles and Jews
and the suppression of political opposition generally by the employment
ummary_ procedures and -the ‘enforcement of Draconic penal laws.
‘were limited fo death or transfer to the 'SS for extermination.
ple's ‘Court and Special Courts were projected into these ‘coun-
régular prejudicial regulations and procedures were invoked with-.
tice (even in violation of the Reich Criminal Code as unlawfully
~extended fo. other occupjed ‘ferritories), sentences were pre-arranged,
" and trial and execution followed sérvice of ‘the indictment wifhin a-few
“hours.: The above-described” proceedings resulted in the murder, ill-
_dreatment, and' unlawful imprisonment of thousands of persons.. The
_ 'c_lef'e_ndanisi Klemm, ‘Lautz, Mettgenberg, Schlegelberger, and Westphal
- ake"charged with special responsibility for and participation in these

crimes,

.~ "13.The Ministry of Justice participated with the OKW and the Ge-
_"r§f§p0, in- the execution of Hitler's decree of "night and fog” (Nacht und
Ne}g_,(lel) whereby civilians of occupied ferritories who had been accused
‘of crimes of resistance against occupyihg forces were spitited away for
se}clre’t f_rial by certain Special Courts of the Justice Ministry ‘within the -
Reith, in the course of which the victims’ wheteabouts, -frial, and sub-

RN . .
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sequent ‘dispositioh were kept complefely secref, thus serving the dual
. purpose of terrorizing the victims' relatives and associates and barring
recourse fo any evidence, witnesses, or counsel for defense, The accused
was not informed of the disposition  of his-case, and in almost every
instance those who were acquitted or who had served their sentences
were handed over by the Justice Ministry fo the ‘Gesfapo Afor “pro-
tecive custody” for the duration of the war. In the course of the above- -
described proceedings, thousands of persons were murdered, tortured,
‘ill-freated and illegally imprisoned. The defendants Alistoetter, von
Ammon, Engert, Joel, Klemm, Mettgenberg, and Schlegelberger are
charged with special responsibility for and partficipation in these crimes,

14. Hundreds of non-German nationals imprisoned in penal insfitu-
tions operated by the Reich Minisiry of Jusfice were unlawfully executed
and murdered. Death sentences were executed in the absence of the
. necessaty official orders,’and while clemency pleas were pending. Many

who were not sentenced to.death were executed. In the face of Allied

" military - advances so-called “inferior” or “asocial” prison inmates were,
by Ministry order, execulzsd regardless of sentences under which they
served. In many instances these penal institutions were operated in a
. manner indistinguishable from concenfration camps. The defendants
Engert, Joel, Klemm, Lautz, Mettgenberg, Rothenberger and Westphal
are charged with special responSIblhfy for and participation in these
crimes. :

15.The Mmlsfry of Justice parficipated Sn the Nazi program of racial
purily persuant fo which sterilization and castration laws were perverted
for the extermination of Jews, “asocials”, and certain nationals of the
occupied ferritories. In the course of th€ program thousands of Jews
were sterilized. Insane, aged, and sick nationals of occupied terrifories,
. the so-called “useless ealers”, were systematically murdered. In the.
course of the above described proceedings thousands of persons were
murdered and ill-freated. The defendants Laufz, Schlegelberger, and
Westphal are charged with special. responSIblhfy for. and parficipation
in these crimes, -

16. The Ministry of Justice granted immunity to and amnesiy follow?ng
chhons and ‘convictions of Nazi Party members for major crimes
mriitted ‘against civilians® of occupied ferrifories. - Pardons were
granfed to members of the Party who nad been senfenced for proved
offenses. On the other hand, discriminatory measures against Jews, Poles,
“Gypsies®, and other designaled “asocials” resulted in harsh -penal
measures aind death senfences, deprivation of rights fo file private suits
and rights of appeal, denial of right fo receive amnesty and to file
clemency pleas, denial of right of counsel, imposifion of special criminal

laws permitting the death penalty for all crimes and misdemeanors and,

10



!

finally, in the fransfer to the Gestapo for “special treatment” of all cases
in which Jews were involved. The defendants von Ammon, Joel, Klemm,
~ Rothenberger, and Schlegelberger are charged with special responsibility
for and participation in these crimes,

17. By decrees signed by the Reich Minister of Justice and oihers,7
the citizenship of all Jews in ‘Bohemia and Moravia was forfeited - upor
their change of residence by deportation or otherwise; and upon their
loss of citizenship their properties were aufomahcally confiscated by
the Reich. There were discriminatory changes in the family and inher-
itance laws by which Jewish property was forfeited at death fo the Reich

" with no compensation to the Jewish heirs. The defendants Altstoetter
. and. Schlegelberger are charged with special responsibility for and par-
ficipation in these crimes.

18. The Ministry of Justice through suspension and quashmg of
criminal process, participated in Hitler's program of inciting the German -
civilian population fo murder Allied airmen forced down within the
“Reich. The defendants Klemm and Laufz are charged with specnal respon-
sibility {for and participation in these crimes. o

-19. The said War Crimes constitute violations of international con-
ventions, particularly of Articles 4, 5, 6, 7, 23, 43, 45, 46, and 50 of
the Hague Regulations, 1907, and of Articles 2, 3, and 4 of the Prisoner-
of-War Convention (Geneva, 1929), the laws and customs of war, the
general principles of criminal law as derived from the criminal laws of -
all civilized nations, the internal penal laws of the countries in which
stuch"c)nmes‘were committed, and of Article Il of Confrol Council Law

{e] R
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COUNT THREE — CRIMES AGAINST HUMANITY

20. Between Sepfember 1939 and April 1945 all of the defendanis
“herein unlawfully, wilfully, and knowingly committed Crimes against
- Humanity as defined by Control Council Law No. 10, in that they were
principals in, ac¢essories to, ordered, abetted, iocok-a consenting part
in, and were connected with plans and entferprises involving the com-
_mission of afrocities and offenses, including but not limited fo murder;
extermination, ‘enslavement, deportation, iilegal imprisonment, torture,
persecution on political, racial and religious grounds, and ill-freatmenit
of, and other inhumane acts agamsi German civilians and lgahonals of
occupled countries. :

21. Extraordinary irregular courfs were used by all of the defendanis
in creafing a reign of terror to suppress political opposjtion fo the Ger-
man Reich, in the course of which German civilians and nationals of -
'occupled couniries were subjected fo criminal abuses of judicial and
penal process, resulting in murders, brutalifies, cruelties, tortures, atro-
cifies,. plunder of private property, and other inhumane acts. These
crimes are further patticularized in Paragraph 9 of this Indictment, which
is incorporated herein by reference.

22. Special Courts subjected certain German civilians, and nahonals
of occupied countries fo dlscrlmmafory and special penal laws and
trials, and denied them all semblance of judicial process. Convicted
‘German civilians and nafionals of other countries who were deemed fo
" be political prisoners and criminals designated as “asocial”, were furned -
- over to the Reich Security Main Office (RSHA) for extermination in con-
" centration camps. These crimes are. further particularized-in Paragraph 10
of this Indictment, which is incorpeorated herein by reference. The defend-
" ants von Ammon, Engert, Joel, Klemm, Lautz, Meitgenberg, and Rothen-
berger are charged with special responsibility for ahd parhapahon in
these crimes.

23, The German criminal laws, through a series of additions, expan-
“sions, and perversions by the defendants became a powerful weapon
for the subjugation of the German peaple and for the extermination of
certain nationals of the occupied countries.. This program resulted in
“the murder, forture, illegal imprisonment, and ill-freatment of thousands
. of 'Germans and nationals of occupied countries. These crimes are
. Jurther particularized in Paragraph 11 of this Indictment, which is incor-

porated herein by reference. The defendants Barnickel, Cuhorst, Klemm,
Lautz, -Mettgenberg, Nebelung, Oeschey, Petersen, Rothaug, Rothen-
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berger, Schlegelberger, and Wesiphal are charged with special respon-r
“sibility for and parhcrpahon in these crimes.

24, The Mmlsiry of Justice, through the. Peoples Couri and certain
Special Courts, aided end implemented ihe unlawful annex‘ahon and
occupation of Czechoslovakia, Poland and France. These crimes are.
further partigularized . in Paragraph 12 of this indictment, which is incor-
porated herein by reference. The defendants Klemm, Lautz, Mettgen-
berg, Schlegelberger; and Westphal are charged with specral respon~
sibility for and participation in these crimes.

25, The” Ministry of Justice participated in the decree of “Night and
Fog” {Nacht und Nebel) whereby certain persons who committed
offenses against the Reich or the German forces in occupied territories
were faken secretly by the Gestapo to Germany and handed over fo -
the Specral Courts for trial and punishment. This program resulted in
tke murder, torture, ilfegal imprisoriment, and ill-treatment of thousands.
of persons. These crimes are further particularized in Paragraph 13 of.
this Indictment, which is incorporated hetein by reference. The defend-
ants’ Altstoetter, von Ammon, Engert, Joel, Klemm, Meﬂgenberg, and
Schlegelberger are charged with special responsrbllliy for and patticipa-
tion in these crimes..

26 In penal institutions operated by the Relch Ministry of Jushce,
hundreds of German ciyjlians and. nationals of other countries were
subjected tfo murders, brutalifies, cruelfies, tortures, atrocities, and other
inhumane acts. The particulars concerning_these crimes are set forth in
Paragraph 14 of this Indictment. The defendants Engert, Joel, Klemm,
Laufz,” Mengnberg, Rothenberger, and -Westphal_ are charged with

special respons;blhiy for and participation in these crimes.

27. Special Health Courfs (Erbgesundheitgerichte) perverted eugemC'
and _ sterilization laws or policies regandmg German civilians and na-
fionals of other countries which resulted in the systematic murder and
ill-treatment of thousands of persons. Thousands of German civilians
and nationals of other countries committed to institutions for the insane;
were systematically murdered.  These crimes are further parficularized
in Paragraph 15 of Count Two of this Indictment, which is incorporated
herein by reference. .The defendants Lautz, Schlegelberger, and West-
phal are charged with special responsibility for and parficipation” in ‘
these crimes.

28. The Mlmsiry of Justice grantéd immunity to and amnes’ry follow-" -
ing prosecutions and convictions of Party members' for major crimes”
committed against civilians of occupied territories.  Pardons were granted
to members of the Parly who had been sentenced for proved offenses.
On the other hand, discriminatory judicial proceedings were imposed
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- against so-called “asocial” German hationals and civilians of the oc-
cupied countries. These crimes are further parficularized in Paragraph 16
- of Count Two of this Indictment and are incorporated herein by ref-
erence. The defendants von Ammon, Joel, Klemm, Mettgenberg, Rothen-
berger, and Schlegelberger are charged with special - responsibility for
and participation ‘in these crimes. . -

29. Discriminatory changes made in fhe German famlly anld inher-
itance laws for the sole purpose of confiscating Jewish properties, were
enforced by the Justice Ministry. All Jewish properties were forfeited
at death to the Reich. Jews. and Poles, both in Germany and in the
‘occupied countries, were deprived of their citizenship, their property
* was seized and confiscated, and they were deprived of means of earning
a livelihood, by the State, by Party organizations, and by individual
members of the Party. These crimes are further particulatized in Par-
‘agraph 17 of this Indictment, which is incorporated herein by reference.
‘The defendants Alistoetter and Schlegelberger are charged with. special -
respon5|b|||iy for and participation in these crimes. : ‘

30. The Ministry of Justice through suspension .and quashing of crim-
inal process, participated in Hlilers program. of inciting the German
civilian populafion to murder Allied airmen forced down within the
Reich: This program resulted in the murder, torture, and ill-treatment -
of many persons. These crimes are further particularized in Paragraph 18
of this Indictment, which is incorporated herein by reference. The de-
fendants Klemm and Laufz are charged wnh special responsibility for
“and participation in these crimes.

- 31.The said Crimes against Humanity constitute violations of inter-
national conventions, including Article 46 of the Hague Regulations,
1907, the laws and. customs of war, the general principles of criminal
" law as derived from the criminal laws of all civilized nations, the internal
penal laws ‘of the countries in which such crimes were committed, and
of Article |l of Control Council Law No. 10. .
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_ COUNT FOUR P
'MEMBERSHIP IN CRIMINAL ORGANIZATIONS

32. The defendants Alistoetter, Cuhorst, Engert, and Joel are guilty:
of membership in an organization declared to be criminal by the Inter- -
national Military Tribunal in Case No. 1, in that each of the said defend-
anis was a member of DIE SCHUTZSTAFFELN DER NATIONAL SOZIA-
LISTISCHEN DEUTSCHEN ARBEITERPARTEI (commonly known as the
“SS") after 1 September 1939. :

33. The defendants Cuhorst, Oeschey, Nebelung, and Roihaug are
guilty of membership in an organization declared to be criminal by the
International Military Tribunal_in Case No. 1, in that Cuhorst, Oeschey,

. and Rothaug were members of the Leadership Corps-of the Nazi Party

at Gau level after 1 September 1939, and in that Nebelung was an Orfs-.
gruppenleiter of the Leadershlp Corps of the Nazi Parfy after 1 Septem-
ber 1939,

" 34. The defendant Joel is guilfy of membership in an organization
declared to be criminal by the Infernational Military Tribunal in Case
No. 1, in that the said defendant was a member of DER SICHERHEITS-

" DIENST DES REICHSFUEHRER SS' (commonly known as 1he “SD") after
1 September 1939,

Such memberships are in.violation of Paragraph | (d) Arlicle II of
Conirol Council Law No. 10,

WHEREFORE, this Indictment is flled-wn‘h the S_ecrefary General of
the Military Tribunals and the charges herein made against the above

.hameﬁd defendants are hereby presented to the Military Tribunals.

: Acting on Behalf of the United States of America
TELFORD TAYLOR . |

‘ Brigadier General, U.S. Army
Chief of Counsel for War Crimes

Nvurnberg, 4 \January 1947
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THE UNITED STATES OF AMERICA

— against —

OSWALD POHL, AUGUST FRANK, GEORG LOERNER,
HEINZ KARL FANSLAU, HANS LOERNER, .IOSEPH
. .YOGT, ERWIN TSCHENTSCHER, RUDOLF scusuoe -
'~ MAX KIEFER, FgAnz EIRENSCHMALZ, KARL SOM-
'MER, HERMAN “POOK, HANS BAIER, HANS HOH- -
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/ o ' INDICTMENT - e

;{/ The United States of America, by the undersigned Telford Taylor,
Chief of Counsel for War Crimes, duly appointed to represent said
" Government in the prosecution of war criminals, charges that the de-
fendants -herein patticipated in a Common Design or; Conspiracy to
commit and did commit War Crimes and Crimes against Humanity, as .-
;  defined”in Control Council Law No. 10, duly enacted by the Allied
-+ Control Council on 20 December 1945. These crimes included murders,
brutalifies, cruelties, tortures, atrocities, deportations, enslavement, forced
labor, plunder of property, and other inhumane and unlawful acts, as
set forth in Counts One, Two, and Three of this Indictment. All but
one of the defendants herein are further charged with membership. in
a Criminal Organization, as set forth in Count Four of this Indictment.

S The persons accused as guilly of these crimes and accordingly named
s as defendants in this case are:

i " OSWALD POHL — Obergruppenfuehrer in the Schufzsfaﬂeln der
‘ Nationalsozialistischen Deutschen Arbeiterpartei -(commonly known .as
the “SS”) and General of the Waffen-SS (Lieutenant General); Chief of
the SS Main Economic and Administrative Department (SS Wirtschafts-
\fhemssl}«and-—eeneﬁalmef Hhe-Waffen=SS-ttieutenant-General);-Chief-of-
Division W of the WVHA '

.AUGUST FRANK — Obergruppenfuehrer. in the SS and General of
the Waffen-SS (Lieutenant -General); Deputy Chief of !he WVHA and
*.. Chief of Division A of the WVHA,
' GEORG LOERNER — Gruppenfuehrer in the SS and Generalleuf—
"« nant of the Waffen-SS_(Major GeneraQ Deputy Chief of the WVHA,
Chief of Dijvision B. of the WVHA, and Deputy Chief of Division W
.. of the WYHA, ‘

HEINZ KARL FANSLAU —_ Brlgadefuehrer in the SS and General-_
major of the Waffen SS (Brlga'd'ler General), Chiet of D|V|5|on A of
fhe WVHA _ -

. HANS LOERNER — $S Oberfuehrer (Semor Colonel) and Chlef of
e Oﬂuce I of Division A of the WVHA o -
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-
JOSEPH VOGT — SS” Siandarfenfuehrer (Colonel) and Chief of -

Office IV of Division A of the WVHA

_ERWIN TSCHENTSCHER — SS Sfandarienfuehrer (Colonel), Deputy
Chief of Division B and Chief of .Office 1 of Division B .of the WVHA

RUDOLF SCHEIDE — SS Standarfenfuehrer (Colonel) and Chief of
'Office V of Division B of the WVHA. = ~.

MAX KIEFER — SS Obersturmbannfuehrer (Lleutenani Co!one!) and
Chief of Office Il of Division C of the WVHA:

FRANZ EIRENSCHMALZ — SS Standartenfuehrer (Colonel) and Chlef
of Office VI of Divisien C of the WVHA. '

KARL SOMMER — S8 Sturmbannfuehrer (Major) and Depuiy Chlef
of Office Il of Division D of the WVHA.

HERMANN POOK — Obersturmbannfuehrer (Lleufenant Colonel) of

ihe Waﬂen SS and Chief Dentist of the WVYHA, of Office IlI, Division D.= .’

HANS HEINRICH BAIER — SS Oberfuehrer (Senior Colonel) and
Amischef Stab (Executive Officer) of Division W of the WVHA,

HANS HOHBERG — Amtschef Stab (Executive thcer) of Division W
of the WVHA.

LEO VOLK — SS Haupisiurmfuehrer (Captam), personal advisor
. '(Persoenlicher Referent) on Pohl's staff, and head of the legal section A
. (Leiter der Rechisabteilung) in the Executive Office of, D|V|5|on W of =

- the WVHA

KARL MUMMENTHEY — SS Obersfurmbannfuehrer (L|euienani Colo-

-:.,:fnel) and Chief of Office | of Division W of the WVHA

- HANS BOBERMIN — SS Obersturmbannfuehrer ’Lleuienani Coionel)
and Chief of Office Il of Division.W cf the WVHA.

HORST KLEIN — SS Obersturmbannfuehrer (Lleuienani Colonel) and
Chlef of Ofﬁce VIt of Division W of the WVHA. ,

A COUNT ONE
THE COMMON DESIGN OR CONSPIRACY

1. Between January 1933 andAApnI 1945 all of the defendants herein,

acting pursuant to a common design, unlawfully, wilfully, and knowingly
did conspire and agree fogether and wijth each other and with divers
other perscns, to commit War Crimes and Crimes against Humanlfy, as

. defined in Conirol Councal Law No. 10 Arhcle 1,



" . 2. Throughout the period covered by this Indictment all of the defend-
ants herein, ‘acting in concert with each other and with others, unlaw-
fully, wilfully, and knowingly were principals in, accessories to, ordered,
abetted, took a consenting part in, and were connected with plans and

- enterprises involving the. commission of War Crimes and Crimes- agamsi
Humanity.

3.1t was a part of the said common design, conspiracy, plans, and
enferprises
to formulate and carry out ways and means for financing the
. Schutzstaffeln der Nationalsozialistischen Deutschen Arbelierpariel\(com-
monly known as the “SS”) and each of its various purposes, funchons,
activities, and enferprises; .
to establish, maintain, operate, and administer ’rhrougnouf Ge*many
~and other countries concenfration camps and’labor camps in which
thousands of persons, including prisoners of war, German civilians, and
nationals of other countries, were unlawfully imprisoned, enslaved, toy-
tured, and murdered;
to formulate 'and carry out pians to supply the labor and services
of the inmates of concenfration camps to various indusiries, enterprises,
and undertakings throughout Germany and other countries;
to furnish human subjects for criminal medical, surgical, and
biological experimentation and fo assist in formulahng and carrymg ‘out
the plans for such unlawful experiments;
to carry out the policies and purposes of the German Reich with
reference to. the exfermination of the Jews;

/

to carry out the pohcnes and purposes of the ‘German Reich with ‘

reference to the sterilization and castration of certain groups of peoples;

to carry out the policies and purposes of the German Reich wn!h
reference fo the unlawful treaiment of prisoners of war;

o carry out the so-called eufhanasna program of .,’rhe Germen

“Reich; and

to deport the cn‘uzens of countries occupied by the armed forces’ :

of the German Reich, plundering their properiy and |mpressmg their
services and labor for the German Relch

" 4. Throughout the period covered by this indictiment all of the defend-
ants herein were associated with the Main Economic and Administrative
Deparimenf (Wirtschafts- und Verwaltungshauptamt, commonly known

_as the ¢ WVHA”‘,’whlch was ‘one of the fwelve main departments of

-the SS.

5. The defendant Oswald Pohl was the head of the WVHA and the
- defendants August Frank und Georg. Loerner were his deputies. The

i
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WVHA was divided into Amfsgruppen (o{flce groups or dwlslons), whlch
were inter-related in their operations, purposes, and functions.

; 6. Amisgruppe A, among other things, discharged the responsibility
for financial matters of the SS, including those relating fo its concen-
tration camps. This Amisgruppe was sub-divided -info, five offices or
Aemter, which were charged with responsibility for certain parts of the -
entire financial administration. The defendants August Frank and Heinz
Karl Fanslau were, successively, heads of Amisgruppe A. The defend-
ants Hans Loerner, August Frank, Joseph Vogt and Heinz Karl Fanslau
were heads of offices or Aemter within this Amisgruppe A.

7. Amisgruppe B, among other things, was responsible for the supply
of food and clothing for inmates of the concentration camps, and of
food, uniforms, equipment, billets, and camp quarters for the members
of the SS. It was sub-divided info five offices or Aemter. The defend-
ant Georg Loerner was the chief of Amisgruppe B, and the defendant
Erwin Tschentscher was his deputy and chief of one of the offices or
Aemter within this Amfsgryppe B. The deféndant Rudolf Scheide was
head of an ‘office or Amt within this Amfsgruppe B. ’

- 8. Amfsgruppe C _among other things was charged with the con-
sfruction and mainienance of houses, buildings, and structures of the
SS, the German Police, and of the concentration camps and prisoner

" ‘of war camps. It was sub-divided into six offices or Aemfer. The de-
fendants Max Kiefer and Franz Eirenschmalz were heads of Aemier or
‘offices wn‘hln this Amtsgruppe C.

.9 Amisgruppe D, which prior to March 1942 was known as the In-
spectorate of Cor(cenfrahon Camps, was responsible, among other things,
for the administration of the concentration camps and of the concen-
tration camp inmates. If was responsible for the food, clothing, housing,
sanitation, and medical care of the concentration camp inmates, and of

.~ the order, discipline, and regulation of the lives of the inmates. It was

charged with-the supply of the forced services and labor of the con-

cenfration camp inmates fo public and private employers throughout

Germany and the occupied countries. It was sub-divided info six offices

or Aemter, The defendant Karl Sommer was the deputy chief of one

of the ofﬁces or Aemfer of ‘Amisgruppe D; responsible for the supply

‘of the services and labor of concentration camp inmates. The defendant

Hermann Pook was in charge of matters relating to denhsfry a{fecfmg

the concenfrahon camp inmates. .
- 10. Amfsgruppe W, .among other things, was responsible for the

operation and mainfenance of various industrial, manufacturing, and "

service enterprises throughout Germany and the occupied countries. It
was- alse responsible for providing clothing for concentration camp in--
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. mafes. In the operation ‘of the enterprises under ifs conirol, this Amis-
- qruppe emplayed many concentration camp inmates. - It was subsdivided
. info eight offices or Aemter. The defendant Oswald Pohl was the head
of Amtsgruppe W, the defendant Georg Loerner was his deputy, and
the defendants Hans Hohberg and Hans Baier were his executive assist-
ants. The defendant Leo Volk was personal adviser on the staff of Os-

wald Pohl and head of the legal section of the Executive Office of Amfs-

gruppe W, and the defendants Karl Mummenthey, Hans Bobermin, an'd
Horst Klein were heads of offices or Aemter within this Amisgruppe.

11. All of the defendants herein, achng in concert with each other

and with others, unlawlully, wilfully, and knowing participated as lead- -
ers, organizers, instigaters, and accomplices in the formulation and exe-:".

cution of the said common design, -conspiracy, plans, and enterprises

<y

“to commit, and which involved the commission of War Crimes and Crimes. -

against Humanity, and accordingly are individually responsible for their
own acts and for all acts performed by any person or persons in execu-
tion of the said common design, conspiracy, plans, and enterprises.

12.The said common design, conspiracy, plans, and enterprises

embraced the commission of War Crimes and Crimes agalnsl Humanity, -

as set forth in Counfs Two and Three of this Indiciment, in thai the de-
fendants unlawfully, wilfully, and knowingly encouraged, aided, abetted,
and participated in the commission of atrocities and offenses against
persons and properly, including plunder of public and private property,
murder, extermination, enslavement, deportation, unlawfd! imprisonment,
- torture, persecutions on political, racial and religious grounds, ill-freat-
ment of, and other inhumane and unlawful acts against thousands of
persons, including German civilians, nationals of other rounlrles, and
pnsoners of war. . . .

COUNT TWO — WAR CRIMES

" 13. Belween Sepfehﬂber 1939 and April 1945 all of the defendants
herein- unlawfully, wilfully, and knowingly committed War Crimes, as
defined by Control Council Law No. 10, in that they were principals in,

accessories to, ordered abetted, took a consenting part-in, and were-

connected with plans and enterprises involving the commission of
afrocities and offenses against persons and properly, including, but not
limited to, plunder of public and private property, murder, torture, illegal
imprisonment, and enslavement and deportation to-slave labor of, and
 brutalities, afrocities, and other inhumane and ‘criminal acts against thou-

\
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sands of persons. These crimes embraced, but were not limited to, the
" \particulars set out in Paragraphs 4 to 10, inclusive, of this In'dlcimgnf
which are incorporated herein by reference and the acls charged in
Paragraphs 14 {o 22, inclusive, and were commitied against the civilian
populations of occupied {erritories and prisoners of war. '

-14. The concentration camps were the .principal means through which
the defendants committed the crimes charged. -The WVHA took ovar
jurisdiction of the concentration camps in Germany and the occupied.
countries and territories in the spring of 1942, and was charged with
‘their operation, maintenance, and administration, and the establishment
of new conceniration camps. i was responsible for the food, clothing,
‘housing, sanitation, and medical care of the inmates, and for the order,
regulations, and discipline of their lives, and had power to exact the
~death penalty fof infraction of ifs rules.

!

~ 15.The WVHA discharged the responsibility for the supply of the
torced labor and services of congentration camp inmates and the allot-
ment of such supply to public and private employers throughout Get-
many and the occupied counfries and ferritories. It also forced thousands
“of concentration camp inmates and other persons into employment in
ihe various mdush'lal and cofmercial enferprlses which it operated. -

16. The- established policy: of .the WVHA was fo extract from the

" iamates of the concentration camps the greafest possible amount of work
with the smallest possible amount of food, clothing, housing, sanitation,

medical and surgical services, and other necessary provisions or facilities.

-This policy resulted, forseeably, in the deaths of thousands of people
from disease or sheer physical exhaustion. For the vast majonty of in-

mafes, there wat no provision for eventual release from the concentration

camps, except through death, and little or no provision or plan for

sustaining life in those incapable of work. Epidemics of disease were

treated by killing those afflicted.” As a result. of this policy, the disposal

- of bodies of the dead became a problem of insurmountable proportions.

“17. Concentration camp inmafes were fransported from one camp to’
another as the demands for labor and other circumstances might require.
Thousands died on these transports from over-crowding, suffocation,
hunger, thirst, cold, disease, physical exhaustion, and freatment by the
SS guards. They were often forced to march long dlsiances in cold
weather with inadequate shoes and clothing. N

18. The murders, torfure and ill treatment charged were carried out
by the defendants by divers methods, including gassing, shoofing,
hanging, whipping, beafing, gross over-crowding, systematic under-
nourishment, systematic imposition of labor fasks beyond the strength

8



of those ordered fo carty fhem ouf medlcal surglcal and blologlcal
experimentation on involuntary human subjects, criminal sterilization and
_castration’ of involuntary human subjects, inadequate provision of surgical
and medical services, inadequate clothing, housing and sanitation, expo-
" sure fo cold, over-work, and grossly inadequate facilities for iransporhng
persons io and from ccncenirahon camps and Iabor camps. a

19. In Poland, Russ:a, and ofher countries fhe defendants assisted
in planning and carrying out the plunder, spoliation, and confiscation of-.
real and personal property of.Jewish, Russian, Polish and other private
owners, of churches, communities, towns, cities, and sfates, the depor-
talion to slave labor agd other purposes of civilians there resident, and
the resetilement of such regions by peoples asseried by the Nazis fo
be Aryans. The "defendanis systematically confiscaied ’r‘he personaI'
properly of living and deceased inmates of conceniration cdmps:

20. Civilians and prisoners of war from all the countries of Europe
were deported-from their homelands and herded into the concentration
camps; some of which were fitted with special installations, such as gas-
chambers and sealed buses, for their mass execution. Countless Jews,

. Poles, and Russians, upon iheir arrival into the conceniration camps,

were immediately driven from the fransport trains and frucks info the
‘waiting gas-chambers, where they were exterminated. Throughout the
administration of the - concemrahon camps, the worst freatment was
systematically given Jews of all nauonahhes and Poles -and Russians.’

21. The defendants assisted in planmng and_ carrymg ouf plans for
the subjugaticn and extermination of entire “races” and nationalities
considered inferior by the Nazi hierarchy. Clergymen, attorneys, intellec-
‘tuals, and other persons were hunied down and fransporfed to the
concentration camps, where they were subjected to a calculated process
of murder, torture, and ill treatment which the defendants perfected and
. were ever-ready fo administer. Experimenis were carried ouf to deter-
" mine how most efficiently to .use the labor and services of the living *
members of undesired “races” and nationalities and to insure that such .
persons would be unable fo propagate their kind. Inmates of concen--
tration ‘camps wete forced tfo undergo castration and sterilization and
to submit fo experiments whose purpose was to ascerfain a method by
which mass sterilization of “undesirable persons” mighi be effected.
Countiless persons, including nafionals of occupied territories, were
murdered in the so-called "euthanasia’ program of the German Reich.

~-22.The defendants assisted in planning and carrying out medical,
surgical and biological experiments upon hundreds of involuntary human
subjects, without regard to the lives -of such subjecis, resulting in the
~murder, torture, and ill treatment of hundreds of persons. :

-,



23, The said War Crimes constitute wolahons of mfernahonal conveft-
tions, particularly Articles 3, 4, 5, 6, 7, 14, 18, 23, 43, 46, 50, 52, 55, and
56 of the Regulations respecting the Laws and Customs of War on Land,
.annexed to the Hague Convention of October 18, 1907, and Articles .2,
'3,4,6,8,9,10, 11, 12, 13, 14, 15, 16, 17, 23, 24, 25, 26, 27; 28, 29,
- 30, 31, 33, 34, 36, 42 46 47, 48, 50, 51, 54, 56, 57, 60, 62, 63, 65, 66,
67, 68, 76, and 77 of the Prisoners of War Convenhon (Geneva, 1929),
the Taws and customs of war,. the general principles of criminal law as -
derived from the criminal laws of. all civilized nations, the internal penal
laws of the countries in which such crimes were committed, and were
declared, recognized and defined as crimes by Arficle Il of Confrol
Council Law No. 10. ~

'COUNT THREE — -CRIMES AGAINST HUMANITY

24. Between September 1939 and April 1945 all of the defendants
herein .unlawfully, wilfully, and knowingly committed *Crimes against
Humanity as defined by Control Council Law No. 10, in that they were
principals in, accessories to, ondered, abetted, fook a consenting part in,
and were connected with plans and enfer'prises involvingthe commission
" of afrocities and offenses, including but not limited fo murder, exter-
mination, enslavement, deportation, illegal imprisonment, torture, perse-
. culion on political, racial and religious grounds, and ill-treatment of,
and other inhumane -and criminal acts against thousands of persons,
These crimes embraced, but were not limited to, the particulars set out
. in Paragraphs 4 to 10, mcluswe, and the acts charged in Paragraphs 14
“to 22, inclusive, of this. Indictment, which are incorporated heréin by
reference, and were committed against German civilians and nationals of
ofher coun’rnes : :

25.The said Crimes against Humanity constitute v:olahons of inter-
.national conventions, including the Atrticles of the ‘Hague Regulations,
1907, and of the Prisoners of War Convention (Geneva, 1929) enumerated
in Paragraph 23 of this Indiciment, the laws and customs of war, the ‘
general principles of criminal law as derived from the criminal laws of |
all civilized nations, the .internal penal laws of the couniries in which
such crimes were. committed, and were declared, recognized and dehned :
-as crimes by Article Il of Control CounC|I Law No, 10.
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) .~ COUNT FOUR ~
MEMBERSHIP IN CRIMINAL ORGANIZATION

26, All -of the defendants herein, except defendant Hohberg, atre
charged with membership, subsequent to September 1, 1939, in the -
Schutzstaffeln der Nationalsozialistischen Deutschen Arbeiterpartei (com-
monly known as the “SS”), declared to be criminal by the International
Military Tribunal and Paragraph 1 (d) Article Il of Control Council Law
No, 10. N i ~

. WHEREFORE, this Indictment is filed with the Secretary General of .
the Military Tribunals and the charges herein made against the above -
named defendants .are hereby presented to the Military Tribunals.
TELFORD TAYLOR - . 7 |
Brigadier General, U. S. Army
~ Chief of Counsel for War Crimes. = «
Acting on Behalf of the United States of America

.‘Nurr_'nberyg‘, 13 January, 1947 - . R
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’ CINDICTMENT -

" The United States of America, by the undersigned Telford
Taylor, Chief of Counsel for War Crimes, duly appointed to re-
present said Government in the prosecution of war criminals,
charges that the defendants herein committed War Crimes and
Crimes against Humanity, as definedin Control<Council Law
No. 10, duly enacted by the Allied Control Council on 20 Decem_ber
1945. These crimes .included murders, brutalities, -cruelties,
tortures, atrocities, deportation, enslavement, plunder of public
and private property, persecutions, and other inhumane acts as
set forth in Counts One, Two, Three, and Four of this Indictment.

The persons accused as guilty of these crimes and accordingly .
named as defendants in this case are: :

FRIEDRICH FLICK — The principal proprietor, dominating
influence, and active head of a large group of industrial enter-
prises (the most important  of which are described in Appendix
A hereof) including coal .and iron mines and steel producing and
fabricating plants, sometimes collectively referred to herein as the
“Flick Concern“; member of the Aufsichtsrat (supervisory board)-
of numerous other large industrial and financial companies;
Wehrwirtschaftsfuehrer (military economy leader); member of the.
Praesidium of Reichsvereinigung Kohle and of Reichsvereinigung
Eisen (official bodies for regulation of the coal and iron and steel
industries); member of the Kleiner Kreis (“Small Circle®), asmall
group of .leaders of the iron, coal and steel industry which.
exercised great influence over the industry for many years before

~.and during the war; member of the Verwaltungsrat (supervisory
board) of the Berg- und Huettenwerke Ost G.m.b. H. (BHO), a -
government sponsored company for exploitation of the Russian
mining and smelting industries; mefiber of the Beirat (advisory
council) of the Wirtschaftsgruppe Eisenschaffende Industrie
(Economic Group of the Iron Producing Industry); member of
the “Circle of Friends“ of Himmler, which gave financial and
other support to Die Schutzstaffeln der Nationalsozialistischen
Deutschen Arbeiterpartei (commonly known as the SS); member
of the Nationalsozialistische Deutsche Arbeiterpartei (Nazi Party,
usually abbreviated “NSDAP*). ‘
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OTTO STEINBRINCK — A leading official of numerous Flick .
enterprises and Flick’s principal assistant in the operation of such
enterprises from 1925 until the end of 1939; thereafter a leadmg
official of Vereinigte Stahlwerke A. G. and affiliated companies;

“member of supervisory and executive boards of several other
private and governmental organizations; Wehrwirtschaftsfuehrer;
Generalbeauftragter fuer die Stahlindustrie (Plempotentlarx 4
General for the steel industry) 'in the occupied territories of
northern France, Luxembourg, and Belgium; Beauftragter Kohle
West (Plenipotentiary for coal in the western occupied territories)
-including all of France, Holland, Belgium, and Luxémbourg;
- member of the “Circle of Friends“ of Himmler; member of the
Praesidium  of the Reichsvereinigung Kohle; Brigadefuehrer
(Br1gad1e1 General) in the SS and recxplent of several SS de-
coratlons .

ODILO BURKART — A leading official of numerous Flick

enterprlses and a close associate of Flick; an official of Reichsver-
‘einigung Eisen and of the Wirtschaftsgruppe Eisenschaffende In-
dustrie;  Wehrwirtschaftsfuehrer. .

- KONRAD KALETSCH — A leading official of numerous Flick
enterprises and a close associate of Flick; Wehrwirtschaftsfuehrer; "
member of the NSDAP

BERNHARD ‘WEISS — A leading official of numerous F hck :
" enterprises and a close associate of Flick; Wehrwirtschaftsfuehrer;
prineipal official and owner of Siegener \’Iaachmenbau A G
(Slemag)

HERMANN TERBERGER — A leading official of numerous
Flick enterprises including, particularly, the Eisenwerkgesellschaft
Maximilianshuette G.m.b.H.,, and a close associate of Flick;,
member of the NSDAP; memher of Die Sturmabtellunqen der
NSDAP (commonly known as the SA).



- COUNT ONE
-1. Between September 1939 and May 1945 all the defendants
commltled War Crimes and Crimes against Humanity, as defined -
by Article II of Control Council Law No. 10, in that they were
principals in,  accessories lo, ordered, abetted, took a consenting .
parl in, were connected with plans and enterprises involving, and
were members of organizations.or groups connected with: ens-
lavement and deportatlon to slave labor on a gigantic. scale of
members of the civilian populations of countries and territories
under the belligerent occupation of, or otherwise controlled by,
Germany; enslavement of concentration camp inmates including
German nationals; and the use of prisoners of war in war opera-
‘tions and work having a direct relation with war operations, in-
cluding the manufacture and transportation of armaments .and
munitions. In the course of these activities hundreds of thousands
of persons were enslaved, deported, ill treated, terrorized, tortured,
and murdered. ’

2. The acts, conduct, plans, and enterprises charged in Para- .
graph .1 of this Counl were carried oul as part of theslave labor
program -of the Third Reich, in the course of which millions of
persons including women and children were subjected to forced
labor under cruel and inhumane conditions which resulted in
widespread suffering and many deaths. At least 5,000,000 workers
were deported to Germany The conscriplion - of labor was ac-
complished in many' cases by drasticc and violent’ methods.
Workers destined for the Reich were sent under guard to Ger-
many, often packed in trains without adequate heat, food. cloth-
ing or sanitary facilities. Qther inhabitants of occupied countries
were conscripted and compelled to work in their own countries
to assist the German war economy. The resources and needs of the.-
occupied countries were complele]y disregarded in the execution
of the said plans and enterprises as were the family honor and
rights of the civilian populations involved. Prisoners of war were
assngned to work directly related to war operations, including
work in armaments factories. The treatment of slave laborers and
prisoners. of war was based on the principle that they shouyld be
fed, sheltered, and treated in such a way as to exploit them to the™
Greatest prossible extent at the lowest expenditure.
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3. During the period from approximately May 1942 1o 1945, the -
defendant Flick was a member of the Praesidinum  (governing

-board) of the Reichsvereinigung Eisen (commonly referred to as the

RVE), an official organization for the regulation of- the entire

~.German iron and steel industry. The defendants Burkart and
‘Terberger also held official positions and exercised important

functions in the RVE and assisted and advised FlicRwith respect
to RVE matters. This organization, the Praesidium of which was
largely composed of leading industrialists of the iron and steel

~_industries, was given wide powers by the government anti exer-

cised pervasive influence and authority in these industries. The
RVE had wide authority and exercised imporiant fupctions with
respect to the procurement, allocation, use, and treatment of slave

‘labor and prisoners of war. The influence and control which this

- official organization had over a large sector of German industry,

in ‘which vast numbers of such laborers were forced to work, made

7 it an important agency in the administration of the slave labor

pregram. Flick attended numerous meetings of the Praesidium of
the RVE and otherwise participated in- the formulation and -
execution of repressive and cruel policies designed to enslave,
procure and exploit such labor. Flick’s influence and control
over policies and actions of the RVE were further extended
through officials of his companies who also held positions in the

RVE and its subsidiary organizations and committees.

In. addition, Flick, Burkart and Terberger participated in the
slave labor program within the iron and steel industry between.
September 1939 and April 1945 through their positions in and in-
fluence onthe Wirtschaftsgruppe Eisenschaffende Industrie

" (Economic Group of the Iron Producing Industry) and its sub-

sidiary organizatidns and committees.

‘Flick also participated in the slave labor program by virtue of
his position and activity on the Verwaltungsrat (supervisory
board) of Berg- und Huettenwerke Ost G.m.b. H. (commonly
referred to as the BHO), a government sponsored company establi-
shed for the purpose of takin_ over and exploiting mines and iron

.and steel plants in the USSR. As part of its activities this com-

" pany participated in the program for forced recrui tment, enslave-

ment, and deportation of Soviet nationals and prisoners of war to
work in Germany, the USSR, and elsewhere. '

Flick and Burkart also participated in the slave labor prograin
through their association-with the Kleiner Kreis (“Small Circle)
of the leaders of the Nord-West Gruppe Eisenschaffende Industrie,
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a, group which' unofficially exercised substantial control over,
and influence an, the iron and steel industry. T
4. During the period from approximately March 1941 until
April 1945, the defendants Flick and Steinbrinck were members of
the Praesidium (governing board) of the Reichsvereinigung Kohle
(commonly referred to as the RVK), an official organization fox'
the regulation of the entire German coal industry. The defendants
Burkart and Weiss were also active in RVK matters and assisted
‘and advised Flick and the Flick Concern therein. Thg functions .
and authority of the RVK and its Praesidium in the coal industry
corresponded generally with those of the RVE and its Praesidium
_in the iron and steel industry, as set forth above. ‘As members of
the Praesidium, Flick and Steinbrinck attended meetings of the
Praesidium and  otherwise participated in the formulation and
execution of repressive and cruel policies in the administration:
of the slave labor program designed to enslave, procure and exploit
such labor, Flick’s influence and control over policies and actions
of the RVK were further extended through officials of his com-
panies who also held positions in the RVK and its subsidiary,
organizations and committees. _ . : :

3. Between September 1939 and April 1945 the defendant Stein-
brinck held the position of Beauftragter Kohle West (Plenipoten-
tiary -for coal in the occupied western territories) of France, Hol-
. land, Belgium and Luxembourg, and the position of Generalbe-
auftragter fuer dié Stahlindustrie (Plenipotentiary General for.
the steel industry) in northern France, Belgium and Luxembourg..
By virtue of these positions, and his activity therein, he exercised
wide authority over the procurement, use, treatment, allocation,
and transportation of thousands of slave laborers and. prisoners
of war. .

‘6. Between September 1939 and May 1945, tens of thousands of
slave laborers and prisoners of war ‘were sought and utilized by
the defendants in the industrial enterprises and establishments
. owned, controlled, or influenced by them. In the course of this
" use of forced labor in the enterprises referred to, the workers
were exploited under inhumane conditions with respect to their
personal liberty, shelter, food, pay, hours of work, and health.
Repressive measures were used to force these workers to enter, or
. remain in, involuntary servitude. Armed guards, watch dogs and

barbed wire enclosures were commonly utilized to keep workers
- from escaping, and the few who did escape were reported to, and
_.dealt with by, the Gestapo. Penalties, including, cruel beatings,

i
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were often 1nf]1cted by persons under the supervision and control
- of the defendants. Food, sanitary measures, and medical assistance
were customarily inadequate and as a result' many of the workers
. suffered - illness and died. Prisoners of war were used in war
operations and work having a direct relation with war opera-
tions, including the manufacture and tlansportatlonnf armaments
and munitions.

The defendants Flick, Burkart, Kaletsch, Weiss and Terberoer
are charged with respon51b111ty for the acts -and conduct set forth g
in.this Paragraph insotar as they relate to establishments of the
Flick Concern, mcludmg those operated directly or indirectly by
the companies set forth in Appendix A hereof. Flick and Weiss are
.also charged with responsibility for the acts and conduct set forth
in this Paragraph insofar as they relate to the Siemag Company.
The defendant Steinbrinck is charged with responsibility for the
. acts and conduct set forth in this Paragraph insofar as they relate-

to Verelmgte Stahlwerke A.G., and affiliated companies.

7. The acts and conduct of .the defendants set forth in this
Count were committed unlawfully, wilfully, and knowingly and
constitute violations of international conventions, particularly of_
_‘Articles 3,4, 5, 6, 7, 14, 18, 23, 43, 46, and 52 of the Hague Regula- -
tions, 1907. and of Articles 2, 3, 4, 6, 9-15, 23, 25, 27-34, 46-48, 50,
~ 51, 54, 56, 57, 60, 62, 63, 65-68 and 76 of the Prisoner-of-War Con- *
vention (Geneva, 1929), of the laws and customs of war, of the
general principles of criminal law as derived from the criminal
‘laws ‘of all civilized nations, of the internal penal laws of the
countries in which such crimes were committed, and of Artlcle II
of Control Council Law No. 10. - .
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"COUNT TWO

8. Between September 1939 and May 1945, all the defendants
except Terberger committed War Crimes and Crimes . against
Humanity, as defined by Article II of Control Council Law No. 10,
in that they were principals in, accessories to, ordered, abetted,
took a consenting part in, were connected with plans and enter-
prises involving, and were members of organizations or groups
connected -with, plunder of public and private property, spoliation, -
and other ‘offenses against property in countries and territories
which came under the belligerent occupation of Gérmany in the’
course of its aggressive wars. These acts bore no relation to the
needs of the army of occupation and were out of all proportion
to the resources of the occupied territories. :

9. In pursuance of deliberate plans and policies, the territories
occupied by Germany as a result of its aggressive acts and its--
aggressive wars were exploited for the German war effort in a
most ruthless way beyond the needs of the army of occupation and
without consideration of the local economy. These plans and .
‘policies were intended not only to strengthen Germany in waging
its aggressive wars, but also to secure the permanent economic
domination by Germany of the continent of Europe. Public and
private property was systematically plundered and pillaged. Agri-
cultural products, raw materials needed by -German factories,
machine tools, transportation equipment, other [inished products,
and foreign sécurities and holdings of foreign exchange were
- requisitioned and sent to Germany. In addition local industries -
were placed iinder German supervision and the distribution of raw
materials -was rigidly controlled. This supervision of industries
ranged from general control provided for by blanket enactments,
to the permanent dispossession of rightful owners of specific indu-
strial enterprises. The industries thought to be of value to the .
German war effort were compelled ‘to continue and most of the .
rest were closed down altogether. T

In Lorraine (France), which, in violation of international law,
was annexed by Germany immediately after the German occupa-
tion, . French private properties were seized by the occupation-
authorities under the guise of establishing temporary administra-

5
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tion by state commissioners. This artificial - creation of‘ Gelman
state property was only a temporary measure, and the properties
were ‘‘reprivatized”, by bemg turned over to German 1ndustrxal
concerns.

Even before the attack on- the US S.R. plans had been made
for the fullest and most ruthless exploitation of all Soviet economic
resources.- Concurrently with the invasion it was declared that the
‘restraints of the Annex to Hague Convention IV of 18 October 1907
would not be observed by Gelmany The entire Soviet industrial
property was declared to be “property marshalled for national
economy’ (ertschafts Sondervermoegen), belonging to the Ger-
man state. Representatives of the German civil and military occupa-
tion authorities were declared trustes of this property to which Ger-
many purportedly took title.- In addition thereto special govern-
mental or semi-governmental companies, Monopolgesellschaften or
Ostgesellschaften, were created by the Plenipotentiary of the Four-
Year Plan, Hermann Goering, as trustees for the control of certain -
sectors of Soviet economy. One of these Ostgesellschaften, the Berg-
und Hunettenwerksgesellschaft Ost m: b. H., usually referred to as
the BHO, was trustee with respect to the iron, steel and mining
.industry of the occupied part of the U.S.S.R. and the mam spoha—
tion agency in its field of operations.

10. All the defendants except Terberger participated extenswely
in the formulation and execution of the foregomg plans and policies
of spoliation, by seeking and securing possession, in derogation of
the rights of the owners, of valuable properties in the territories
occupied by Germany, for themselves, for the Flick Concern, and
for -other enterprises owned, controlled, or influenced by them;
by exploiting all these properties in occupied territories, indivi-
dually or through enterprises owned, controlled, d& influenced by
‘them, for German war purposes to an extent unrelated to the needs
of the army of occupation and out of all proportion to:the resour-
ces of the occupied territories; by abuse, destruction and removal
of such property; by taking possession of machinery, equipment,
raw materials and other property known by them to have heen
taken, by themselves or by others, from occupied territories: and
by their act1v1t1(§§ in various official positions. The followmc '
instances are cited as examples. -

A, IN FRANCE. Effective 1 March 1941 the Friedrich Flick
Kommanditgesellschaft (parent holding company in'the Flick Con-
cern) secured a “trusteeship” of the plants Rombach and Machern
in occupied Lorraine (France), which were the property of a

e
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French company ‘known as Societe Lorlame des Ac1er1es dé Rom*-
bas. The “trusteeship® was accepted as part of a governmental
plan and program, sponsored by defendants and other German
‘industrialists for ultimate transfer to them of legal title to these
and other similar properties in France. The ick Concern was to
gain legal title to the plants Rombach and Machern pursuant to
this general plan. These properties were operated by the Flick
Concern through a company known as Rombacher Huéttenwerke,
G. m. b. H,, from on or about 1 March 1941 until on or about 1 Sep-
tember 1944 in accordance with and in execution of said plan and
program. The defendants Flick, Burkart, Kaletsch, and Weiss are
charged with responsibility for the foredomg

B. IN THE OCCUPIED EAST. Pursuant to the plans and pro-'
grams of the Berg- und Huettenweike Ost, G. m. h. H. (BHO), -
" referred to above, the Flick Concern organized, together with the
Reichswerke Hermanh Goering, a company called Dnjepr Stahl
G. m. b. H. for the purpose of exploiting mining and smelting
properties in the U.S.S.R. located near the Dnjepr River. The
Flick Concern operated these properties from about January 1943
until the Germans evacuated this region. The defendants Flick, .
Burkart, Kaletsch, and Weiss are charged with responsibility
therefor.

Pursuant to the plans and programs of the BHO, the Siegener
Maschinenbau A.G. (Siemag) gained possession of the works Woro-
shigv at Dnjepropetrowsk in the U.S.S.R. and operated them from
about January 1943 until the evacuation of the area in the fall of
1943. Siemag was owned principally by Weiss and was controlled
and influenced by Flick and Weiss, both of whom are charged -
with respons1b1hty therefor. ( » "

In accordance with the general plans and programs of the Ger-
man occupation authorities, the Flick Concern gained possession of
the Vairogs railroad car plants in occupied Riga (Rigaer Waggon-
fabrik “VAIROGS®) on or about July 1942. The properties were
operated by the Flick Concern until the German retreat from Riga
about September 1944. Flick,” Burkart,- Kaletsch, and Weiss are,
charged with responsibility therefor. ‘

11. Between 1940 and 1945 the defendants Flick and Steinbrinck
participated in plans and programs for spohatlon of occupied ter-~
ritories through their positions and ‘membership in, and influence
on, various organizations of the iron, steel and coal industries, in-
cluding Reichsvereinigung Eisen, Reichsvereinigung Kohle, Wirt-

\
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schaftsgruppe Eisenschaffende Industrie, and subsidiary organiza-
tions of each, and through membership in, and influence on, the
Kleiner Kreis (“Small Circle®) of leadera of the Nord-West Gruppe
Elsenschaffende Industrie.

Between 1940 and 1945 Steinbrinck participated in. the plans and -
programs for spoliation of western occupied territories by virtue of
his positions as Plenipotentiary General for the steel industry in
northern France, Luxembourg, and Belgium, and Plenipotentiary
. for coal in France, Holland, Belgium and Luxembourg.

Between 1941 and 1945 Flick participated in the plans and pro-
grams for spoliation of the U.S.S.R. by virtue of his position as a.
member of the Verwaltungsrat (supervisory board) of the.Berg-
und Huettenwerke Ost. GmbH (BHO).

12. The acts and conduct of the defendants set forth in this
Count were committed unlawfully, wilfully, and knowingly, and
constityte violations of the laws and customs of war, of inter-
natlonal treaties' and conventions, including Articles 46-56, in- -
clusive, of the Hague Regulations of 1907, of the general principles
“of criminal law as derlved from the criminal laws of all civilized
‘nations, of the internal penal laws of the countries in which such
crimes were committed, and of Aztlcle IT of Control Council Law
. No. 10. ] ;
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COUNT THREE

13. Beiween January 1936 and April 1945 the defendants ick
Steinbrinck and Kaletsch committed Crimes against Humamty,
as defined in Article II of Control Council Law No 10,-in that

* they were prmc1pals in, accessories to, ordered, abetted, took ‘a

consenting part in, and were connected with plans and enterprises
involving persecutions on racial, rehglous and political grounds,

mcludlng partlcularly the “aryanization* of propertles belongmg

inr whole or in part to Jews.

J4. Commencing with Hitler's seizure of power in 1933 and

mcreasmgly in later years, the Government of the Third Reich

"systematically and ruthlessly persecuted millions of persons on

political, racial, and religious_grounds. As part of these programs
of persecution, the German Government pursued a policy of ex-
pelling Jews from economic life. The German Government and
Nazi Party embarked on a program involving -threats, pressures
and coercion generally, formalized and otherwise, to force Jews
to transfer all or part of their properly to non-Jews, a process
usually referred to as “aryanization”. The means of forcing
Jewish owners to- relinquish their properties included discrimi-

" natory. laws,- decrees, orders, and regulations, which made life in

Germany difficult and unbearable for the owners, thé discrimi-

natory application of general laws, decrées, orders, and regula- -

tions; seizure of property under spurious charges;- restrictions

imposed by - police action; and particularly the everpresent threat. of -

the Gestapo to arrest, try, and kill Jews without recourse to any
reviewing board or court. :

15. The defendants Flick, Stembrlnck and Kaletsch and the

Flick Concern participated in the planmng and execution of
numerous aryanization projects. Activities in which they partlcl—

pated included procurement of sales: which were voluntary in -

form, but coercive in character, efforts to extend the general
aryanization laws, and several types of perversion of govern-
mental authority. They used their close connections with. high
government officials to obtain special advantages; and some
transactions, including those referred to hereinafter, were carried

through in close cooperation with officials of the Army High
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Command (OKW) and of the Office of the Four-Year-Plan, in-
cluding Hermann Goering, who were interested in having the
properties exploited as fully as possible in connection with the
planning, preparation, initiation and waging of Germany’s aggres-
sive acts and wars. Examples of aryanization projects in which
Flick, -Steinbrinck and Kaletsch were involved during the years
1936 through 1945 ineluded the following properties:

A. Hochofenwerk [uebeck A. G and its afhhated company,
~ Rawack and Gruenfeld A.G. . .

- B. The extensive brown coal propeltxes and enterprises in
central and ‘southeastern Germany owned, directly, or indi-
rectly, in substantial part by members of the Petschek fa-
mily, many of whom were citizens of foreign natlom,-
including Czechoslovakia. - v

As a result of these aryanization projects, Jewish owners were
deprived of valuable properties, which were transferred, directly,
or indirectly, to the Flick Concern, the Hermann Goering Works,
I. G. Farben, the Wintershall and Mannesman Concerns and 0the1
. German enterprises. S

_ 16. The acts and conduct of the defendants set forth in this
Count were committed unlawfully, wilfully, and knowingly and
constitute violations of international conventions, of the general
principles of criminal law as derived from the criminal laws of
all civilized nations, of the interral penal laws of the countries in
".which such crimes were committed, .and of Article I1 of Control
' Coumcﬂ Law No. 10. .
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COUNT FOUK

17. Between 30 January 1933 -and April 1945, the defendants
Flick and Steinbrinck committed War Crimes and Crimes against -
Humanity, as defined by Article IT of Control Council Law No. 10,
in;that they were accessones to, abetted, took a consenting part in,
were connected with plans'and. enterprises involving, and -were
members of organizations or groups connected with: murders,

~ brutalities, cruelties, tortures, atrocities and other inhumane acts
- committed by the Nazi Party and its organizations. including,

principally Die Schutzstaffeln der Nationalsozialistischen Deut-
schen- Arbeiterpartei (commonly known as the SS). The criminal
activities of the SS included: the guarding and admlnlstrailpn of
concentration camps and the brutal treatment of their inmates;
subJectlng prisoners of war and concentration camp inmates to
a seriés of experiments, including freezmg to. death and killing

by poisoned bullets; shooting unarmed prisoners -of war; exten-

sive participation in-the Nazi slave labor program; murder and

- ill-treatment of the civilian population in occupied countries,

%

vthev were widely known throughout German\,

including massacres such as at Lidice; and perseéution and exter-
mination of enormous numbers of Jews and others deemed politi-

- cally undesirable by the SS. The criminal programs of the SS

were so widespread and conducied on such a gigantic scale that
i

- 18. The defendants Flick and Steinbrinck were ‘members of a
group variously known as “Friends of Himmler®, , Freundeskreis“

‘.(Cu'cle of Friends), and the ,,Keppler Circle”, which, throughout

" the period of the Third Reich, worked closely with the SS, met

frequently and regularly with its leaders, and furnished aid,.
advice, and support to the SS, financial and otherwise. This orga-
nization was composed of about thirty German business leaders,
and a number of SS leaders, mcludmg Heinrich. Himmler, head

- of the entire SS “from 1929 to 1945, Karl Wolff, Himmler’s AdJu-

tant, Obelgruppenfuehrer and holder of other high positions in
the SS; Oswald Polil, Chief of the SS Main Economic and Admini-
strative Department; Otto Ohlendorf, a leading official of the SS
Main State Security Department; and Wolfram Sievers, Manager
of the Ahnenerbe Societv and Director of its Institute ‘for Military -

®
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Scientific Research. The business and industrial members of the
. Circle included leading officials of the largest enterprises in Ger-
many in the fields of iron, steel and munitions production, bank-
ing, chemicals and shipping. These enterprises included I. G.
Farben, Vereinigte Stahlwerke, Hermann Goering Werke, Brabag,
Junkers, the Wintershall chemical concern, North German Lloyd
. and Hamburg American shipping lines, Deutsche Bank, Dresdner.
Bank, Relchs Kredlt Gesellschaft, the Stem Bank, and- Commerz
’Bank

* The Circle was formed early in 1932 at Hitler’s suggestlon by '

- his economic adviser; Wilhelm Keppler. It participated in effec-
ting Hitler’s rise to power and made plans for the reorganization
of German economy in accordance with Hitler's plans. Thereafter

the Circle met regularly, up to and including early 1945, with

Himmler, Keppler, and other high government officials, and was

a- means of maintaining close cooperatxon between the largest

. business and industrial enterprises on the one hand, and the Ger-

man Government Nazi Party, and the SS on the other.

- 19. Each yeax “from 1933 to 1945, the Circle contributed about
one million marks fo Hlmml(}r to aid in financing the activities of
the SS. During this period, the defendants Flick and Steinbrinck
made and procured contributions by Flick and the Flick Concern
to the SS through the Circle, aggregating at least one hundred
thousand marks annually for many years. Flick and the Flick
.Concern, by the action and procurement of Flick and Stein-
- brinck, also contributed substantial additional amounts to the SS
over fhe years 1933 to 1945. Steinbrinck also procured substantial
contribations by Vereinigte Stahlwerke A.G. and affiliated enter-.
prlses to the SS through the Circle in the years 1940 through 1944.

* 20. The acts and conduct of the defendants set forth in this
»Count were committed unlawfully, wilfully, and knowingly, and
constitute violations of international conventions, of the laws and
‘cuistoms of war, of the general principles of criminal law as
derived from the criminal laws of all civilized natlons, of the
internal penal laws of the countries in which such crimes were
‘commltted and of Article 11 of Control Counc/ll Law-No. 10. '

e
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T : | *counTFIVE

21. The defendant Stembrlnck is charged w1th membershlp,
subsequent to 1 September 1939, in Die Schutzstaffeln der Natio-
nalsozialistischen Deutschen Arbeiterpartei (commonly known as
" the “SS“), declared to be criminal by the kllnternational Military
Tribunal;, and Paragraph 1 (d) of Artlcle I of Control Council

Law No. 10.

‘WHEREFORE, this Indictment is filed with -the Secretarv
General of the Military Tribunals and the charges herein made’
against the above named defendants are hereby presented to the

Vhlltary Trlbunalq : o

TELFORD,TAYLOR’
Brigadier Geperal, USA
Chief of Counsel for War Crimes
Acting on Behalf of the United - -
{ States of America

Nuremberg, 18 Mafch 1947

o)
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The term “Flick Concern*,as used in this indictment refers to
the business enterprises controlled, influenced and in. substance
largely owned, by Friedrich Flick. Many additions and changes
took place during the years 1933 to 1945 both in the physical
plants included in the Concern and $n the legal structure in which
they were contained. Corporate reorganizations within the Concern
were almost constantly in progress. From 1940, to 1945 the general
nature of the corporate structure was not fundamentally changed
although certain changes took place in intercorporate stockhold-

- ings and companies were added to operate plants in occupied
territories. . '

The Flick Concern constituted the largest privately owned and
_controlled enterprise in Germany for the production of iron, steel
products and armaments. It was surpassed in productive:
_capacity in the industry only by the state-owned Hermann Goe-
ring Works and by Vereinigte Stahlwerke A.G. (United Steel
~Works), in which the government held a substantial, interest:
The Concern owned and operated soft coal, hard coal, and iron
mines; blast furnaces and smelting, coking, and chemical plants,
including plants for. production of synthetic fuel; rolling mills;
and fabricating plants for manufacture of finished products, such
~as ammunition, armorplate, gun carriages, armored cars and trucks
and other panzer materials, airplanes and airplane parts. and
railroad cars, parts and locomotives. '

From at least 1937 until April 1945 the Flick Concern was lar-
gely owned, directly or indirectly, by a parent holding company
known as Friedrich Flick Kommanditgesellschaft (FKG), a limi-
ted parinership of which Friedrich Flick was the .only personally
liable partner. At first Flick was the sole.owner of FKG. In form
most of the ownership of FKG was subsequently transferred to

“Flick’s sons, but it was in substance treated by Flick as his own
property, and;, as the only general partper, he was in complete
control of FKG at all times from 1937 to 1945. The most important
of the companies of the Flick Concern are listed below. Unless
otherwise indicated Flick jnterests owned a majority of the -
stock of each. Their designation as companies in the form of
AG. or G.mb.H. (both of which designations describe limited
liability companies) is not exclusive; several of the companies °
were changed from one form to the other. ’
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The ick Loncem
followmg

NAME AND LOCATION

Anhaltische Kohlenwerke A.G.
(AKW)

ATG (Allgemeine Transportan-
lage Maschinenbau) G..m. b. H,,
Leipzig

Brandenburger Eisenwerke A.G..
Brandenburg, near Berlin

Chemische Werke Essener Stein-
ko}ﬂe. A. 6. Essen

Eisenwerksgeséllschaft Maximi-

lianshuette. A. G. (G.m.b.H. after

1944) (abbreviated “Maxhuette®)

Essener Steinkohlenbergbau A.G.,
Essen

Fellawerk A.G. (after 1944, G. .
m. b. H) Feucht near Nuremberg

Friedrich Flick Kommanditge-

sellschaft (abbreviated FKG or.

FFKG) Berlin

—~

Harpener Bergbéu A.G, Dort-.

mund

'

Hochofen werk Luebeck A.G.
Luebeck-Herrenwyek

~

comprised,

among other interests, the

NATURE OF COMPANY

Brown (soft) " coal mines in
central Germany

Aireraft

Panzer Materials

Chemlcals. ox\ned by Essener
Stemkohle

_Iron mines and smeltlnu
plants

Hard coal mines in Ruhr
Agricultural . machinery

Limited parinership which
‘was” parent holding company
of the Concern; it also directly
owned and operated extensive
properties, including Bran-
~ denburg and Hennigsdorf .
. steel plants.

Hard coal mines in Ruhr.
These properties, fogether
with Essener Steinkohle, com-
prised second Jargest coal
group in the Ruhr.

Blast furnaces .

1



Lmke Hofmann Werke AG,
Breslau

: Maschlnentabrik' Donauwoerth
- “G.m.b.H., Donauwoerth -~

Mitteldeutsche Stahlwerke A.G.
(after 1943, G.m.b.H.)

"Riese a. d. Elbe .

(abbreviated “Mittelstahl®)

Saechsische Gusstahlwerke A.G.
Doehlen

—

~_ -

‘Span}auer Stahlindustrie
G.m.b.H., Spandau

Waggon und Maschinenfabrik

"~ A.G., Bautzen

(frequently referred to under its

former name of Busch-Bautzen)

Tractor - and truck

vehicles
and railway cars ‘

- Machine works

Iron and steel plants; largest
in’ Germany outside the Ruhr. -

Iron and steel products; ow-
ned 50% by State of Saxony
but largely operated by the-
Flick Concern.

Steel products.

Electric locomotives; railway
“cars, couplings.

N/O933 "2 10, 47 2891

m



MILITARY TRIBUNALS

CASE No.6

THE UNITED STATES OF AMERICA

—against—

CARL KRAUCH, HERMANN SCHMITZ, GEORG VON
SCHNITZLER, FRiTZ GAJEWSKI, HEINRICH HOERLEIN,
AUGUST VON KNIERIEM, FRITZIER MEER, CHRISTIAN
SCHNEIDER, OTTO AMBROS, MAX BRUEGGEMANN,
ERNST BUERGIN, HEINRICH BUETEFISCH, PAUL
HAEFLIGER, MAX' ILGNER, FRIEDRICH JAEHNE, HANS
KUEHNE, CARL LAUTENSCHLAEGER, WILHELM MANN,
HEINRICH OSTER, KARL WURSTER, WALTER DUERR-
FELD, HEINRICH GATTINEAU, ERICH VON DER HEYDE,
and HANS KUGLER, officials of I. G. FARBENINDUSTRIE
AKTIENGESELLSCHAFT

Defendants

OFFICE OF MILITARY GOVERNMENT FOR GERMANY (US) -
NURNBERG 1947



£ d



TABLE OF CONTENTS

INTRODUCTORY
COUNT ONE—PLANNING, PREPARATION, INITIATION AND

WAGING OF WARS OF AGGRESSION AND
INVASIONS OF OTHER COUNTRIES .

STATEMENT OF THE OFFENSE
PARTICULARS OF DEFENDANTS’ PARTICIPATION .

A.
B.

The Alliance of FARBEN with Hitler and the Nazi Party
FARBEN synchronized all of its activities with the
military planning of the German High Command

. FARBEN participated in preparing the Four Year

Plan and in directing the economic mobilization of
Germany for war

.FARBEN participated in creating and equipping the

Nazi military machine for aggressive war .

. FARBEN procured and stockplled critical war ma erials

for the Nazi offensive

. FARBEN participated in weakening Germany’s

potential enemies

FARBEN carried on propaganda, intelligence, and
espionage activities . . . .

. With the approach of war and with each new act of

aggression, FARBEN intensified its preparation for,
and participation in, the planning and execution of such
aggressions and the reaping of spoils therefrom

. FARBEN participated in plunder, spoliation, slavery,

and mass murder as part of the invasions and wars
of aggression

VIOLATION OF LAW

0w W © ©

13

15

20

22

23

25

27

32
32



COUNT TWO—PLUNDER AND SPOLIATION . . .
STATEMENT OF THE OFFENSE
PARTICULARS OF DEFENDANTS' PARTICIPATION
A. FARBEN in Austria
B. FARBEN in Czechoslovakia
C. FARBEN in Poland
D. 'FARBEN‘ in Norway
E. FARBEN iﬁ France
g F. FARBEN in Russia
VIOLATION OF LAW
COUNT THREE—SLAVERY AND MASS MURDER
STATEMENT OF THE OFFENSE

PARTICULARS OF DEFENDANTS' PARTICIPATION IN™

SLAVERY AND MASS MURDER .
A. Role of FARBEN in Slave Labor Program

B. Use of Poison Gas and Medical Experimentations upon
Enslaved Persons .

C. FARBEN at Auschwitz
» VIOLATION OF LAW
COUNT FOUR—MEMBERSHIP IN THE SS
COUNT FIVE—COMM_ON PLAN.OR CONSPIRACY

APPENDIX A—STATEMENT OF POSITIONS HELD BY EACH
OF THE DEFENDANTS .o . .

APPENDIX B—HISTORICAL LISTING OF THE FIRMS WHICH
' WERE MERGED IN 1926 TO FORM FARBEN

33
33

. 33
34

35

- 37

38
38
41
43
44
44

44

44

47
47
51
52
53

55

73



.IN'DICTMENT

The United States of America, by the undersigned Telford Taylor,
Chief of Counsel for War Crimes, duly appointed to represent said Gov-
ernment in the prosecution of war criminals, charges that the defendants
herein committed Crimes against Peace, War Crimes and Crimes against
Humanity, and participated in a common plan or conspiracy to commit
said ¢rimes, all as defined in Control Council Law No. 10, duly enacted
by the Allied Control Council on 20 December 1945. These crimes in-
cluded planning, prenering, initiating and waging wars of aggression and
invasions of other countries, as a result of which incalculable destruction
was wrought throughout the world, millions of people were kiiled and
many millions more suffered and are still suffering; deportation to slave
labor of members of the civilian population of the invaded countries
and the enslavement, mistreatment, terrorization, torture and murder of
millions of persons, including German nationals as well as foreign
nationals; plunder and spoliation of public and private property in the
invaded countries pursuant to deliberate plans and policies, intended not
only to strengthen Germany in launching its invasions and waging its.
aggressive wars and secure the permanent economic domination by
Germany of the continent of Europe, but also to expand the private
empire of the defendants; and other grave crimes as set forth in this
Indictment.

The persons accused as guilty of these crimes and accordingly named
as defendants in this case are the following officials of I. G. FARBEN-
INDUSTRIE AKTIENGESELLSCHAFT (Hereinafter referred to as.
“FARBEN” in the English text and “I. G.” in the German text):

CARL KRAUCH, Chairman of the Aufsichtsrat (Supervisory Board
of Directors) of FARBEN, Generalbevollmaechtigter fuer Sonderfragen
der Chemischen Erzeugung (General Plenipotentiary for Special Ques-
tions of Chemical Productlon) on Goering's staff in the Office of the
Four Year Plan.

HERMANN SCHMITZ, Chairman of the Vorstand (Managing Board
of Directors) of FARBEN; Member of the Reichstag; Director of the
Bank of International Settlements.
~ GEORG VON SCHNITZLER, Member of the Central Committee of
the Vorstand of FARBEN; Chief of the Commercial Committee of the
Vorstand, which planned and directed FARBEN’s domestic and foreign
sales and commercial activities; | Wehrwirtschaftsfuehrer (Military
Economy Leader); Hauptsturmfuehrer (Captain) in the Sturmabteilungen
(SA) of the NSDAP.

FRITZ GAJEWSKI, Member of the Central Committee of the Vor-~
stand of FARBEN; Chief of Sparte III (Division III) in charge of pro-

r
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duction of photographic materials and art1fic1a1 ﬁbres Manager of
“Agfa” plants; Wehrwirtschaftsfuehrer.

HEINRICH HOERLEIN, Member of the Central Committee of the
Vorstand of FARBEN; Chief of chemical research and development of
vaccines, sera, pharmaceuticals and poison gas; Manager of the Elber-
- feld plant.

AUGUST VON KNIERIEM, Member of the Central Committee of the
Vorstand of FARBEN; Chief Counsel of FARBEN; Chairman, Legal and
Patent Committees.

FRITZ TER MEER, Member of the Central Committee of the Vor-
stand of FARBEN,; Chief of the Technical Committee of the Vorstand,
which planned .and directed all of FARBEN's production; Chief of
Sparte II in charge of production of buna, poison gas, dyestuffs, chemi-
cals, metals and pharmaceuticals; Wehrwirtschaftsfuehrer.

- CHRISTIAN SCHNEIDER, Member of the Central Committee of the
“Vorstand of FARBEN; Chief of Sparte I in charge of production of
nitrogen, gasoline, diesel and lubricating oils, methanol and organic
chemicals; Chief of Central Personnel Department, directing the treat-
ment of labor at FARBEN plants; Wehrwirtschaftsfuehrer; Hauptab-
wehrbeauftragter (Chief of Intelligence "Agents); Hauptbetriebsfuehrer
(Chief of Plant Leaders); supportmg member of the Schutzstaffeln (SS)
" of the NSDAP.

OTTO AMBROS, Member of the Vorstand of FARBEN; Chief of
Chemical Warfare Committee of the Ministry of Armaments and War
Production; Production Chief for buna and poison gas; Manager of
Auschwitz,” Schkopau, -Ludwigshafen, Oppau, Gendorf, Dyhernfurth and
Falkenhagen plants; Wehrwirtschaftsfuehrer.

MAX BRUEGGEMANN, Member and Secretary of the Vorstand of
FARBEN; Member of the Legal Committee; Deputy Plant Leader of the
Leverkusen Plant; Deputy Chief of the Sales Combine Pharmaceuticals;
Director of the Legal, Patent and Personnel Departments of the Works
Combme Lower Rhine. .

ERNST BUERGIN,' Member of the Vorstand of FARBEN; Chief of
Works Combine Central Germany; Betriebsfuehrer (Plant Leader) at
Bitterfeld and Wolfen-Farben plants; Production Chief for light metals,
dyestuffs, organic intermediates, plastics and nitrogen at these plants.

HEINRICH BUETEFISCH, Member of the Vorstand of FARBEN; '
Manager of Leuna Plants; Production Chief for gasoline, methanol, and
chlorine electrolysis production at Auschwitz and Moosbierbaum; Wehr-
w1rtschaftsfuehrer, Member of the Himmler Freundes Kreis (Circle of
Friends of Himmler); Obersturmbannfuehrer (Lieutenant Colonel) in

the SS.



'PAUL HAEFLIGER, Member of the Vorstand of FARBEN; Member
of the Commercial Committee; Chief, Metals Departments, Sales Com-
bine Chemicals. o : v

MAX ILGNER, Memker of the Vorstand of FARBEN; Chief of FAR-
ben’s Berlin N.W.7 office, directing intelligence, espionage and pro-
paganda activities; Member of the Commercial Committee; Wehrwirt-
schaftsfuehrer.

FRIEDRICH JAEHNE, Member of the Vorstand of FARBEN,; Chief
Engineer in charge of construction and physical plant development;
Chairman of the Engineering Committee; Deputy Chief, Works Combine
Main Valley.

HANS KUEHNE, Member of the Vorstand of FARBEN; Chief of the

Works Combine Lower Rhine; Plant Leader at Leverkusen, Elberfeld, .

Uerdingen and Dormagen plants; Prcduction Chief for inorganics,
organic intermediates, dyestuffs and pharmaceuticals at these plants;
Chief of the Inorganics Committee. )

CARL LAUTENSCHLAEGER, Member of the Vorstand of FARBEN;
" Chief of Works Combine Main Valley; Plant Leader at Hoechst, Gries-
heim, Mainkur, Gersthofen, Offenbach, Eystrup, Marburg, Neuhausen
Plants; Production Chief for nitrogen, inorganics, organic intermediates,
solvents and plastics, dyestuffs and pharmaceuticals at these plants.

WILHELM MANN, Member of the Vorstand of FARBEN; Member
of the Commercial Committee; Chief of the Sales Combine Pharma-
ceuticals; Member of the SA.

HEINRICH OSTER, Member of the Vorstand of FARBEN; Member
of the Commercial Committee; Manager of the Nitrogen Syndicate.

KARL WURSTER, Member of the Vorstand of FARBEN; Chief of
the Works Combine Upper Rhine; Plant leader at Ludwigshafen and

Oppau plants; Production Chief for inorganic chemicals; Wehrwii‘t-

schaftsfuehrer.

. WALTER DUERRFELD, Director and Construction Manager of the
Auschwitz Plant of FARBEN; Director -and Construction Manager of
the Monowitz Concentration Camp; Chief Engineer at the Leuna Plant.

HEINRICH GATTINEAU, Chief of the Political-Economic _Policy

Departments, “WIPO”, of FARBEN’s Berlin N. W.7 office; Member of.

Southeast Europe Committee; Director of A.G. Dynamit Nobel, Press~
burg, Czechoslovakia. '

ERICH VON DER HEYDE, Member of the Political-Economic Policy
Department of FARBEN’s N.W.7 office; Deputy to the Chief of . In-
telligence Agents; Hauptsturmfuehrer (Captain) in the SS; Member of
the WI-RUE-AMT (Military Economic and Armaments Office) of the
OKW (High Command of the Wehrmacht).



HANS KUGLER, Member of the Commercial Committee of FARBEN;
Chief of the Sales Department Dyestuffs for Hungary, Rumania, Yugo-
slavia, Greece, Bulgaria, Turkey, Czechoslovakia-and Austria;" Public
Commissar for the Falkenau and Aussig plants in Czechoslovakia, .

. Reference is hereby made to Appendix “A" of this Indictment for a
fuller statement of the positfons held by each of the defendants..
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COUNT ONE

PLANNING, PREPARATION, INITIATION and WAGING OF WARS
OF AGGRESSION AND INVASIONS OF OTHER COUNTRIES

STATEMEN T OF “THE OFFENSE

1. All of the defendants, acting through the instrumentality of
FARBEN and otherwise, with divers other persons during a period of
years preceding 8 May 1945, participated in the planning, preparation,
initiation and waging of wars of aggression and invasions of other
countries, which wars of aggression and invasions were also in viola-
tion of international laws and treaties. All of the defendants held high
positions in the financial, industrial and economic life of Germany and
_committed these Crimes against Peace, as defined by Article II of
Control Council Law No. 10, in that they were principals in, accessories
to, ordered, abetted, took a consenting part in, were connected with
plans and enterprises involving and were members of organizations or
groups, including FARBEN, which were connected with, the comimis-
sion of said crimes.

2. The invasions and wars of aggression referred to in the preced-
ing paragraph were as follows: against Austria, 12 March 1937; against
Czechoslovakia, 1 October, 1938, and 15 March, 1939; against Poland,
1 September, 1939; against the United Kingdom and France, 3 Sep-
tember, 1939; against Denmark and Norway, 9 April, 1940; against Bel-
giu)m, the Netherlands and Luxembourg, 10 May, 1940; against Yugo-
slavia and Greece, 6 April 1941; against the U.S.SR., 22 June, 1941;
and against the United States of America, 11 December, 1941.

3. In these invasions and wars of aggression, many millions of

people were mundered tortured, starved, enslaved and robbed; mil-
11ons of homes were left in ruins; tremendous industrial capacity ne-
cessary to maintain the standard of living of peoples all over the world
was destroyed; agricultural land capable of feeding millions of people
was laid in waste; and a large part of the world was left in economic
and political chaos. The life and happiness of all peoples of the world
were aldvm'sely affected as the result of these invasions and wars of

. aggression,

PARTICULARS OF THE DEFENDANTS’' PARTICIPATION IN THE
PLANNING, PREPARATION, INITIATION AND WAGING OF WARS
- OF AGGRESSION AND INVASIONS OF OTHER COUNTRIES

A. TheA Alliance of FARBEN with Hitler and the Nazi Party

4..In 1921 Adolf Hitler became the supreme leader or Fuehrer of
the National Socialist German Workers party, also known as the Nawi
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Panty. The main points of the Nazi Party Program, which remained
unaltered until the party’s dissolution in 1945, were to abrogate and
overthrow the Treaties of Versailles and Saint Germain, and reconsti-
tute the Wehrmacht; to acquire territories lost by Germany as the
result of World War I;to acquire all other territories in Europe assert-
edly occupied by so-called “racial Germans”; and to acquire such
other territories in the world as might be “needed” by the Germans for
“Lebensraum”. The Nazis proclaimed that persons of so-called “Ger-
man blood” were a “master race” and were entitled to subjugate, do-
minate, and exterminate other “races” and peoples, and that war was
a noble and necessary German activity. The Nazis proposed to achieve
their ends by any means deemed opportune, including resort to force
and aggressive war. The policies and program of the Nazi Party were
_ continually and prulbhcly rel'terated\ and were matters of common know-

ledge. N

5. FARBEN was a power in the world a generation before the Naazis.
In 1925 FARBEN was not only the greatest industrial combine ever
formed in Germany but one of the greatest in the world. By 1939, its
size more than doubled, FARBEN surpassed any single industrial group
in Germany 'in technological and financial influence and in the magni-
tude of its interests and affiliations, FARBEN’s domestic participahions
. comprised some 400 German firms, including manufacturing plants,
sales companies, and power dinstallations. FARBEN owned its own
railroads, lignite and bituminous coal mines, electric power plants,
coke ovens, and magnesite, gypsum and salt mines. FARBEN’s foreign
participations numbered over 500 firms, and its foreign manufactuning
plants and holding companies blanketed Europe. FARBEN’s sales com-
panies, research firms, and other agencies were located in every im-
portant commercial and industrial center .in the world.

6. Hitler, with his program of war, and FARBEN, which could make
Germany (with very scanty natural resources essential for war aside
from coal) self-sufficient for war, found a basis for close collaboration
as early as 1932, The FARBEN leaders and other industrialists saw
the Nazi movement growing and saw in it the opportunity to extend
their economic dominion.

7. About November, 1932, the defendants BUETEFISCH and GAT-
TINEAU, representing FARBEN, visited Hitler in Munich and dis-
cussed the question whether FARBEN could look to him and his
party for support in the development of the FARBEN hydrogenation
process for producing synthetic gasoline. FARBEN had been contemplat-
ing abandonment of its costly synthetic production and research. Hitler
informed the FARBEN representatives that he would support them in
the development of the hydrogenation process, and assured them t:hat
synthetic gasoline ﬁtted into his program. )

‘10



8. In the Reichstag election of 6 November 1932, the Nazi Party lost
two million votes and 34 seats. At this point the Nazi Party was in.a
" critical situation. Lange bills were unpaid and the coffers were empty.
On 8 December 1932, Joseph Goebbels wrote in his diary: “Severe de-
pression prevails*** financial troubles miake all organized work im-
" possible*** the danger now exists of the whole party going to pieces.”
At the crucial moment, many leading industrialists rallied to the as-
sistance of the Nazis.

9. On 4 January 1933, a meeting was held at the Cologne home of
the banker, Baron Kurt von Schroeder, for the purpose of forming an
alliance between Franz von Papen and Adolf Hitler. As a result of the
meeting, von Papen repeatedly discussed with Hindenburg the for-
mation of a cabinet with Hitler as Chancellor and von Papen as Vice
Chancellor. On 30 January 1933, Hindenburg appointed Adolf Hitler
Chancellor of Germany. The impending Reichstag election of 5 March
1933 presented a crucial test of Hitler’s power. '

10. On 20 February 1933 the defendant VON SCHNITZLER, repres-
enting FARBEN, met Hitler at Goering’s Berlin house. He found there
Gustav Krupp von Bohlen and Halbach, head of the Krupp armaments
combine and President of the Reich Association of German Industry,
and other leading representatives of German Industry. Hitler declared
his treasonable purpose to seize power by violence if he failed to win
it by votes. Among other things he stated that: Private enterprise can-
not be maintained in the age of democracy; when the defense of the
existing order is left to a majority, it will irretrievably go under; it
is the noblest task of a leader to find ideals that are stronger than the
factors that pull the people apart; he found them in Nationalism, in the
denlal of reconciliation between nations, in the strength and power of
individual personality; if one rejects pacifism, one must offer a new
idea in its place immediately; we must not forget that all the benefits
of culture must be introduced more or less with an iron fist, just as
once upon a time the farmers were forced to plant potatoes; we must
first gain complete power if we want to crush the other side com-
pletely; only when one knows that one had reached the pinnacle of
power, that there is no further possible upward development, shall
one strike; now we stand before the last election, regardless of the
outcome there will be no retreat; if the election does not decide, the
decision must be brought about even by other means; there are only
two possibilities, either to crowd back the opponent on constitutional
grounds, and for this purpose once more this eleciion, or a struggle
will be conducted with other weapons, which may demand grealer
sacrifices, the question of restoration of the Wehrmacht will not be
decided at Geneva, but in Germany.

1



11. ‘At the conclusion of the speech, Goering asked - for money,
saying that, “The sacrifice asked for would ‘be so much easier for
industry to bear if it realized that the election of 5 March would
surely be the last one for the next ten years, probably even for the
next hundred years.” Krupp then expressed to Hitler the industrialists’

' . “gratitude for having given us such a clear picture of his ideas.”

12. FARBEN answered Hitler’s request for aid with a gift of 400,000
Reichsmarks, the largest contribution by a single firm that resulted
from the meeting. The financial support thus given to the Nazis
prompted Goering to state that in the election “we' ‘had the support
of all industry.”

13. With the knowledge that he could count on the backing and
loyalty of FARBEN and other sections of industry, Hitler rhoved
rapidly to dictatorship. Seven days after the meeting at Goering’s
house, & decree was enacted suspending constitutional guarantees of
freedom and giving Hitler power to arrest persons and hold them in
“protective ‘custody.” In the 5 March election Hitler won 44 percent
of the total vote which together with the Huegenberg vote and the
forcible exclusion of the Communist deputies, gave Hitler a majority
in the Reichstag. When the Reichstag met on 21 March, Hitler introduced
the Enabling Act, giving him full legislative powers including
the power to deviate from the Constitution. He made it clear that
further forceful measures would be taken if the Enabling Act were
not passed. It passed. .

14. Hitler had yet to consolidate his dictatorial power by destroying
the forces of freedom in Germany before he assaulted freedom in the
world. Immediately Hitler needed more money for “party” purposes. The
special organizations of the party, such as the SS and SA, were heavy
burdens on the party treasury. FARBEN made substantial contributions
to support and further these activities.

15. Industry organized to support Hitler’s political program, including
rearmament and territorial aggrandizement. In April 1933, the Reich
Association of German Industry, of which FARBEN was a member, sub-
mitted to Hitler a plan for the reorganization of German industry ac-
cording to the Fuehrerprinzip (leadership principle). In transmitting the
plan, Gustav Krupp stated that “the turn of political events is in line
with the wishes which I, myself, and the Board of Directors have
cherished for a long time. In reorganizing the Reich Association of Ger-
man Indusfry. I shall be guided by the idea of bringing the new organi-
zation into agreement with the political aims of the German govern-,
ment.”

16. Hitler now made good to FARBEN the promise he had given
in 1932. In December 1933, FARBEN entered into an agreement with
the German government for the enlargement of its synthetic gasohne
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plants. All the increased production was guaranteed by the government,
as to both price and sales. At the same time FARBEN ‘began discussions
with the government and its military agencies on synthetic rubber
research and began construction of a secret magnesium plant.

17. In 1934 FARBEN began to work even more closely with the-
Wehrmacht in the rearmament program and conferences with the mili-
tary “became more and more numerous and urgent”. Construction was
started on secret stand-by plants for the production of magnesiufn and
explosives. In 1935 FARBEN plants began to prepare detailed plans for
war prod'uctiori and mobilization. “War Games” were conducted to
determine the effect of bombing of factories on production and speed
of replacement. Drastic secrecy measures were imposed at the direction’
of the Reich War Ministry with respect to all war production in FAR-
‘BEN plants, including poison gas production.

18. As a result of the basis for collaboration established between
Hitler and FARBEN in 1932, FARBEN concentrated its vast resources
on the creation and equiment of the German military machine for
war, invented new production processes and produced huge quantities
of materials of war, including synthetic rubber, synthetic gasoline, ex-
plosives, meth'anol, nitrates and other critical materials. Without them
Germany could not have initiated and waged aggressive war. In order
to accomplish this gigantic task, there took place.between 1933 and 1939
a tremendous expansion of FARBEN’s manufacturing facilities far in
excess of the needs of a peacetime economy, undertaken with the
encouragement and support of the Third Reich and financed primarily
by the government. Having played an indispensable role in preparing
Germany for aggressive wars, FARBEN then played an indispensable
role in the waging of such wars. Throughout the entire period, FARBEN
contributed vast amounts annually to the NSDAP, its various organiza-
tions, and to numerous special projects of Hitler, Himmler and other
Nazi leaders for the purpose of maintaining the NSDAP in power and
financing its criminal activities. FARBEN reaped huge profits and
benefits as a result of the alliance which it established with Hitler in
1932 and which was broken only by force of arms in May 1945.

B. FARBEN synchronized all of its activities with the military planning

of the German High Command

19. FARBEN cooperated with Hitler in his earliest efforts to build
up a vast military machine in violation of the Versailles Treaty. This
intimate cooperation made it necessary for FARBEN to work closely
with the Wehrmacht. By 2 September 1935, FARBEN’s activities fell
so exclusively in the military domain that FARBEN’s Central Com-
mittee of the Vorstand found it essential to establish in Berlin a mili-
tary liaison agency, the Vermittlungsstelle W, for the sole purpose of
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“providing in the establishment of military ecottomy for a systematic
cooperation within the I. G. and particularly for a centralized treat-
ment of questions of military policy and military-technics.” "'The func-
tions of this agency were to coordinate the work of the existing plants
with the general mobilization plan so that in case of war FARBEN could
regulate itself without outside interference, to handle all research
problems relating to military production, and to discuss with the military
agencies experlments in FARBEN laboratories for the development, and
production of offensive weapons. Such activities had been carried on
for some time by the defendant KRAUCH in the production of synthetic
gasoline, nitrogen and other products. FARBEN records of 1935 declared
the purpose of Vermittlungsstelle W to be “the building up of a tight
organization for armament in the 1. G. which could be inserted without
difficulty into the existing organization of the I. G. and the individual
plants. In the case of war, I. G. FARBEN will be treated by the
authorities concerned with armament questions as one big plant which
in its task for armament, as far as it is possible to do so from the
technical point of view, will regulate itself without any organizational
influence from outside”. The importance of this new organization to
FARBEN is shown by the fact that the Vorstand placed at its head
FARBEN’s top sc.ientist, the defendant CARL KRAUCH.

20. One of the first responsibilities given to the Vermittiungsstelle
W by the Wehrmacht was the enforcement of stringent security mea-
sures in FARBEN designed to enable Germany to arm for war with
as little notice as possible to the outside world. This security was of
the most far reaching nature and covered all of FARBEN’s operations
connected with rearmament, including production, contracts for produc-
tion, patents, research and experimentation in the military field. This
covered poison gas, explosives, and other military items. On 2 January
1936, on instructions from the defendant TER MEER, a department for
counterintelligence service, defense against spying, sabotage and betrayal
of working secrets was istablished in the Vermittlungsstelle W which
worked in close cooperation with the intelligence service of the Wehr-
macht. -

21. One purpose of the Vermittlungsstelle W was to assure secrecy,
particularly in the field of patents. FARBEN records state: “The Su-
preme Command of the Army, Military Economic Staff, has frequently
pointed out in discussions with respect to the necessity of keeping -
patent applications of I. G. secret—whether or not these patents resulted
from the joint experimental work of the I. G. with the Army officers
or from I. G.’s own initiative — that the Army is prepared to indemnify
and underwrite any damages arising from this enforced secrecy or
arising from the fact that these patents cannot be exploited.”

22, By 193¢ FARBEN had worked out detailed plans for defending
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their plants against air raids. In 1935, the Vermittlungsstelle W super-
vised Kriegsspiele or “War Games”, to determine the effect of bombing
on certain factories and the speed of replacement, and to train the
Luftwaffe in precision bombing. The V_ei*mittlungsstelle W also acted
as intermediary between FARBEN and the government in the prepa-
ration of mobilization plans for FARBEN’s plants. These plans set
forth the production programs which each factory could undertake in
the event of war. They were discussed in the Vorstand, and instructions
were issued to every FARBEN plant to prepare and deliver production
plans of the Vermittlungsstelle W which submitted them to the
Ministries- of War and Economics. FARBEN’s prepan&tidns for economic
mobilization were so well developed that the military authorities used
them as a basis for general war mobilization plans.

23. September, 1939, and the invasion of .Poland, found FARBEN
long since converted to a wartime footing. The fact that Germany
had formally gone to war required no more than & telegram from
Vermittlungsstelle W, dated 3 September 1939; “At the order of the
Reich Economic Ministry, Dr. Ungewitter just ordered all I. G. plants
to switch at once to the production outlined in the mobilization
program. The minimum production recently fixed for Ludwigshafen
and Oppau also goes into effect immediately with small changes. So
far as the reserves of workers presenting themselves at Ludwigshafen
and Oppau cannot be utilized effectively in the plant, they are to
remain in readiness for employment elsewhere within I. G. Our plants
have been notified by telegrams.”

24, All of the aforegoing activities constituted vital planning and
preparation for aggressive war. The defendant VON SCHNITZLER
has stated: “***with the increased tempo after 1936 the Wehrmacht °
became the prominent factor in the whole picture. Since 1934 a strong
movement for investments in our plants for commodities of decisive
military importanée became more and wore pronounced with the main
objective of increasing the military potential of Germany. At first
autarchic principles to make Germany independent of importation from
abroad was one of the leading objectives. Since 1936, the movement
took an entirely military character and military reasons stood in the
foreground. Hand in hand with this, the relations between I. G. and
the Wehrmacht became more and more intimate and a continuous -
union between I. G. officials on the one side and the Wehrmacht
representatives on the other side was the consequence of it.”

C. FARBEN participated in preparing the Four Year Plan and in
directing’ the economic mobilization of Germany for war

25. Rearmament and reconstitution of the Wehrmacht were
indispensable to . Hitler’s plans for conquest. In April 1936, just
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after German troops entered the demilitarized zoné of the Rhine-
land, Hitler appointed Goering Coordinator for Raw Materials and
‘Foreign Exchange and empowered him to supervise all State and
Party activities in thése fields. In this capacity Goering on 26 May
1936 addressed a meeting of the Committee of Experts for Raw
Materials Questions, his principal advisors. The defendant SCHMITZ
attended that meeting together with representatives of the Ministries
of War and Air, and other high government officials. Supply questions
vital to “A-Fall” (the code name for “Case of War”) were discussed.
Goering emphasized that, once at war, Germany would be cut off
from all oil imports; that since a mechanized army and navy was
dependent upon oil, the entire waging of war hinged on the solution
of the oil problem. Goering also declared that “rubber is our weakest
point” and indicated that considerations of cost were “immaterial”.
Every subject, including oil and rubber, was discussed at the meeting
in the light of fnih‘tary requirements for waging war.

26. Shortly thereafter, Carl Bosch, then president of FARBEN,
recommended to Goering that he retain the defendant KIRAUCH to
advise him in the planning and control of the chemical sector of the
rearmament program. KRAUCH was put in charge of research and
development in Goering's newly created Office for German Raw
Materials and Synthetlcs

27. On 8 September 1936, at the Nazi Party rally in Nurnberg,
Hitler announced the establishment of the Four Year Plan and the
appointment of Goering as the Plenipotentiary in charge. The purpose ‘
of the Four Year Plan was to make Germany ready for war in four
years. The ‘Office of the Four Year Plan was charged with working
out complete programs for the development of plant capacity in all
fields wital to war mobilization, including chemicals, rubber, gasoline,
and explosives. In a memorandum to Goering explaining the objectives
of the Four Year Plan, Hitler stated that the final solution of Ger-
many’s problem lay in the acquisition of new territories; that such
acquisition was the task of ‘“the political leadershlp”, that in order
for “the political leadership” to exercise its responsibilities, the Ger-
man economy had to. be mobilized for the purpose of making Germany
self-sufficient in critical war materials. .

28. On 17 December 1936 in Hitler's presence, Goering made a
speech in the Preussenhaus in Berlin in which he explained to a
large audience of government officials and industrialists the aims of
the Four Year Plan. Bosch and the defendants KRAUCH and VON
SCHNITZILER were present. ‘Goering made clear the intention and
decision of the Nazi government to wage war. He sa1d among other
things: “The battle which we are approaching demands a colassal
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‘measure of 'productive ability. No limit on the rearmament can be

_ visualized.. The only alternative in this case is victory or destruction.
If we win business will be sufficiently ‘compensated.” He ended his
speech: “Our whole nation is at stake. We live in a time when the
final battle is in sight. We are already on the threshold of mobilization
and we are already at war. All that is lacking is the actual shooting.”
On 22 December 1936 VON SCHNITZLER made a confidential report
to the responsible officials of FARBEN. on Hitler's "and Goering's
speeches “regarding the responsibilities of the German economy. in
the application of the Four Year Plan.”

29. The defendant KRAUCH was appointed Chief of the Department
for Research and Development in the Office of the Four Year Plan,
the department responsible for preparing plans -to make Germany
selfsufficient for war. KRAUCH participated in numerous conferences
devoted to military planning at which Goering and other high officials
of the Third Reich were present. These meetings related to all phases
of military mobilization and were not limited to the chemical field.
For example, on 16 June 1937, a conference was held among govern-
ment officials and representatives of the Iron and Steel Industry.
KRAUCH represented the Office for German Raw Materials. 'Goering
called for huge increases in iron production and reduction in the
export of semifinished iron products. He stated that the purpose of
the Four Year Plan was to create a foundation upon which preparation
for war might be apceleréted; that warships, guns, ammunition and
munitions were to have first priority on iron; that the export of iron
“may easily facilitate the armament of the enemy”; and that accordingly
“the shipment of iron to the so-called enemy countries like England,
France, Belgium, Russia and Czechoslovakia” was to be prohibited.

30. In the summer of 1938, with the invasion of Czechoslovakia
imminent, Goering intensified his economic measures in preparation
for aggressive war. FARBEN took the initiative in reorganizing the
chemical program outlined by the Four Year Plan in line with the
requirements for waging war. Goering took his first measures to speed
up the program for chemical warfare and explosives at Karin Hall .
after the defendant KRAUCH had pointed out to him that the figures
being relied on in preparation for war were incorrect and the danger
of planning war on an inaccurate basis. On 30 June 1938, KRAUCH
and Goering worked out the so-called “Karin Hall Plan”, also called
the ‘“Krauch Plan”, which contained a new program for producing
chemical warfare agents (poison gas), explosives, rubber and gasoline
production. The administrative basis had been prepared by the
defendant AMBROS a few days prior thereto. Thereafter KRAUCH
was appointed by Goering as Plenipotentiary 'General of the Four
Year Plan for Special Questions of Chemical Production and was
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vested with the identical powers suggested by AMBROS. KRAUCH
was also appointed head of the “Reichsamt fuer. Wirtschaftsaufbau”
(Reich Office for Economic Development). With the assistance of key
technical men of FARBEN, KRAUCH oprepared special mobilization
plans for the chemical industry, including an allocation and priority
system for labor and building materials. '

31. On 14 October 1938, Goering announced to a conference of
important government officials, at which the defendant KRAUCH and
other representatives of the Four Year Plan were present, that Hitler
had ordered him “to carry out a gigantic program compared to which
previous achievements are insignificant.]' He stated that within the
shortest possible time the Air Force must be increased fivefold, the
Navy expanded, and large stocks of “offensive weapons, particularly
heavy - artillery pieces and heavy tanks” procured. Goering especially
stressed the need for tremendous military production increases in ‘the
fields of fuel, powder and explosives.

32. The defendant KRAUCH in his report of April, 1939, on the
Krauch Plan to the General Council of the Four Year Plan, outlining
the progress of his production plans in the field of oil, rubber, powder,
explosives and chemical warfare agents, stated; “When on 30 June 1938
the objectives of increased production in the spheres of work discussed
here, were outlinbkd by the Field Marshal, it seemed that the political
leadership could determine independently the timing and extent of
the political revolution in Europe and could avoid a rupture with a
group of powers under the leadership of Great Britain. Since March
of this year (the invasion of Czechoslovakia) there is no longer any
doubt that this hypothesis does not exist any more.” And at the end
of his report: “If action does not follow upon these thoughts with the
greatest possible speed, all sacrifices of blood in the next war will
not spare us the bitter end which once before we have brought upon
ourselves owing to lack of foresight and fixed purpose.”

33. Throughout his employment in the Office of the Four Year Plan,
the defendant KRAUCH continued as a member of the Vorstand of
FARBEN wuntil 1940, when he was appointed Chairman of the Auf-
sichtsrat. Numerous officials and scientists of FARBEN assisted him
in the Office of the Four Year Plan. The defendant BUETEFISCH
advised 'KRAUCH on matters pertaining to synthetic gasoline; the
defendant AMBROS, on buna production; the defendant WURSTER,
on sulphuric acids; and the defendant SCHNEIDER, on nitrogen.
Ninety percent of the employees in KRAUCH's office in thes Four Year
Plan were FARBEN personnel. In their capacity as government
advisors on crucial war materials, FARBEN employees conferred
continually with rgdv‘:ernment officials on military plans. KRAUCH
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and the other FARBEN technicians and scientists refained their posit- -
ions with FARBEN and continued to receive their salaries from FAR-
BEN while holding governmental positions.

34 The defendants herein and other FARBEN of_ﬁmals and tech-
nicians held key positions in other German . government agencies and
offices ‘which participated in Germany's mobilization for war. The .
defendant SCHMITZ was a member of the Reichstag. He was also a
member of the Board of Directors of the Reichsbank and president of
its Currency Committee. The defendants VON SCHNITZLER,
GATTINEAU and MANN were members of the Council for Propaganda .
of the German Economy. In the Ministry of Armaments and War
Production, the defendant AMBROS was in charge of buna production
and the Chemical Warfare Committee; the defendant BUETEFISCH
headed the hydrogenation committee and the Economic Group for
Liquid Fuels; the defendant WURSTER was in charge of sulphur and
sulphuric compounds production. FARBEN - employees were also
employed in the High Command of the Wehrmacht, the Labor Front,
‘the Ministry of Aviation and the Military -Economy and Armaments
Office of General Thomas. Numerous FARBEN officials abroad held
leading positions in the Auslandsofganisation (the Foreign Organization)
of the NSDAP and other government and party organizations abroad.

35. From 1934 on, the Reichsgruppe Industrie (Reich Group Industry),
representing all of German industry, and the Wirtschaftsgruppe
Chémische Industrie (Economic Group <Chemical Industry), exercised
governmental powers in the planning of :German mobilization for war.
These Economic Groups, on behalf of the German High Command
preparéed Germany's industrial mobilization plans in conjunction with
the various industries. In the Reich Group Industry, the defendant
SCHMITZ was a member of the Engerer Beirat (Advisory Council).
The defendants SCHMITZ, VON SCHNITZLER and JAEHNE were
members of the Grosser Beirat (Greater Advisory Council). FARBEN
was represented on all of the Group’s important committees. In the
Economic Group Chemical Industry, VON SCHNITZLER was deputy
chairman and member of the Engerer Beirat (Advisory Council). The
defendant TER MEER was a member of the Praesidium. The Group
was subdivided into “Fachgruppen” (Sub-Groups), many of which were
directed by FARBEN officials, including the defendants, WURSTER,
OSTER, VON SCHNITZLER, AMBROS and others,

36. FARBEN's domination of the chemical sector of the Four Year
Plan and its role in the government as a Whole was so well known
that FARBEN was considered by Albert Speer to have been “promoted
to governmental status”, and was frequently referred to as “the .State
within the State.”

.
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D. FARBEN participated in creating and equipping the Nazi miilitary
machine for aggressive war. .
37. The major contribution: which FARBEN ' rendered in the

rearmament of Germany lay in making her capable of waging war.
by rendering her self-sufficient in three crucial war materials essential
to the waging of aggressive war: nitrates, oil, and rubber. In all three
cases Germany had no natural resources and was incapable of planning,
preparing, or waging aggressive war without FARBEN’s developmeﬂt
or processes for manufacturing them synthetically.

38. FARBEN developed the Haber-Bosch -process for the flxatlon

- of nitrogen from air. Nitrogen is the basic €lement in nitrates production.

FARBEN became the largest nitrates producer in the world. Germany,

through the instrumentality of FARBEN, not only became self-sufficient

in nitrates but prior to the war replaced Chile as the main source of

supply for other countries. FARBEN and its subsidiaries produced 84

percent of Germany’s explosives and 70 percent of Germany's gunpow-

der from its nitrogen production. )

39. 'Germany had practically no natural oil. On 26 May 1936, Goering
announced to the defendant SCHMITZ and the other members of the
Committee of Experts for Raw Materials Questions, that the oil problem
had to be solved to enable Germany to motorize the Wehrmacht and
prepare for war. FARBEN developed the hydrogenation process whereby
coal could be converted into lubricating oils and gasoline. As a result
‘of the conference between Hitler and the defendants BUETEFISCH and
GATTINEAU in 1932 (referred to in paragraph 7), FARBEN continued
its developmental work which it had considered abandoning. By spring
of 1933 FARBEN’s quantity production of synthetic gasoline was well
under way. A top technical official of FARBEN has stated: “After
six years of efforts, I. G. solved the question of producing synthetic
gasoline from brown coal on a large scale in the spring of 1933*** the
experience of I. G. in this field was absolutely necessary for the
conduct of a prolonged war.” In 1943 FARBEN produced all the
Rubricating oil manufactured in Germany, and its processes accounted
for nearly all German production of synthetic gasoline. The hydrogen-
ation of coal into gasoline by FARBEN enabled the Wehrmacht to
plan and prepare for aggressive war based on the rapid movement
of tanks and alrcraft noththstandmg Germany’s deficiency in natural
petroleum.

40. Germany had no natural rubber. FARBEN discovered that
" synthetic rubber could also be obtained fromi coal. This discovery
together with the production of- synthetic gasoline, by a single stroke
'made possible the mechanization of the Wehrmacht independently of
foreign supplies. After Hitler came into power, efforts to produce
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synthetic rubber in sufficient quantities for the waging of war weré
~greatly intensified. In 1942 FARBEN controlled 91.1 percent of synthetic
‘rubber production throughout thé world. In 1943 FARBEN accounted
for 100 percent of Germany's total production of. synthetic rubber. A
top technical official of FARBEN has stated: “It would not have been
possible to carry on the war for several years without I. G.’s buna.”

41. After Hitler’'s seizure of power, FARBEN developed anofher‘
production program, unrelated to its usual lines of chemical production,
which was indispensable to the creation of the Luftwaffe. This was
the production of light metals used in the manufacture of aircraft and
ordnance, of which magnesium and magnesium alloys were the most
important. FARBEN increased its magnesium production between: 1930
and 1942 by over 4,000 percent, and its aluminum production by over
1,300 percent.

42, FARBEN performed most of the research for the secret develop-
ment of poison gas for war. The experiments were carried out by
FARBEN employees under the direction of the defendants HOERLEIN,
AMBROS, and TER MEER, in close cooperation with the Wehrmacht. In
1943, FARBEN produced 95 percent of the poison gas in Germany.

43. Thus, from 1933 to 1939, FARBEN marshalled for the German
High Command the vitals of modern warfare. The defendant VON
SCHNITZLER declared: “It is no overstatement to say that modern
warfare would be unthinkable without the results which the German
"~ chemical industry achieved undeér the Four Year Plan.”

44. FARBEN’s expansion after 1933 and the resultant increase in
production was far in excess of the needs of a peacetime economy.
FARBEN often took the initiative in persuading the Reich authorities
of the need for additional facilities and negotiated with them for the
construction thereof. Billions of reichsmarks supplied principally by
the German government itself, were invested in new plants, mines
and power installations. In other cases the expansion program was,
for particular purposes, ‘undertaken at the request of representatives
of the German military machine. In 1936, the Wehrmacht, which had
requested the construction of numerous types of plants, guaranteed the
purchase of all production therefrom. Expanded capacity and production
meant increased sales. FARBEN’s total sales, (not including the sales
of its subsidiaries), in 1932, amounted to apprbxjmately 900,000,000
reichéma-rks._ In 1943, they totalled 3,000,000,000 reichsmarks. Book -
profits rose from approximately 71,000,000 reichsmarks in 1932 to
571,000,000 reichsmarks in 1942. These figures reflect only part of what .
FARBEN gained from aggressive war. )

45. FARBEN was the core of Germany's military mobilization not
only by virtue of its own production but by virtue of its strategic
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- position in the German écotiomy. All other German chemical companies
and numerous other German war 1ndustr1es were almost totally depen-
dent upon the products, resources and technological aid of FARBEN..
German tanks, artillery and armored wvehicles rolled on ,FARBEN
electron metal wheels, were shod with FARBEN buna rubber and
propelled ’b_y FARBEN synthetic gasoline. Nazi bombers were armored
‘with 'FARBEN aluminum and magnesium alloys, carried death loads
of FARBEN incendiary bombs and explosives, and were fueled by
FARBEN high octane aviation gasoline.

E. FARBEN procured and stockpiled critical war materials for the
" Nazi offensive R

46. In 1933, FARBEN embarked upon a tremendous program of
synthetics’ research and plant expansion as an integral pari of the
program to make Germany self-sufficient in critical war materials in
preparation for aggressive war. Since production had to await the
perfection of these processes and the construction of the plants, the
iGerman government attempted in the interim to import great quantities
of critical war materials in the shortest possible time., The government
relied on FARBEN to exploit its cartel connections and its foreign
exchange resources to obtain these materials during the transition
period, since no other firm in Germany had the requisite international
connections or the desperately-needed foreign currency. In this program
as in all other phases of the Nazi proparation for total war, FARBEN
put its entire organization at the disposal of the Wehrmacht.

47, In 1936 the Ministry of Economics approached the defendant

KRAUCH on the matter of making Germany “1ndependent as far as
possible from oil supp'ies from abroad.” Pending quantity production
" of synthetic gasoline, FARBEN took steps to secure oil from abroad.
FARBEN ordered $ 20,000,000 of gasoline from the Standard Oil Com-
pany of New Jersey, which delivered $ 14,000,000 worth. In June 1938
with the invasion of Czechoslovakia imminent Germany was still
"deficient in one of the main essentials of aviation gasoline, tetra-ethyl
lead. On Goering's orders, the Air Ministry immediately asked FAR-
BEN. to store in Germany 500 tons of tetra-ethyl lead “up to a time
when the plant in Germany is able to cover all needs.” FARBEN
arranged “to borrow’ 500 tons of tetra-ethyl lead from the Ethyl Export
Corporation of the United States and misrépresented the purpose of the
“loan.” The borrowed merchandise was to be returned by the end of
1939. The loan of the lead ,was secured by the deposit of approximately
$ 1,000,000 as collateral by FARBEN. At the expiration date of the loan,
31 December 1939, FARBEN, of course, forfeited the collateral. FAR-
- BEN also procured other strategic materials from  abroad, including
nickel.
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48. In addition to stockpiling imports, FARBEN, both on its own
initiative and on orders from the Wehrmacht, built up stockpiles of its
own war production. Magnesium ‘was stored in incendiary bomb tubes
which were packed in-cases marked “Textilhuelsen” (Textile Casings);
electron metal fabricated by FARBEN “from magnesium for use in new
types of incendiary bombs and artillery shells were also stockpiled. By
21 December 1938, the Air Ministry informed the director of FARBEN's
Bitterfeld magnesium plant that “the present stockpiling would be
sufficient at this time for ‘A-Fall’.” Quantities of chemicals, particularly
phosphorus and cyanides essential to the manufacture of poison gas,
were stocked. FARBEN was one of the two founders of the Wirtschaft-
liche Forschungs G.m.b.H. (WIFO) whose main activity was to construct
and maintain huge subterranean storage tanks for gasoline and oil for
the Wehrmacht.

49. The defendants MANN, VON SCHNITZLER and ILGNER, in
consultation with government officials, prepared export programs for
all German industry and devised techniques for augmenting Germany's
foreign exchange resources. At the request of the Reichsbank and other
government agencies, FARBEN used its international credit position te
cbtain loans of foreign curtrencies and when the Germanr foreign ex-
change situation kecame very desperate, FARBEN sold ifs prcducts at
less than cost.

F. FARBEN participated in weakening Germany’s potential enemies.

50. Germany's fcreign economic policy was aimed primarily at weak-
ening the economic strength of countries which the Third Reich regarded
as potential obstacles to the carrymg out of its aggressive pollcy
FARBEN played an indispensable and major role in this program The
defendant VON SCHNITZLER has stated: “ .. the development of
1. G. during the last 12 years cannot be separated from the government’s
foreign policy.” The defendant KUGLER stated. “The foremost purpose
of the Nazi government and I. G. and all other industrialists was to
keep the Wehrmacht all powerful v1s a-vis all other countries including
the U.S.A.”

51. FAlRBEN’s international affiliations, associations and contracts
aggregated in the thousands. Its actual cartel agreements numbered
aver two thousand and involved industrial concerns throughout the
mrld, including agreements with major industrial concerns, in the
United States, Great Britain, France, Norway, Holland, Belgium and
.Poland. Ordinarily, cartels are associations or combinations of business
‘firms entered into for the purpose of regulating markets and prices
in order to maintain prices or to protect plant investments from ob-
solescence, After the Nazi governmment came into power, FARBEN used
the international cartel as an economic weapon in the preparation for

N
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aggressive war through trade penetration, political propaganda, collec-
tion of strategic information about foreign industries, and weakening
other countries by crippling production and stifling scientific research.
. From 1933 on, FARBEN not only obtained critical materiais and im-
portant scientific information for the German military machine through
its cartel connections, but deprived other countries thereof. From 1935
- on all cartel agreements, and extensions and :modifications thereof,
were cleared by FARBEN with the Wehrwirtschaftsstab (Military Eco-
nomics Staff) of the Wehrmachit.

. 92, The pressure exerted by FARBEN ’uo restrict industrial develop- -
ment outside Germany was a deliberate and direct phase of military
planning for aggressive war. -Financial and commeracial arrangements
between FARBEN and non-German firms were treated by FARBEN
in the light of and as part of the German program for war. The result
was a tragic retardation of the development of strategic industries
in countries which the Nazi government planned to invade and attack.

53. FARBEN’s pre-war activities were carefully designed to weaken
the United States as an arsenal of democracy. Through it§ cartel
arrangements, FARBEN retarded the production within the United
States of centain strategic products, including synthetic rubber, magne-
sium, synthetic nitrogen, tetrazene, atabrine and sulpha drugs.

54. In the ocase of magnesium, a cartel arrangement between FAR-
BEN, Aluminum Company of America, and Dow Chemical Company,
greatly restricted production within the United States and prohibited
exports from the United States to Europe, except to Germany and in
negligible amounts, to Great Bfitain. Thus, Great Britain and the rest
of Europe became completely dependent upon Germany for its magne-
sium. As a result Great Britain was in a desperate situation with res-
pect to magnesium at the outbreak of war. Meanwhile FARBEN ex-
panded its own magnesium production for war as rapidly as possible.

55. When the British Purchasing Mission tried to buy tetrazene
primed ammunition in the United States in early 1941, the sale was
prevented by a cartel agreement between ia subsidiary of Dupont and
a swbsn:hary of FARBEN. i

56, When the Japanese captuped Java, they captured the bulk of
the world’s quinine resources. The only substitute to combat malaria
was atakrine, a synthetic drug discovered by FARBEN. A single
patent, controlled by FARBEN, dictated the terms by which this essen-
‘tial drug could be manufactured in the United States, and prevented
its production in the United States prior to Germany’s 'declaration of
war against the United States.

57, By means of cartel agreements with Standard Oil Company of
New Jersey, FARBEN delayed the development and production of buna
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rubber in the Unitéd States until 1940, while at the same time producing
sufficient buna“in Germany to make the German army and German
industry independent of rubber imports. Duning the early part of the
. period from 1930 to 1940, industrial concerns in the United States under-
took research in the field and Standard Oil developed synthetic rubber
known as Butyl. Under the terms of an agreement between FARBEN
and with full technical information concerning the processes for these
products, FARBEN deliberately failed to carry out its obligations under
the agreement, Although FARBEN gave repeated assurances to Stan- ,
dard Oil that it would obtain permission from the German government
to supply the information about buna rubber to Standard Oil, -during
the entire time that FARBEN was giving these assurances it had no
.- intention of divulging the process and treated the negotiations as a
military matter in consultation with the Wehrmacht and other Nazi
government agencies. The result was that on 7 December 1941, the
United States found dtself at war with no adequate rubber supply. and
with no adequate program under way for making synthetic rubber
Cut off from its rubber supply in the Far East, only the most drastic
steps prevented disaster.

G. FARBEN carried on propaganda, intelligence and espionage activities.

58. FARBEN’s foreign agents formed the core of Nazi intrigue
throughout the world. Financed and protected by FARBEN, and osten-
sibly acting only as business men, FARBEN officials carried on pro-
paganda, intelligence and espionage activities indispensable to German
preparation for and waging of aggressive war. In Germany, FARBEN’s
Berlin N.W. 7 office was transformed into the economic intelligence
arm of the Wehrmacht. The Nazi party relied upon FARBEN as one
of its ‘main propaganda machines.

59. It was Hitler’s basic thesis that: “After the enemy hay been
completely demoralized from within we will strike”. The weapon chosen.
for this demoralization was propaganda; the instrumentality, the Aus-
landsorganisation (Foreign Organization) of the NSDAP. The purpose
of the Auslandsorganisation was to solidify German racial unity and
regiment Qerman institutions abroad, in accordance with National So-

. cidlist racial doctrines; prevent the assimilation of Germans in foreign -
countries; insure the loyalty of all Germans abroad to the Nazi Party;
and carry on Fifth Column activities.. Numerous FARBEN officials
abroad held important positions in the Awuslandsorganisation and were
its sole representatives in many areas., '

60. The German Foreign Office feared political friction if it were
obvious that Germany was establishing agents abroad whose chief
function ‘was the furtherance of Nazi propaganda. It became official
policy, therefore, to fostér “an international economic approach”; to

%"



cariy on intelligence work and disseminate propaganda behind the
jacade of seemingly respectable business. Officials and employees; of
FARBEN concerns throughout the world became “economic agents”
of the Third Reich. ‘ '

61. In 1933 the defendant ILGNER became a member of the “Circle
of Experts of the Propaganda Ministry”, and president of the Carl
Schurz Association, which was active in disseminating Nazi propaganda.
In 1933, FARBEN muailed a report idealizing conditions in the Third
JReich to all its représentatives abroad and requested them to circulate
its contents. In 1933, FARBEN’s American public relations expert began
to disseminate Nazi and anti-Semitic propaganda, and literature
throughout the United States.

62. In 1937 the Commercial Committee of the Vorstand esta‘ublizshed
the following policy: “It is hereby understood that in no case will men
be sent to our foreign companies who do not belong to the German
Labor Front and who do not possess a positive ad;i%tude_ toward the New

Order. The men who are to be sent should make it their special duty
" to represent National Socialist Germanhood”. The Commercial Com-
" mittee further resolved that all foreign representatives were to be
armed with Nazi literature and were to work closely with the Auslands-
‘ong;arﬁsa&ion. Before any employee of FARBEN departed on a foreign
assignment, he had to sign a loyalty declaration to the Nazi Party and
the New Onder and Vow that his primary duty would be to represent
“National Socialist Germanhood”. .

63. In advertising campaligns abroad, FARBEN emphasized Nazi
ideology. On 16 February 1933, the Board of Directors of the Pharma-
ceutical Division of FARBEN (Bayer) resolved that advertising in jour-
nals hostile to Germany “shall on all terms be avoided. Commgrcial
and advertising considerations have to be put in the background as
corhpared with the more impoitant political point of view”. Millions
of reichsmarks worth of booKs, pamphlets, newspaper clippings and
documents - glorifying the Master Race and the Nazi State were sent
abroad by FARBEN for distribution. »

64. An even moré direct participation in Germany’s preparation for
and waging of aggressive war was spy work performed by FARBEN
throughout the world. On the basis of reports received from leading offi-
cials of FARBEN concerns abroad, and intensive research carried on by
its experts in Germany, FARBEN supplied the Wehrmacht and other
agencies of the Nazi government with foreign political, economic, and
military information. FARBEN’s camouflaged firms provided an organi-
zation ideal for spying; and government officials and employees going
abroad frequently requested FARBEN to make available to them the
cloak of one of its foreign subsidiaries so that they could disguise their
activities. : ° ) C
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65. Through the instruinentality of its leading agerits abroad, the
“Verbindungsmaenner”, one of whom was. located in every major country
of the world, FARBEN received frequent intelligence reports pertaining
to economi¢, political and military matters. So invaluable were these
Verbindungsmaenner that in most cases they were absorbed into the
OKW/Abwehr (Military Intelligence Division of the Wehrmacht) and
into Nazi Party organizations. In addition, FARBEN placed on its payroll
members of the “OKW/Abwehr”. Reports received from abroad or com-
piled by FARBEN were given to the Wehrwirtschaftsstab (Military
Economics Staff) of General Thomas, the OKW/Abwehr, and the Aus-
landsorganisation. These reports were received, analyzed, compiled and
forwarded to the Vorstand and to the various interested agencies of the
Third Reich through FARBEN’s Berlin organization known as the “Berlin
N. W. 7" office. The Berlin N. W. 7 office also prepared special reports
and maps for the Wehrmacht identifying and locating strategic factories
in countries about to become the victims of German aggression. These
maps and reports were used by the Luftwaffe in selecting their bombing
targets. Employees of the Berlin N. W. 7 office worked for the Military
Economic Staff and other sections of the Wehrmacht, although they
continued to work for and were paid by FARBEN.

66. FARBEN financed the propaganda, intelligence, and espionage
activities described above, supplying large amounts of foreign exchange
for this purpose. 'FARBEN also made contributions in reichsmarks to
finance subversive activities in preparation for war. An example is a
contribution by FARBEN on 22 September 1938, a week before the
Munich Agreement, of 100,000 reichsmarks for the “Sudeten German Aid”
and the “Sudeten German Free Corps”. The latter was a guerrilla organi-
zation which was established for creating frontier incidents and executing
sabotage attacks in preparation for the. invasion of Czechoslovakia.

H. With (he approach of war and in connection with each new act of
aggression, FARBEN intensified its preparation for and participation
in, the planning and execufion of such aggressions and the reaping
of spoils therefrom., : ‘

67. In 1936, when the Four Year Plan was announced, the road to
aggressive war was already foreshadowed. Thereafter, the inevitability
of war as a result of Hitler's aggressive plans and intentions grew
increasingly manifest, and the dictatorship of the Third Reich ever more
brutal and tyrannical. As the shape of things to come grew clearer and
war more imminent, a few prominent supporters of Hitler parted company
with the leaders of the Third Reich. Fritz Thyssen, who dominated the
great Vereinigte Stahlwerke (United Steel Works), the largest coal -and
steel trust in Germany, and who had been one of Hitler’s earliest suppor-
ters, became opposed to certain Hitler policies. When Germany attacked
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Poland, Thyssen fled from Germany. Hjalmar Schacht, onetime president
of the Reichsbank, Minister of Economics, and Plenipotentiary General
for War Economy resigned from the latter two positions in November,

" 1937. Because of disagreements with Hitler and Goering, particularly
over the enormously expensive synthetic program and the promulgations
of the Four Year Plan, Schacht became increasingly disaffected and lost
influence in the Third Reich.

68. In sharp contrast with Thyssen, Schacht, and others, the close
collaboration between FARBEN leaders and the political .and military
leaders of the Third Reich became even closer as the time for committing
aggressive acts and launching aggressive wars grew nearer. FARBEN
was. the chief protagonist and executor of the synthetic program and
profited enormously thereby. FARBEN played a leading role in the Four
Year Plan and in directing the economic mobilization of>Germany for
war. Prior to the invasions and wars, FARBEN took radical measures to
cloak and conceal its assets abroad and mearshalled its resources in Ger-
many to enable the Wehrmacht to attack at the appointed time. Hard on
the heels of the invading German armies. FARBEN officials followed
with plans carefully prepared in advance for the exploitation of industry
in the occupied countries in accordance with the needs of the German
war machine and - the ambitious designs ,of FARBEN to expand its
economic empire. '

" 69. From 1937 on, FARBEN embérked upon an intensive program to
camouflage and cloak its foreign holdings to protect them from seizure
in the coming wars by enemy custodians. These measures not only served
the interests of FARBEN, but enabled its foreign empire to carry out
the greatly intensified efforts of the Nazi government to strengthen
Germany at the expense of other nations. The defendant VON SCHNITZ-
LER stated: “Even without being directly informed that the government
intended to wage war, it was impossibte for officials of I.. G. or any
other industrialists to believe that the enormous production of arma-
ments and preparation for war starting from the coming into power of
Hitler accelerated in 1936 and reaching unbelievable proportions in 1938
could have any other meaning but that Hitler and the Nazi government
intended to wage war come what may. In view of the enormous concen-
tration on military production and of the @ntensive military preparation,
no person of I. G. or any other industrial leader could believe that this
was being done for defensive purposes. We of I. G. were well aware of
this fact as were all German industrialists and on a commercial side,
shortly after the Anschluss in 1938, I. G. FARBEN took meatures to
protect its foreign assets in France and the British Empire.”

70. Immediately prior to the Munich Conference of 29 September 1938,
a special procedure was worked out by the officials of the German
government, .after consultation with FARBEN, authorizing the cloaking
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of German forelgn assets through t@ansfers to heutral trustees @s a
protection agams‘c wartime seizure.

71. In March of 1939, the Legal Committee of FARBEN, whose chair-
man was the defendant VON KNIERIEM, concluded that; “*** the risk
of seizure of the sales organizations in the event of war is minimized
if the holders of shares or similar interests are neutrals residing in
neutral countries, Such a distribution of holdings of shares or other
interests has the further advantage of- forestalling any conflicts which
may trouble the conscience of an enemy national who will inevitably
be caught between his patriotic feelings and his loyalty to I. G. A further
advantage is that the neutral, in case of war, generally retains his free-
dom of movement, enemy nationals are frequently called into the
service of their country, in various capacities, and therefore, can. no
longer take care of business matters.” FARBEN’s Legal Committee then
recommended that FARBEN sever all “legal” ties with FARBEN cloaks.

72. Thereafter FARBEN, in anticipation of coming wars of aggression,
made the drastic recommendation to the German government that it be
permitted to transfer outright hundreds of millions of dollars of foreign
assets. On 24 July 1939, a letter was sent to the Reich Ministry of Econo-
mics in which FARBEN explained that it was convinced that: “A real -
protection of our foreign sales companies against the danger of a seques-
tration in war can. only be obtained by our renouncing all legal ties
of a.direct or indirect nature between the owners of the shares and
ourselves *** and by granting these shares to such neutral quai'ters as
will give the absolute guarantee by virtue of personal relations of long
years standing, partly even covering decades, that in spite of their
absolute independence and neutrality they will never dispose of these
values otherwise than in a way fully considering our interests.” The
Germah_ government approved these measures.

73. Early in 1940, FARBEN began to take active measures in antici-
pation of possible war with the United States. A plan. was adopted for
“Americanizing” FARBEN's most important single asset in the United
- States, the General Aniline and Film Corporation, which FARBEN owned
through I. G. Chemie, Switzerland. In a letter dated 15 May 1940, to
the Reich Ministry of Economics, FARBEN explained: “Based on the
expiration of the World War, we have constantly endeavored since the
beginning of the war to protect as far as possible this American com-
pany in the event of war entanglements with the U. S. **¥°, Thereafter,
the High Command of the Wehrmacht was contacted for the purpose of
taking up negotiations in connection with the rearrangement of FAR-
BEN’s relations with I. G. Chemie,

74. FARBEN not only protected its foreign holdmgs but prepared
and carried out plans whereby it would reap the spoils of each aggressive
act, and expand its empire at the expense of each invaded nation. The

R
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German government coopéerated with FARBEN in this program of pluti~
der and spoliation designed to build up the German war potential
as well as reward FARBEN for its major role in preparing Germany
for Wwar. v

75. On 9 April 1938, one month after the invasion of Austria, FARBEN
was already armed with a plan for a “New Order for the Chemical
Industry of Austria”, which it submitted to KEPPLER, Hitler's special
representative in Vienna, The plan provided for the integration of the
major chemical industries of Austria within the framework of the Four
Year Plan. FARBEN succeeded in “acquiring” the Austrian chemical
industry. '

76. Prior to the Munich Pact of 29 September 1938, FARBEN had
already prepared plans for the industrial invasion of Czechoslovakia.
On 3 May 1938, Hitler signed directive “Green”, stating his final decision
to destroy Czechoslovakia soon, initiating military preparation all along
the line. In July 1938, a report on the chemical industries of Czechoslo-
vakia was prepared for the use of the Commercial Committee of FARBEN
and thereafter FARBEN initiated discussions with the interested German
authorities and recommended that its representatives be appointed com-
missars to - take over the operation and management of the chemical
industries of Czechoslovakia and integrate their production to the Four
Year Plan. On September 23, 1938, a week before the Munich Conference,
-the defendant KUEHNE wrote the defendants TER MEER and VON
SCHNITZLER congratulating them on their success in achieving the
acceptance of FARBEN nominees. On the previous day FARBEN had
made its contribution of 100,000 reichsmarks_ for financing the creation
of frontier incidents and the execution of sabotage attacks against
Czechoslovakia. '

71. Hitler, at a meeting on 23 May, 1939, with the heads of the armed
forces and their staffs, announced his decision to attack Poland, and in
the weeks that followed . this conference, intensive preparations were
made for the attack. In July, 1939, FFARBEN officials obtained informa-
tion from German government officials on the basis of which the defen-
dant knew that Poland would be invaded in September. FARBEN’s
facilities were then completely mobilized in preparation for the attack.
In anticipation of benefits to be derived from this aggression, FARBEN
on 28 July, 1939, prepared a comprehensive report entitled: “The Most
Important Chemical Factories in Poland”, which report formed the basis
for future acquisitions in Poland. FARBEN later absorbed the Polish
chemical industry. :

78. Envisaging the defeat of France, FARBEN’s plans for enlarging
its empire went beyond preparations for reaping the spoils of each new
aggression. FARBEN set its sights more in line with Hitler’s aim of
world conquest, which now seemed closer to reality.
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79. FARBEN began preparing for the Reich government a “New
" Order” (Neuordnung) for the chemical industry. On 24 June, 1940, the
defendant VON SCHNITZLER summoned a meeting of the Commercial
Committee to agree upon the principles underlying the New Order. On
3 August, 1940, FARBEN submitted to the Reich Ministry of Economics
its detailed plans for the New Order. FARBEN explained that a “major
economics sphere” would be shaped in Europe which “will," upon con-
clusion of the war, have the task of organizing the exchange of goods
with other major-spheres in competitive markets — a task which includes
more particularly the recovery and securing of world respect for the
German chemical industry. In the observations and planning to be made
in regard thereto, it is necessary to beatr in mind especially the shifting
and developing trends in the international economic forces which resulted"
from the last war, such as may be seen more and more in the increased
influence of the United States in Latin America, of Japan in the Far
East, and of Italy in Southeast Europe and the Near East.”

80. The immediate short range objective of the New Order was to
integrate European production with the' German war machine. The long
range objective was the incorporation of the chemical industry of Europe,
including Great Britain, within the framework of the Nazi New Order,
and the domination of the chemical industry of the world. The New
Order of FARBEN proposed the use of its economic weapons, cartels,
capital investments and technical know-how so as to combat the last
remaining challenge to its supremacy, the United States.

81. Prepération of the New Order was predicated on FARBEN'’s
“claim to leadership” in Europe, which FARBEN alleged had been taken
away by the Treaty of Versailles, and which the New Order was to
rectify. In developing that “claim” the New Order contained a recital
of damages alleged to have been sustained as a direct result of the
Treaty and also included a claim for direct and indirect damages -sus-
tained in consequence of World War II, for which, FARBEN charged,
Great Britain and France were responsible.

82. The New Order document was not hastily prepared at the behest
of the government, but was a complete exposition of projects which
FARBEN had developed since World War I and hoped to accomplish
through German aggrandizement. The New Order document contains
thousands of pages of specific programs for the chemical industries of
Europe, including Great Britain. These detailed plans outlined the
existing struéture of the chemical industries of the European countries
and set forth their future organization and direction. In many instances
FARBEN planned to liquidate completely chemical companies and chemi-
cal production in certain countries, making those countries wholly de-
pendent upon the Reich and thereby securing Germany’s military

supremacy. .
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83. “It must be remembered”, stated the defendant VON SCHNITZLER,
“that in preparing the Neuordnung we were following the lines of the
so-called Gross-Raum-Politik (expansionist policy) laid down by the
government. We were looking t,o' the overwhelming downfall of France
and eventual capitulation of England when we prepared the document.
It must be remembered that we knew well the aims and policies of the
Government and we knew that it was the intention of the Government
to improve its strength in relation to the countries outside of the Euro-
pean sphere. This meant, of course, the United States, because outside
of Europe the United States was the only strong country with which
Germany had to reckon. Therefore, we wrote in the Neuordnung that
we intgnded to keep Germany as strong as possible militaristically in
relation to the United States.”

I. FARBEN participated in plunder, spoliation, slavery and mass murder
as part of the invasions and wars of aggression :

84. In addition to the acts and conduct of the defendants-set forth
above, the participation of the defendants in planning, preparation,
initiation, and waging of wars of aggression and invasions of other coun-
tries included: ’ _ .

a) The acts and conduct set forth in Count Two of this Indictment,
relating to plunder and spoliation, which acts and conduct were com-
mitted as an integral part of the planning, preparation, initiation, and
waging of wars of aggression and invasions of other countries. The
allegations made in said Count Two are hereby incorpcrated in this
Count. o i ’

b) The acts and conduct set forth in Count Three of this indict-
ment, relating to slavery and mass murder, which acts and conduct
were committed as an integral part of the planning, preparation,
initiation, and waging of wars of aggression and invasions of other -
countries. The allegations made in said Count Three are hereby in-
corporated in this Count.

VIOLATION OF LAW

85. The acts and conduct set forth in this count were committed by
the defendants unlawfully, willfully and knowingly, and constitute
violations of international laws, treaties, agreements and assurances,
and of Article II of Control Council Law No. 10.
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COUNT TWO
PLUNDER AND SPOLIATION

STATEMENT OF THE OFFENSE -

86. All of the defendants, acting through the instrumentality of
FARBEN and otherwise, with divers other persons, during the period
from 12 March 1938, to 8 May 1945, committed War Crimes and Crimes
against Humanity as defined in ‘Article II of Control Council Law No. 10,
in that they participated in the plunder of public and private property,
exploitation, spoliation, and other offenses against property in countries
and territories which came under the belligerent occupation of Germany -
in the course of its invasions and aggressive wars. All of the defendants
committed these War Crimes and Crimes against Humanity as defined
by ‘Article II of Control Council Law No. 10, in that they were princi-
pals in, accessories to, ordered, abetted, took a consenting part in;, were
connected with plans and enterprises involving and were members of
organizations or groups, including FARBEN, which were connected
with, the commission of said crimes.

PARTICULARS OF DEFENDANTS’ PARTICIPATION
IN PLUNDER AND SPOLIATION

87. The methods employed to exploit the resources of the occugied
territories varied from country to country. In some occupied countries,
exploitation was carried out within the framework of the existing
economic structure. Local industries were placed under ‘German super-
vision- and production and distribution were rigidly -controlled. The
industries thought to be of wvalue to the German war effort weré com-
pelled to continue. The majority of the others were closed. Raw materials
and finished products alike were confiscated. A Goering directive of
19 October 1939, with respect to Poland, provided: “The task for the
economic treatment of the various administrative regions is different,
depending on whether the country involved "will be incorporated poli-
tically into the German Reich, or whether we will deal with the
- Government General, which in all probability will not be a part of
‘Germany, in the first mentioned territories, the safeguarding of all their
productive facilities and supplies must be aimed at, as well as a complete
incorporation into the greater German economic system at the earliest
possible time. On the other hand, there must be removed from the
territories of the Government General all raw materials, scrap materials,
machines, etc. which are of use for the German war economy. Enter-
prises which are not.absolutely necessary for the meager maintenance of
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a naked existence of the population must be transferred to Germany
unless such transfer shall require an unreasonably long period of time
and would make it more practicable .to exploit those enterpfises by
giving them German orders, to be executed at their present location.”
88. In orgariizing the plunder of property in occupied territories and
countries, the means adopted varied from outright confiscation which
was cloaked by the enactment of various sequestration decrees; to
“negotiations” with the owners of such property for its acquisition. This
latter technique was particularly used in the West. “The German
authorities made a pretense of paying for all the property which they
. seized. This pretense merely disguised the fact that the raw materials,
rmachinery and other goods diverted to Germany were paid for by the
occupied countries themselves, either by the device of excessive occu-
pation costs or by forced loans in return for a credit balance in a
“clearing account” which- was a nominal account only. The means
adopted were intended to and did effectuate the plans to strengthen
Germany in waging its aggressive wars, insure the subservience of the
economy of conguered countries to Germany, and secure the permament
economic domination of the continent of Europe. In the East, the Ger-
man government organized special corporations as their trustees for
the ‘express purpose of exploiting seized industries in such a manner
that not only would the German war machine and its economy be
strengthened but the local economy laid in ruin.
89, FARBEN marchel with the Wehrmacht and played a major role
- in 'Germany’s program for acquisition by coriguest. It used its expert
technical knowledge and resources to plunder and exploit the chemical
and related industries of Europe, to enrich itself from unlawful acquisit-
ions, to strengthen the German war machine and to assure the sub-
jugation of the conquered countries to the German economy. To that
end, it conceived, initiated, and prepared detailed plans for the
acquisition by it, with the aid of German military force, of the chemical
industries of Austria, Czechoslovakia, Poland, Norway, France, Russia,
and other countries.

A. FARBEN in Austria

.90. In Austria one of the two major chemical industrial firms was .
the PULVERFABRIK SKODAWERKE WETZLER A. G. (SKODA-~
WETZLER WORKS), controlled by the CREDITANSTALT BANK of
Austria. The Rothschilds, a Jewish family, owned a majority interest
in this bank. With the invasion of Austria and the introduction of the
“aryanization” program, the controlling Rothschild interests in the
CREDITANSTALT BANK were confiscated and turned over to the
DEUTSCHE BANK. Thereupon FARBEN which had sought unsuccess-
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fully to acquire an interest in the SKODA-WETZLER WORKS prior
to the invasion, was quick to take advantage of the changed situation.
FARBEN proceeded to acquire control of the SKODA-WETZLE{R
WORKS through the DEUTSCHE BANK.

91. These chemical works and the other principal chemical firms
‘of Austria were reorganized by FARBEN and merged into the newly
created ' DONAU CHEMIE A.G. FARBEN expanded the facilities of its
newly acquired Austrian chemical industries, increased the production
of war material for the German military machine, integrated the entire
Austrian chemical industry with its own operations, and participated in
the subjugation of the Austria economy to the German economy and-
the destruction of its former independence.

B. FARBEN in Czechoslovakia

92. In Czechoslovakia, the largest chemical concern (the fourth largest -
in Europe), was the VEREIN FUR CHEMISCHE UND METALLURGI-
SCHE PRODUKTION of Prague (PRAGER VEREIN). This concern
which had two important plants located in the Sudetenland, one at FAL-~
KENAU and the other at AUSSIG, was one of FARBEN’s biggest
competitors in Southeastern Europe.

93. Prior to the Munich Pact of 29 September 1938, FARBEN made
various unsuccessful attempts to acquire an interest in the PRAGER
VEREIN. After the annexation of -Austria and the accelerated Nazi
agitation in the Sudetealand, FARBEN renewed its interest and pre-
pared plans for the acquisition of the PRAGER VEREIN. FARBEN
proposed to the Reich government that the defendants WURSTER and
KUGLER be appointed commissars to operate the plants. One week prior
to the Munich Pact, the Ministry of Economics informed FARBEN
that its proposed representatives were acceptable. The Sudeten-German
Economic Board advised FARBEN that the “Czech-Jewish management
in Prague is done for” but recommended that it share the mamagement
of the plants with one of the Sudeten-German rrfanagers who remained
with the chemical works. FARBEN reluctantly consented to share the
management, but at the same time informed the German authorities
that “I.G. would now lay claim to the acquisition of both works.” The
defendants VON SCHNITZLER, TER MEER, KUEHNE, ILGNER,
HAEFLIGER, and WURSTER and others participated in these.
negotiations,

94. On 29 Septemper 1938, the Munich Pact was signed. The next
day the defendant SCHMITZ wired Hitler that he was “profoundly
impressed by the return-of Sudeten-Germany to the Reich which you,
My ‘Fuehrer, have achieved”, and that FARBEN “puts an amount of
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- D. FARBEN in Norway . )

101. In 1940 the most important chemical concern in Norway was
the NORSK-HYDRO ELEKTRISK KVAELSTOFAKTIESEL-SKABET
(NORSK-~HYDRO). This company was particularly important as a
producer of nitrogen and nitrogen products. Prior to 1940, French
interests controlled a'bout 60% of the corporation. FARBEN’s part1c1—
pation was approx1matelry 25%. With the aid and participation of
representatives of the German government, FARBEN forced an
__increase in the capitalization of NORSK-HYIDRO, excluding the
French stockholders from participation therein, as a result of which
the French were ousted from control. FARBEN and the German govern-
ment obtained the controlling interest.

102. With the acquisition of control by FARBEN and the German
government of NORSK-HYDRO, the production of the Norwegian
chemical industry was coordinated with the production of the German
chemical industry to supply the German military machine. New facilities
were constructed to produce light metals for the Luftwaffe. Among the
plants owned by NORSK-HYDRO, was an electro-chemical plant at
Vemor which had been producing heavy water. It was discovered that
- heavy water could be used in the manufacture of atom bombs and
orders were issued to expand immediately the existing facilities of the
electro-chemical plants of NORSK-HYDRO to increase substantxally the
productlon of such heavy water.

E. FARBEN in France

103. Prior to the French-German Armistice of June, 1940, the three
principal chemical firms in France were: COMPAGNIE NATIONALE
DE MATIERES COLORANTES ET MANUFACTURES DE PRODUITS
CHIMIQUES DU NORD REUNIES ETABLISSEMENTS KUHLMANN,
Paris (KUHLMANN), the second largest chemical company on the con-
tinent; SOCIETE ANONYME DES MATIERES COLORANTES & PROD-
UuIiTs C'HIMIQUES DE SAINT-DENIS, Paris (SAINT DENIS); and,
COMPAGNIE FRANCAISE DE PRODUITS CHIMIQUES ET MATIERES
- COLORANTE DE SAINT-CLAIR-DU-RHONE, Paris (SAINT-CLAIR-
DU-RHONE).

104. On 3 August 1940 FARBEN submitted to the Reich Ministry of
Economics and to Ambassador HEMMEN, the Head of the German
Armistice Commission, its detailed-plané for the New Order (fo which
reference has previously been made in Count One). FARBEN proposed
to acquire control of the French chemical industry by merging the
principal dyestuff and chemical corporations into one big combine in
which it would have a 50 per cent participation. The consideration for
this participation was to be payment by FARBEN of a fixed amount
to the German government, rather than to the private ownmers.
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105, The New Order was received very favorably by the German
authorities. FARBEN requested the German authorities to starve ‘the
French chemical industry into submission. by withholding necessary raw’
materials. To ‘this end FARBEN arranged that ‘“no negotiations with
the French should take place unless first the French indicated openly
that genuine necessity obliged them to recognize the superiority of the
German dyestuff industry.” On 25 September 1940. FARBEN's Comm-
ercial Committee agreed to take a “reserved attitude toward the French
partners.” The defendant VON SCHNITZLER on 4 October 1940 instrue-
ted FARBEN agents to represent to the French that it could not as yet
open negotiations. On 12 October 1940 FARBEN's agent in Paris
reported to the defendant VON SCHNITZLER on a conference held
on 10 October 1940 with Frossard, President of KUHLMANN, at which
Mr. Frossard requested a conference with FARBEN stating that: .
"“The chemical industry in France must live, which is in the interest of
the European -economy. German chemical industry cannot intend that
on the French side this branch of the industry should disappear com-
pletely. You must help us.” Frossard further indicated that the French
were prepared to accept a limitation of dyestuffs production, to manu-
facture pPeliminary and intermediate products for German industry
so far as necessary, and even to sell its products under a German label.

106. On 21 November 1940 representatives of FARBEN and the French
Chemical Industry met at Wiesbaden under the auspices of the Armistice
Commission. Representing FARBEN were VON SCHNITZLER, TER
MEER, KUGLER and TERHAAR. Ambassador Hemmen presided. VON
SCHNITZLER read and gave to the French delegation a memorandum
setting forth the basis upon which an ‘“agreement” could be affcted.
FARBEN's “claim to leadership” of the dyestuffs industry in Europe
was to be recognized and accepted by the French. Going beyond its
. claims in the New Order, FARBEN now 1n51sted on an absolute maJorlty
in the French chemical industry.

107. In developing its theme of the new German economic sphere,
FARBEN stated that it will be a “necessity of business and political
economy, that there be a complete accommodation of the French
dyestuffs industry to the German dyestuffs industry.” The French
urged that the cartel agreement of 1927, as amended in 1929, though
suspended by the war, was still valid and should constitute the basis
for further negotiations. Thereupon the French speaker was interrupied
by Ambassador Hemmen, who speaking loudly, witH great v101ence and
pounding the table with his fists, said there could be no ‘further
discussion on any such basis; that the could not find words strong
enough to express his amazement over such proposals; that the French
must recognize the FARBEN “claim to leadership”, that French prosper-
ity was only due to the _“vDi'ktaat’f of Versailles; that France was actually
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defeated and that they would have to accept the conditions stated or
face the prospect of an immediate expropriation of their plants. The
defendant VON. SCHNITZLER flatly rejected the French proposals as
an “imputation and insult” stating that the proposals ignored the
“political and economic facts” especially since ‘“France had declared
war on Germany.”

108. The next day FARBEN insisted that a new company be organized
into which the French dyestuffs industry would be incorporated with
FARBEN holding a 51 per cent participation. Production and the
expansion of facilities were to be controlled, and the export market was
to be entirely relinquished by the French.

109. Prostesting the harshness of the terms, the management of the
French firms sought to shift the negotiation from a private to a
governmental basis. FIARBEN was adamant. Then the French submitted
an alternative plan providing for participation by FARBEN in a newly
formed sales organization rather than a production organization. This,
too, was rejected. The defendant VON SCHNITZLER addressed the
French saying: “If you don’t come to terms on the basis suggested by
us, we shall impose on your plants the same regime we have applied
to MULHOUSE.” The plants of the SOCIETE DES MATIERES COLOR-
ANTES ET PRODUITS CHIMIQUES DE MULHOUSE, and the KUHL-
MANN plant at VILLERS ST. PAUL, had already been seized by the
Germans. Thereupon an agreement was reached in principle although
the French still protested a 51 percent participation by FARBEN.

110. On 18 November 1941, the result of the “negotiations” was finally
formalized in the “Francolor Agreement.” This agreement embodied
the terms which FARBEN had prepared prior to the conference of
20 January 1941. It provided among other things for the creation of a
new corporation known as FRANCOLOR to which were transferred the
principal asset of KUHLMANN, SAINT DENIS and SAINT CLAIR-
DU-RHONE. FARBEN took a 51 percent participation in FRANCOLOR.
In exchange for its assets the French received shares of FARBEN stock
representing one percent of FARBEN’s capitalization. Such shares could
not be sold by the French purchasers, except to each other. Having
thus acquired control, FARBEN “aryanized” the plants, transferred
skilled French workers to Germany, dismantled and shipped special
equipmernit to Germany, and converted these plants for armament
production. , . B

111. The German government annexed Alsace-Lorraine, and confis-
cated the plants located 'there which belonged to French nationals.
Among the plants located in this area were the dyestuffs plant of
KUHLMANN’s SOCIETE DES MATIERES COLORANTES ET PROD-
UITS CHIMIQUES DE MULHOUSE, the gxygm plants, the OXYGENE
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LIQUIDE STRASSBOURG~SCHILTIGHEIM (Alsace) and the factory of.
the OXHYDRIQUE FRANCAISE in Diedenhofen (Lorraine). FARBEN
acquired these plants from the German government without payment
to or consent of the French owners. ' ! '

112. France had developed a substantial pharmaéetitical line of which
the SOCIETE DES USINES CHIMIQUES RHONE-POULENC (RHONE-
POULENC) was the principal firm. The pharmaceutical branch of
FARBEN, the BAYER organization, was also desirous of “negotiating"
an agreement in that field. The RHONE-POULENC plants, however,
were located in unoccupied France. With the aid and assistance of the
German authorities the defendant MIANN conducted 'successful “negotiat-
ions” resulting in a formal agreement whereby FARBEN acquired a
51 percent interest in a subsidiary of RHONE-POULENC and whereby
that subsidiary was made the joint sales agency for the products of
BAYER and RHONE-POULENC. F‘ARBEN paid for its purchase through
the “clearing account.”

113. By the aforementioned “negotiations”, FARBEN acquired control
of the French chemical and pharmaceutical industries, integrated its
production to its own operations and participated in the subjugation of
the French economy to the German economy and in the destruction of
its former independence.

F. FARBEN in Russia

114, On 18 December 1940, Hitler issued a directive stating that by
15 May 1941, “The German armed forces must be prepared to crush
Soviet Russia in a quick campaign before the end of the war against
- England.” The code name for this campaign was “Case Barbarossa.”
A special plan, called the “Oldenburg” plan, to be administered by an
Economic General Staff, was set up as an economic counterpart to “Case
Barbarossa”, to assure the most efficient exploitation of Soviet resources.
The German armies were to be fed out of Soviet territory even “if many
millions of people will be starved to death.” In planning the said
aggression and destruction of Soviet resources, the German government
openly rejected the restrictions of the Hague Convention of 1907
declaring that its rules “regarding the administration of territories occu-
pied by a belligerent do not apply since the Soviet Union is to be con-
sidered dissolved”; the entire Soviet industrial property was marshalled
for “National Economy” and belonged to the German State. The plan
envisaged a campaign of exploitation designed to subjugate the entire
Soviet economy, to strip it of its industrial facilities, and to reduce the
Soviet Economy to an agrarlan status.
115. Special corporations, called MONOIPOLGESE-LLSCHA!FTEN or
OSTGESELLSCHAFTEN 'were organized for. the express purpose of
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exploiting the specialized industrial fields. These corporations were to
be appointed “trustees” to operate Soviet industrial facilities exclusively
for the German war economy.

116. To lay a basis for future claim 1o Soviet industrial plants,
FARBEN set out to acquire influence in and control of the special
corporations through substantial financial participations, and through
‘placing its personnel in key positions in these corperations, FARBEN
secured a financial participation in the KONTINENTALE OEL A.G. which
Goering had organized as early as March, 1941, to exploit the oil resour-
ces of the East. The defendant BUETEFISCH attended the initial meet-
ing where the organizational details were agreed upon. The defendant
KRAUCH was made a member of the Vorstand of KONTINENTALE
OEL A. 'G. and Hermann Abs, of the FARBEN Aufsichtsrat, was made
-an official of the company. The oil properties and related facilities of
the Soviet Union were assigned to the KONTINENTALE OEL A. G. for
exploitation. In the CHEMIE OST, G. m. b. H. another special cor-
poration, FARBEN -obtained & substantial financial participation. A
FARBEN official was made its manager and the defendant VON
SCHNITZLER a member of its advisory board. Defendant OSTER was
made manager of the STICKSTOFF OST, a corporation organized to
exploit nitrogen facilities. _

117. RFARBEN made available to the German government the service
of the defendant AMBROS and other experts to prepare for the exploit-
ation of Soviet industry. On 28 June 1941, one week after the attack of
Russia, the defendant AMBRGOS wrote the defendant KRAUCH offering
the services of FARBEN specialists who should “take over the plants
there.” The following week the defendant ILGNER issued instructions
for the submission of plans to reorganize Russian industry under Ger-
man leadership, using FARBEN's experience in Czechoslovakia as &
model. At the same time the defendant AMBROS selected a group of
chemi;ts and specialists to go to Russia and on 1 July 1941, informed
.the Buna Commission that, prior to their departure for Russia, it was
necessary that the policies relating to the production of certain types
of Buna be fixed in order “to make; as soon as possible, the Russian
production subservient to our intentions.” In December, 1941, FARBEN
proposed to the German Ministry of Economics the formation of "a
special corporation for exploiting the Russian buna plants, whose stock
was to be owned 100 percent by FARBEN.

- 118. In January, 1942, FARBEN’s Berlin N. W. 7 office sub-
mitted a secret report on the. government agencies participating
in the exploitation of the Soviet Union. Its own participations in
the exploitation of Russia in special chemical, textile and related
‘fields were listed. FARBEN was informed by this report that the policy

42



of the government was to give German industry a free hand in Russia
and that “the directives provide for ruthless cleaning -of the industrial
cities of South Russia and for the removal of all usable :industrial
machinery*** The East is ultimately to be a ‘pure agricultural and raw
material territory”. A copy of this réport was sent to each member of
the Vorstand and of the Commercial Committee at the request of the
defendant MANN.

'

VIOLATION OF LAW

119. The acts and conduct of the defendants set forth in this Count
were committed unlawfully, willfully, and knowingly, and constitute
vivlations of the laws and customs of war, of international treaties and .
conventions, including Articles 46-56, inclusive, of Hague Regulations
of 1907, of the general principles of criminal law as derived from the
criminal laws of all civilized nations, of the internal penal laws of the
countries in which such crimes were comimitted, and of Arfcicle II of
Control Council Law No. 10. )



COUNT THREE

SLAVERY AND MASS MURDER

STATEMENT OF THE OFFENSE

120." All of the defendants, acting through the instrumentality of
FARBEN and otherwise, with divers other persons, during the period
from 1 September 1939 to 8 May 1945, committed War Crimes and
Crimes against Humanity as defined by Article II of Control Council
Law No. 10, in that they participated in the enslavement and deportation
to slave labor on a gigantic scale of members of the civilian population
of countries and territories under the belligerent occupation of, or other-
. wise controlled by Germany; the enslavement of concentration camp
inmates, including German nationals; the use of pi‘isoners of war in
war operations and work having a direct relation to war operations,
including the manufacture and transportation of war material and equip-
ment; and the mistreatment terrorization, torture and murder of ens-
laved persons. In the course of these activities, millions of persoris were
uprooted from their homes. deported, enslaved, illtreated, terrorized, tor-
tured and murdered. All of the defendants committed these War Crimes
and Crimes against Humanity, as defined by Article IT 6f Control Council
Law No. 10, in that they were principals in, accessories to, ordered,
abetted, took a consenting part in, were connected with plans and
enterprises involving, and were members of organizations or groups,
including FARBEN, which were connected with, the commission of
said crimes.

'PARTICULARS OF DEFENDANTS’ PARTICfPATION
> IN SLAVERY AND MASS MURDER -

A. Role of FARBEN in Slave Labor Program

121. The acts, conduct, plans, and enterprises referred to above were
carried out as part of the slave labor program of the Third Reich, in the
course of which millions of persons, including women and children were
subjected to forced labor under cruel and inhuman conditions which
resulted in widespread suffering and millions of deaths. At least five
million workers were deported to Germany. Conscription of labor was
implemented in most cases by brutal and violent methods, among which
were included systematic manhunts in the streets, motion picture thea-
tres, houses of worship‘ and other public places, and frequent invasions
of homes during the night. Workers deported for the Reich were sent
under armed guard to Germany, often packed in trains without heating,
food, clothing,. or sanitary facilities, as a result of which many.of them
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were dead upon arrival, and most of the survivors were seriously ill.
Those , inhabitants of occupied countries who were not deported to
Germany were conscripted and compelled to work in their own countries
to assist the German war machine. \ )

122. In the execution of said plans and enterprises the human and
material resources of the belligerently occupied countries, completely
out of proportion to the needs.of the occupying forces, were seized and
harnessed to the German war machine. The needs of the respective’
countries .were utterly disregarded and the family honor and rights of
the civilian populations involved were ruthlessly despoiled. Prisoners
of war were forced to labor at work related directly to war operatioﬁs
including work in factories engaged in production for war. The principle
guiding the handling and treatment of the civilian slave laborers and
the prisoners of war was the one enunciated in official orders to the
effect that they should “be fed, sheltered, and treated in such a way as
to exploit them to the greatest possible extent at the lowest conceivable
degree of expenditure.” |

123. The defendant KRAUCH, with the aid and assistance of FAR-
BEN officials and with the knowledge and approval of the Vorstand,
prepared and organized the details of the plans of the chemical industry
. for war mobilization. Such plans included, among other things, provi-
sions for the procurement and exploitation of slave labor to supply the
German war machine w&th materials and equipment with which to wage
aggressive war. The defendant KRAUCH, as general Plenipotentiary
for Special Questions of Chemical Production in the Four Year Plan,
was the highest authority in passing on allocations of labor for the
entire chemical industry, including foreign and concentration camp
labor and prisoners of war: KRAUCH attended meetings of the Central
Planning Board, the top governmental authority responsible for the
overall ‘planning and coordination of all matters relating to war produc-
tion, including labor supply.

124. The exploitation of enslaved workers and of prisoners of war
for works directly connected with war operations was standard policy
of FARBEN. In 1941 the defendant SCHMITZ, in his business report to
the Aufsichtsrat, stated that the respective works of FARBEN must
direct their efforts to obtaining necessary workers and that its require-
ments could in general be covered through foreign workers and priso-
ners of .war. ’

'125. FARBEN established labor recruiting offices which were specifi~
cally charged with responsibility for combing the labor field of the
chemical industries in the newly conquered countries, or countries and k
territories otherwise under Nazi control, to the end that skilled workers
be forcibly deported to the Reich to work for FARBEN. In furtherance

45 -



“of such policy, FARBEN with the knowledge and approval of the Vor-
stand and acting throught the defendants AMBROS, SCHNITZLER, TER
MEER and others, exerted special pressure on French industrialists and
with the aid and assistance of the German occupying forces, recruited
by forcible deportation, and by willful misrepresentations, skilled and
non-skilled French workers to come to Germany and work in the FAR-
BEN plants where war material and equipment was being produced.
French workers who were alleged to have come voluntarily were free
to go home if they so chose. Any attempt to exercise freedom of contract
by leaving their work was followed by manhunts, and capture resulted

" in transfers by “special transport” to the nearest labor office where

they were returned to their involuntary servitude in FARBEN plants.

126. Concentration camp inmates were utilized by FARBEN as a
source and means of procuring glave labor and to make more efficient
use of this human commodity FARBEN constructed camps to house
them. These camps were enclosed with barbed wire, and the slave
laborers housed therein were guarded by SS men. Deportees from Eas-
tern occupied countries were guarded by armed plant guards accom-
panied by watch dogs. In its plants FARBEN accepted and appointed
as its security representatives men designated by the SS and Gestapo
and in the administration of its plants adopted the policies and practices
of the Gestapo. Although the FARBEN plant manager was responsible
for the morale and discipline of its slave workers, it was standard policy
to call in the' Gestapo to enforce discipline.

127. FARBEN was aggressive in its acquisition of slave laborers and
sent its representatives to concentration camps to make selections of
those considered most physically fit for servitude in FARBEN plants.
This is illustrated by a complaint made by the head of the Personnel
Divison of FARBEN’s Kamerawerke, Munich, to the Commandant of the
Dachau Concentration Camp, that a transport which left Ravensbruck
with inmates selected by FARBEN engineers contained only 250 Dutch
women instead of 260 and that 63 of this number were not selected by
them. Another instance is the demand made in January, 1944, by the
same office of FARBEN’s Kamerawerke, Munich, to the Labor Office,
Munich, for the requisition of Polish female prisoners whose term of
imprisonment was about to expire. In this case FARBEN specifically
requested that the sentences of such prisoners be extended.

128. In all FARBEN plants and works, where slave labor was used,
sub-human standards of living were the established order. Inadequate
food rations, overcrowded and filthy sleeping quarters, excessive hours
of hard physical 1abor, continued beatings and other cruel disciplinary
measures, brought about a high percentage of illness and disea’se among
the inmates. In cases of disease, little or no medical care was furnished,
" as a result of which many slave laborers died.
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~129. The extent of FARBEN slave labor activities.is shown by the
following figures: During the period here involved, the total number of
workers reached 200,000 of which approximately 50 per cent were slave’
labor. Beginning in 1941, with approximately 10,000 slave laborers, FIAR-
BEN progressively increased its exploitation of such slave labor to
approximately 22,000 in 1942; 58,000 in 1943; 85,000 din 1944 and’
100,000 in 1945. These figures represent only the numbers of slave
laborers in FARBEN plants at a given time and do not reflect the fact
that many died and were replaced and many were “exchanged”. FARBEN
in its use of slave labor affected the freedom, the well-being, and the
" lives of many hundreds of thousands of human beings.

130. In FARBEN’s internal organization,  the ‘Technical Committee
passed upon and recommended to the Vorstand the construction of bar-
racks and concentratlon camps, together with installations and equip-
ment necessary to house the slave labor. The Vorstand, thereupon,
gave its approval to the projects so recommended and authorized the
necessary expenditures. The welfare of such slave labor, including the
administration of the barracks and concentration camps and the type
of disciplinary action to be taken against the slave labor, was under-the
immediate supervision of the plant leaders and plant managers, includ-
ing the defendants WURSTER, AMBROS, LAUTENSCHLAEGER,
BUERGIN and GAJEWSKI. The Vorstand “delegated” its overall respon-
sibility for the welfare of laborers in all its plants to the defendant
SCHNEIDER as Hauptbetriebsfuehrer (Chief of Plant Leaders). SCHNEI-
DER consulted with the plant leaders and plant managers and other
‘members of the Vorstand, including the defendants VON SCHNITZLER,
ILGNER, TER MEER and BRUEGGEMANN in formulating policy deci-
sions. The defendant KRAUCH discussed with SCHNEIDER and other
members of the Vorstand the requisitioning and handIing of slave labor.
‘B. :Use of Poison Gas and Medical Experimentation upon Enslaved

‘Persons.

.131. Poison gases and various deadly pharmaceuticals manufactured
by FARBEN and supplied by FARBEN to officials of the SS were used
in experimentation upon and the extermination of enslaved persons in
concentration camps throughout Europe. Experiments on human beings
(including concentration camp inmates), without their consent, were con-
ducted by FARBEN to determine the effect of deadly gases, vacclnes,
and related products.

C. FARBEN at Auschwitz.

132. The Auschwitz concentration camp was established for the main
purpose of exterminating human beings. Life or death of the inmates
depended solely upon their fitness for work. All who were considered
fit to work were use_d' as slave laborers; all who were not considered fit
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to work weré exterminated in gas chambers and their bodies burned.
When the remainder of dead exceeded the capacity of the specially con-
structed crematoria, the “overflow” of human beings was burned in huge
open bonfires. Here many victims were also burned alive. In Auschwitz -
alone, three to four million persons were exterminated, and another-
" one-half million died from disease and starvation.

133. The decision between life and death of newly arrived inmates
was made pursuanf to a screening system which operated as follows:
There were two SS doctors on duty to examine the incoming transports
of p‘;‘isoners. The prisoners would be marched by one of the doctors who
would make spot decisions as they walked by. Those who appeared fit
for work were sent into the camp. Others were sent immediately to
the extermination chambers. Children of tender years were usually
exterminated, since by reason of their youth, most of them were con-
- sidered unable to work. Steps were taken to conceal from the victims
the fact that they were to be exterminated and it was represented to
them that by going through the gas chambers they were only going
through a bathing and delousing process. It took from three to fifteen
‘minutes to kill the people in the death chamber, and when their scream-
ing had stopped it was assumed they were dead. About a half hour
- later, the doors were opened and the bodies removed, whereupon special
commandos of the SS took off the rings and extracted the gold from
the teeth of the corpses. The bodies were then cremated and after crema- |
tion, their ashes were used for fertilizer. In some instances, attempts
were made to utilize the fat from the bodies of the victims in the com-
merc1a1 manufacture of soap.

134. At Auschwitz, .innumerable inmates were forc1b1y subjected to
cruel and unusual experiments in surgery and tests of various medica-
_tions. .These surgical and rhedical experiments consisted in the main of
castrations, ovarian operations, amputations, complete removal of sexual
organs, abortions, sterilization by X-Ray, injection with the virus of
" certain diseases, and subsequent oral or intra-venal application of
various drugs and pharmaceutical products. Many of the pharmaceu-
ticals used were manufactured by and procured from one or more of
FARBEN’s plants. o

135. In or about 1940, the defendant KRAUCH discussed the con-
struction of a new buna plant with the defendant AMBROS. The de-
fendant AMBROS in consultation with the defendant TER MEER
proceeded to make a survey of suitable locations and recommended
to the FARBEN Vorstand that the buna plant be constructed at Ausch-
witz. In recommending said location, the defendant AMBROS called
specific attention to the available labor supply from the concentration
camps in that area. The Vorstand approved the recommendatlons and
authorized the construction of a ‘buna plant at Auschwitz. -
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136. To insure the cooperation of the SS in the furnishing of concéri~
tration camp labor, FARBEN took steps to establish friendly relation-
ships with the SS. In 1941 FARBEN made a contribution to the SS,:
through the “Circle”, of 100,000 marks and thereafter made similar
annual contributions to the SS. The defendant BUETEFISCH was a
member of the “Keppler Circle” subsequently known as the f‘Friendis
of Himmler” and “Freundeskreis” (Circle of Friends). This select group
included the leading industrialists in Germany. Regular and frequent
meetings were held at. which Heinrich Himmler, Reichs-Fuehrer of the
SS, presided. Its membership, in addition to leading German indus-
trialists and bankers, included Karl Wolff, Himmler’s Adjutant; Oswald
Pohl, Chief of all concentration camps; Otto Ohlendorf, a leading official
of the SS who testified before the IMT that his SS Commandos had
killed 90,000 women, men and children, mostly Jews in Russia;" and
Wolfram Sievers, who directed the program of criminal medical experi-
mentation on human beings. This “Circle” made regular annual con-
tributions of at least one million marks to Himmler-to aid in “financing
the criminal activities of the SS. These activities consisted of the guard-
ing and administration of concentration camps and the brutal treatment
of their inmates; subjecting prisoners of war and concentration camp
inmates to a series of experiments, including freezing to death and"
killing by poisoned bullets; shooting unarmed prisoners of war; exten-
sive participation in the slave labor program; murder and ill-treatment
of the civilian population in occupied countries, including massacres
such as at Lidice and the destruction of the Warsaw ghetto; and persecu-
tion and extermination of millions of Jews and others deemed politically
undesirable by the SS. The crimirtal programs of the SS were so
widespread and conducted on such a gigantic scale that they were a
matter of common knowledge throughout Germany and throughout the.
world. In addition to the defendant BUETEFISCH, FARBEN main-
tained its liaison with the SS through various members of its organiza-
tion who held high offices in the SS and through the personal friend-
ship between the defendant AMBROS and Himmler. FARBEN ‘was
given top prlorlty in the allocation of concentratlon camp mmates to
work at the buna plant at Auschwitz.

137. Early in 1941 FARBEN, having secured priority in the procure-
ment of concentration camp labor from Auschwitz, undertook the con-
struction of the Buna Plant at Auschwitz. Goering issued an order to
Himmler, in or about February, 1941, to the effect that Jews in Ausch-
witz and surrounding areas must be immediately vacated because of
the Buna factory to be constructed. The said order further provided
that concentratipn camp inmates be used for the construction of said
Buna works, estimating that eight to twelve thousand workers would
be needed. Himmler and the defendant KRAUCH were authorized to
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prepare and “formulate necessiary orders fo carry the foregoing.into
effect, and to notify Goering when such orders were formulated. Pur-
suant to the said directive of February, 1941, from Goering to Himmler,
the SS was authorized to make arrangements with FARBEN for the
use of concentration camp inmates in the construction of the Buna
works. Thereafter, at a meeting held’ in Berlin, FARBEN agreed with
General Wolff of the SS that it would pay the SS one and a half to
four marks per day for different classes of labor which were to be
furnished by the SS from the concentration camp at Auschwitz. The
lowest rate was for the labor of those children of tender years who
were considered strong enough physically that they were given the
opportunity to work for a short time in lieu of immediate death. None
of the inmates ever received any portion of these payments.

138. In order to bring more slave workers closer to the Buna plant,
and thus better integrate production with concentration camp facilities
in the Auschwitz system, in October, 1942, FARBEN constructed an
additional camp at Auschwi& called Monowitz, adjacent to the Buna
Plant site. The standard pattern of concentration camp construction
was followed. Monowitz, like the others, was surrounded by dense
barbed wire fences, charged with high tension electric current. It con-
tained strategically placed guard towers, torture enclosures, and all
other standard concentration camp accessories and equipment, including
a specially constructed railway spur leading into Monowitz, over which
were carried the well-known “transports” of inmates. Monowitz re-
ceived not only as many inmates as FARBEN could obtain from the
Auschwitz concentration camp but received new inmates and was
administered in every way like all the other camps. For the construc-
tion and equipping of Monowitz, FARBEN, with the specific approval
of the Vorstand, expended upwards of 5,000,000 reichsmarks.

139. FARBEN reached an understanding with the SS.relating to the
administration of Monowitz, and, pursuant to this agreement, assumed
responsibility, among other things, for the furnishing of food, quarters,
and similar facilities. The policing of the concentration camp was

shared between the SS and the “Work Police” which was set up and
armed by FARBEN.

140. In the administration of the Monowitz concentration camp
FARBEN set up a special punishment division to which were sent
“workers who did not conform to the murderous requirements of produc-
tion efficiency imposed by FARBEN. As a result of such action, beatings
and other forms of corporal punishment were administered, and in
many cases the workers were sent to the extermination chambers at
Birkenau, another part of the Auschwitz system, which was notorious
for its gas chambers and crematoria.

’
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141. FARBEN, in compléte deflance of all decency and human con-
siderations, abused its slavée workers by subjecting them, among other
things, to excessively long, arduous, and exhausting work, utterly
disregarding their health or physical condition. The sole criterion of
the right to live or die was the production efficiency of said inmates.
By virtue of inadequate rest, inadequate food (which was given to the
inmates while in bed at the barracks), and because of the inadequate
quarters (which consisted of a bed of polluted straw, shared by from
two to four inmates), many died at their work or collapsed from serious
illness there contracted. With the first signs of a decline in the produc-

" tion efficiency of any such workers, although caused by illness or

N

exhaustion, such workers would be subjected to the well-known
“SELEKTION”. “SELEKTION”, in its simplest definition meant that if,
upon a cursory examination, it appeared that the inmate would not
be restored within a few days to full productive capacity, he was con-
tidered expendable and was sent to the “Birkenau” camp of Auschwitz
for the customary extermination. The meaning of “SELECTION” and
“BIRKENAU” were known to everyone at Auschwitz and became a
matter of common knowledge.

142. The working conditions at the FARBEN Buna plant were so
severe and unendurable that very often inmates were driven to suicide
by either dashing through the guards and provoking death by rifle
shot or hurling themselves into the high-tension electrically-charged
barbed wire fences. As a result of these conditions, the labor turnover
in the Buna plant in one year amounted to at least three hundred per
cent. Besides those who were exterminated and committed suicide, up
to. and sometimes over one hundred persons died at their work every
day.from sheer exhaustion. All depletions occasioned by extermination
and other means of death were balanced by replacement with new in-
mates. Thus, FARBEN secured a continuous supply of fresh inmates in

-order to maintain full production.

143. FARBEN's conduct at Auschwitz can be best described by a
remark of Hitler: “What does it matter to us? Look away if it makes
you sick”,

' VIOLATION OF LAW

144. The acts and conduct of the defendants set forth in this Count
were committed unlawfully, willfully, and knowingly and constitute
violations of international conventions, particularly of Articles 3, 4, 5,
6, 7, 14, 18, 23, 43, 46 and 52 of the Hague Regulations, 1907, and of

Articles 2, 3, 4, 6, 9—15, 23, 25, 27—34, 46—48, 50, 51, 54, 56, 57, 60, 62,
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63, 65—68, and 76 of the Prisoner-of-Waf‘ Convention (Geneva, 1929),
of the laws and customs .of war, of the general principles of criminal
law as derived from the criminal laws of all civilized nations, of the
internal penal laws of the countries in which such crimes were com-
mitted, and of Article II of Control Council Law No. 10.

COUNT FOUR

MEMBERSHIP IN THE SS

145, The defendants SCHNEIDER, BUETEFISCH, and VON DER
HEYDE are charged with membership, subsequent to 1 September 1939,
in Die Schutzstaffeln der Nationalsozialistischen Deutschen Arbeiter-
partei (commonly known as the “SS”), declared to be criminal by the
International Military Tribunal, and Paragraph 1(d) of Article II of
Control Council Law No. 10.
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COUNT FIVE

COMMON PLAN OR CONSPIRACY

146. All the defendants, acting through the instrumentality of
FARBEN and otherwise, with divers other persons, during a period of
years preceding 8 May 1945, participated as leaders, organizers, instiga-
tors and accomplices in the formulation and execution of a common
plan or conspiracy to commit, or which involved the commission of
Crimes against Peace (including the acts constituting War Crimes and
Crlmes against Humanity, which were committed as an integral part
of such Crimes against Peace) as defined by Control Council Law No. 10,
and are individually responsible for their own acts and for all acts
committed by any persons in the execution of such common plan or
conspiracy. - ' ‘

147. The acts and conduct of the defendants set forth in -Counts One,
Two and Three of this Indictment formed a part of said common plan
or conspiracy and all the allegations made in said Counts are incor-
porated in this Count.

WHEREFORE, this Indictment is filed with the Secretary General
of the Military Tribunals and the charges herein made against the
abovenamed defendants are hereby presented to the Military Tribunals.

TELFORD TAYLOR,
Brigadier General, USA
Chief of Counsel for War Crimes
~ Acting on Behalf of the United States of America

Nurnberg, 3 May 1947
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APPENDIX A

Statement of Positions held by each of the Defendants

The following is a list of the high positions held by each of the
defendants in the financial, industrial and economic life of Germany
and of the high political, civil and military positions held by each of
the defendants in Germany. Each of the defendants, by using these
positions and his personal inﬂﬁence, participated in the planning,
preparation, initiation and waging of wars of aggression and invasions’
of other countries, and committed Crimes against Peace as set forth
in Count One and War Crimes and Crimes against Humanity as set
forth in Counts Two and Three, and participated in a common plan
or conspiracy to commit said crimes as set forth in Count Five.

KRAUCH:

The defendant Carl KRAUCH during the perlod from 1932 to 1945
was: Member of the Vorstand and of the Zentralausschuss (Central
Committee); Chairman, Aufsichtsrat: Chief, Sparte I (Division I); Chief,
Vermittlungsstelle W (Liaison Office W) of Farben; Member, NSDAP;
Member, NSFK; Member, DAF (German Labor Front); Wehrwirtschafts-
fuehrer (Military Economy Leader); Holder of Ritterkreuz des Kriegs-
verdienstkreuzes (Knight’s Cross of the War Merit Cross); Member, Bei-
rat (Advisory Council), Wirtschaftsgruppe Chemische Industrie (Econ-
omic Group Chemical Industry); Chief, Reichsamt fuer Wirtschaftsaus-
bau (Reich Office for Economic. Development); Chief, Abteilung For-
schung und Entwicklung, Amt fuer Deutsche Roh- und Werkstoffe, Vier-
jahresplan (Research and Development Department, Office for German
Raw Materials, and -Synthetics, Four Yeéar Plan); Generalbevollmaech-
tigter fuer Sonderfragen der Chemischen Erzeugung (General Pleni-
potentiary for Special Questions of Chemical Production); Member,
Deutsche Akademie fuer Luftfahrtforschung (German Academy for
Aviation Research); Senator, Kaiser-Wilhelm-Gesellschaft (Kaiser Wil-
. helm Society); Honorary Member, Verein Deutscher Chemiker (Associa-
tion of German Chemists); Member, Directorate, Reichsforschungsrat
(Reich Research Council); Chairman, Aufsichtsrat, Gesellschaft fuer Lan-
deskultur G.m.b. H., Halle-Saale; Deputy Chairman, Aufsichtsrat, A.G.
fuer Stickstoffduenger, Knapsack/Koeln; Member, Aufsichtsrat, Deutsche
Gasolin A. G., Berlin; Member, Aufsichtsrat, Braunkohle-Benzin A.G.,
Berlin; Member, Aufsichtsrat, Braunkohlen-Produkte A.G., Berlin;
Member Aufsichtsrat Ford-Werke A.G., Koeln; Member, Aufsichtsrat,
Kontinentale Oel A. G., Berlin; Geschaeftsfuehrer (Manager), Ammoniak-
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werk Merseburg . m.b. H., Merseburg; and chairman or board member
of other industrial firms, combines, and enterprises, within Germany
~and the occupied countries.

i

SCHMITZ:

The defendant Hermann SCHMITZ during the period from 1932
to 1945 was: Chairman of the Vorstand and of the Zentralausschuss
(Central Committee) of Farben; Member, Reichstag; Wehrwirtschafts-
. fuehrer Military Economy Leader); Member, Gutachter-Ausschuss ueber
Rohstoff-Fragen (Committee of Experts on Raw Materials Questions)
of Goering; Member, Engerer Beirat (Select Advisory Council), Reichs~
gruppe Industrie (Reich Group Industry); Member, Board of Directors,
Bank fuer Internationalen Zahlungsausgleich (Bank of ‘International
Settlements), Basle; Chairman, Waehrungsausschuss (Currency Com-
mittee), Reichsbank; Member, Akademie fuer Deutsches Recht (Aca-
demy for German Law); Member, Ausschuss fuer Aktienrecht (Com-
mittee for Corporate Law); Akademie fuer Deutsches Recht; Chairman,
Vorstandsrat (Board of Directors), Haus der Deutschen Kunst (House
of German Art); Chairman, Aﬁfsichtsrat, Dynamit A.G., vorm. Alfred
Nobel and Co., Troisdorf (munitions and explosives combine); Chair-
man, Aufsichtsrat, Rheinische Stahlwerke A.G., Essen (coal combine);
Deputy Chairman, Aufsichtsrat, Vereinigte Stahlwerke A.G., Duessel-
dorf (steel combine); Chairman, Aufsichtsrat, A. G. fuer Stickstoffduen-
ger, Knapsack/Koeln; Chairman, Aufsichtsrat, Deutsche Celluloid-Fabrik
A, G., Eilenburg; Chairman, Aufsichtsrat, A. Riebeck’sche Montanwerke
A. G., Halle/Saale; Chairman, Aufsichtsrat, Wolff & Co. K. G. a. A,
Walsrode; Member, Aufsichtsrat, Friedrich Krupp A.G., Essen; Member,
Aufsichtsrat, Kalle & Co. A. G., Wiesbaden-Biebrich; Member, Aufsichts-
- rat, Stickstoff-Syndikat G.m.b.H. Berlin; Member, Aufsichtsrat, Metall-
gesellschaft A. G., Frankfurt; Member, Aufsichtsrat, Norddeutsche Raffi-
nerie, Hamburg; Member, Aufsichtsrat, Rheinische Gummi- und Cellu-
loid-Fabrik, Mannheim; Member, Aufsichtsrat, Allianz-Versicherungs-
A. G., Berlin; Chairman, Ammoniakwerk Merseburg G.m.b.H., Merse-
burg; Chairman, Aufsichtsrdt, Deutsche Laenderbank A.G., Berlin;
Chairman, Aufsichtsrat, Deutsche Industriebank, Berlin; Member, Auf-
sichtsrat, Deutsche Bank, Bei'lin; Member, Aufsichtsrat, Reicﬁskreditge-
sellschaft A.G. Berlin; Member, Siebener Ausschuss (Committee of Seven),
Deutsche Golddiskontbank, Berlin; Chairman, Europaeische Stickstoffkon-
vention (European Nitrogen Convention); Mémber, Aufsichtsrat, Norsk
Hydro Elektrisk Kvaelsstoffaktieselskabet, Oslo, Norway; Chairman, Ver-
waltungsrat, Internationale Gesellschaft der Stickstoff-Industrie A. G,
Basle, Switzerland; Chairman, Verwaltungsrat, Internationale Gesell-
schaft fuer Chemische Unternehmungen A. G., Basle, Switzerland; Pres-
ident and Chairman, Board of Directors, American I. G., Chemical Corp.,
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New York; and chairman or board member of other industrial firms, com-
bines and éenterprises within Germany, and the occupied countries and
elsewhere.

VON SCHNITZLER:

The defendant _Georg August Eduard von SCHNITZLER during the
period from 1932 to 1945 was: Member of the Vorstand and of the
Zentralausschuss (Central Committee); Chairman Kaufmaennischer Aus-
schuss (Commercial Committee); Chief, Verkaufsgemeinschaft Farbstoffe
(Sales Combine Dyestuffs); Chief Verkaufsgemeinschaft Chemikalien.
(Sales Combine Chemicals); Chairman, Farben-Ausschuss (Dyestuffs
Committee); Chairman, Chemikalien-Ausschuss (Chemicals Committee),
of Farben; Member, NSDAP; Hauptsturmfuehrer (Captain) SA; Member,
DAF (German Labor Front); Member, NSKK; Wehrwirtschaftsfuehrer
(Military Economy Leader); Member, Grosser Beirat (Greater Advisory
Council), Reichsgruppe Industrie (Reéich Group Industry); Chairman,
Staendiger Ausstellungs- und Messe-Ausschuss (Permanent Committee
for Exhibitions and Fairs), and Ausschuss fuer Industrielle Wirtschafts-
werbung, (Committee for Economic Propaganda of Industry), Reichs-
gruppe Industrie; Member, Aussenhandels-Ausschuss (Committee dor
Foreign Trade), Reichsgruppe Industrie; Deputy Chairman, Wirtschafts-
gruppe Chemische Industrie (Economic Group Chemical Industry); Chief,
Fachgruppe 16, Teerfarben und Teerfarben-Zwischenprodukte (Sub-
Group 16, Tar Dyes and Tar Dye Intermediates), Wirtschaftsgruppe
Chemische Industrie; Chairman, Werberat der Deutschen Wirtschaft
(Council for Propaganda of German Economy), Ministry of Propaganda;
Representative of German Group in Vier-Parteien Farbstoff Kartell
(Dyestuffs Four-Party Cartel); Chairman, Zwischenstaatliches Deutsch-
Belgisches Comité (Interstate German-Belgian Commitiee); Vice
President, Schiedsgerichtshof der Internationalen Handelskammer (Court
of Arbitration, International Chamber of Commerce); Vice Chairman,
" Deutsch-italienische Studienstiftung (German-Italian Studies Founda-
tion); Member, Deutsch-spanische Gesellschaft (German-Spanish Society); .
Member, Deutsch-franzoesische Gesellschaft (German-French Society);
Member Directorate, Deutsche Gruppe der Internationalen Handelskam-
mer (German Group of International Chamber of Commerce); Chair-
man, Aufsichtsrat, Chemische Werke Dornach G. m. b. H., Muelhausen-
Dornach; Chairman, Verwaltungsrat, Gesellschaft fuer Verkaufsfoerde-
rung (Company for Sales Promotion); Chairman, Frankfurt-Hesse
Regional Beirat (Advisory Council), Deutsche Bank; Vice Chairman, .
Deutscher Soda- und Atznatronverband, Berlin; Member, Aufsichtsrat,
Ala-Anzeigen A.G., Berlin; Member, Aufsichtsrat, Kalle & Co. A.G,,
Wiesbaden~Biebrich; Chairman, Aufsichtsrat, Chemische Werke Aussig-
Falkenau G. m. b. H'., Aussig, Czechoslovakia; Vice Chairman, Auf-
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sichtsrat, Sociedad Electro-Quimica de Flix, Flix Spain; Membér, Auf-
sichtsrat, A. S, de Matiéres Colorantes et Produits Chimiques, Francolor,
Paris, France; Member, Aufsichtsrat, Aziende Colori Nazionali Affini S.
A., Milan, Italy; and chairman or board member of other industrial
firms, combines, enterprises within Germany, the occupied countries

and elsewhere.

GAJEWSKI:

The defendant Fritz GAJEWSKI during the period from 1932 to 1945
was: Member -of the Vorstand and of the Zentralausschuss (Central
Committee); Chief Sparte III (Division III); Manager of “Agfa” plants;
Deputy Chairman, Technischer Ausschuss (Technical Committee) of
Farben; Member, NSDAP; Member, DAF (German Labor Front); Mem-
ber, NS Bund Deutscher Technik (National Socialist Bund of German
Technicians); Member, Reichsluftschutzbund (Reich Air Raid Protection
Bund); Wehrwirtschaftsfuehrer (Military Economy Leader); Member,
Beirat (Advisory Council), Wirtschaftsgruppe Chemische Industrie (Eco-
nomic Group Chemical Industry); Member, Beirat, Fachgruppe Che-
mische Herstellung von Fasern (Sub-group for Chemical Production of
Artificial Fibres), Wirtschaftsgruppe Chemische Industrie; Member, Zell-
wolleausschuss (Artificial Fibres Committee), Wirtschaftsgruppe Textil-
industrie; - Member, Beirat, Fachgruppe Zellstofferzeugung (Sub-group
for Cellulose Production), Wirtschaftsgruppe Papier-, Zellstoff- und
Holzstoff-Erzeugung (Economic Group Papér, Card-board, Cellulose ‘and
Wood Pulp Production); Member, Beirat Industrie- und Handelskammer
(Chamber of Industry and Commerce), Halle/Saale; Member, Beirat,
Gauwirtschaftskammer Halle-Merseburg (Gau Economic Chamber Halle-
Merseburg), Halle/Saale; Chairman, Pensionskasse der Agfa der Ange- -
stellten der I. G. Farben A. G. (Pension Fund of Agfa of Employees of
I. G. Farben A. G.), Wolfen-Bitterfeld; Member, Vorstand, 1. G. Be-

‘triebs-Sparvereinigung (Plant Savings Association), Ludwigshafen; Chief,

Section V, Berufsgenossenschaft der Chemischen Industrie (Trade Asso-
ciation of Chemical Industrie), Leipzig; Deputy Member, Beirat, Landes-
vérband Sachsen des Reichsverbandes der gewerblichen Berufsgenossen-
schaften (Saxony Country Union of the Reich Union of Industrial Trade
Associations),, Dresden; Member, Kuratorium (Board of Trustees),

‘Mitteleuropaeischer Wirtschaftstag (Central European Economic Diet);

Ordentliches Mitglied des Arbeitsausschusses (Full Member of Working
Committee), Kunstseide-Verkaufs-Bueros G.mb.H., Berlin; Deputy
Chairman, Aufsichtsrat, Deutsche Celluloid-Fabrik A.G., Eilenburg;
Deputy Chairman, Aufsichtsrat, Kalle und Co. A.G., Wiesbaden-
Biebrich; Member, Aufsichtsrat Deutsche Grube A.G., Halle/Saale;
Member, Aufsichtsrat. AGFA Gemeinnuetzige Altersheim G.m.b.H., Berlin;
Member, Aufsichtsrat, Dynamit ‘A. G., vorm. Alfred Nobel und Co., Trois~
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dorf; Member, Aufsichtsrat, Gemeinnuetzige Wohnungsbaugesellschaft,
Wolfen; Member, Gesellschaftsrat (Company Board), Dr. Alexander
Wacker, Gesellschaft fuer Elektro-chemische Industrie G.m.b.H., Munich;
Chairman,’ Verwaltungsrat, Chemische Industrie A.G., Pressburg, Czecho-
slovakia; Member, Verwaltungsrat, A.G. Dynamit Nobel, Pressburg,
Czechoslovakia; and chairman or board member of other industrial
firms, combines and enterprises within Germany and the occupied

countries. . :

HOERLEIN: c L

The defendant Philipp Heinrich HOERLEIN during the period from
1932 to 1945 was: Member of the Vorstand and of the Zentralausschuss
(Central Committee); Member, Technischer Ausschuss (Techfiical Com-
mittee); Manager, Elberfeld Plant, in charge of development of vac-
cines, sera pharmaceuticals and poison gas; Chairman, Pharmazeutische )
Hauptkonferenz (Pharmaceuticals Main Committee), of Farben; Member,
NSDAP; Member, DAF (German Labor Front); Member, NS Bund
-Deut_schei' Technik (National Socialist Bund of German Technicians);
Chaii‘man! Justus-Liebig-Gesellschaft (Julius Liebig Society); Treasurer,
Kaiser-Wilhelm-~Gesellschaft (Kaise/r Wilhelm Society); Treasurer,
Deutsche Chemische Gesellschaft (German Chemical Association); Chair-
man, Wuppertal Regional Beirat (Advisory Council), Deutsche Bank;
Member, Handelskammer (Chamber of Commerce), Wuppertal; Chair-
man, Aufsichtsrat, Behringwerke _A: G., Marburg; and chairman or board )
member of other industrial firms, combines and enterprises within
Germany and the occupied countries.

VON KNIERIEM:

The defendant Johann August von KNIERIEM during the period
from 1932 to 1945 was: Member of the Vorstand and of the Zentral-
ausschuss (Central Committee); Chairman, Rechtsausschuss (Legal Com-
mittee) and Patent-Ausschuss (Patent Committee) of Farben; Member,
NSDAP; Member, DAF (German Labor Front); Member, NS Rechts-
wahrerbund (National Socialist Lawyers Association); Member, Deutsche
Adelsgesellschaft (German Society of Nobles); Member, Ausschuss fuer
Patent-Muster-Zeichenwesen (Committee for Patents and Trademarks),
Reichsgruppe Industrie (Reich Group Industry); Member, Ausschuss fuer
Marktordnung und Betriebwirtschaft (Committee for, Market Regulation
and Business Economics), Reichsgruppe Industrie; Member, Rechtsaus-
schuss (Law Committee), Reichsgruppe Industrie, and of the following
special sub-committees; Aktienrecht (Corporation Law), G.m.b.H.-Recht -
(Law for Limited Companies), and Eigentumsvorbehalt (Law of Con-
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ditional Transfer of Property); Member, Praesidialausschuss fuer Kartell-
. und Steuerpolitik, betriebswirtschaftliche Fragen und Probleme det
Marktordnung (Board Committee for Cartel and Tax Policiés, Business
Economics Questions, and Market Problems), Reichsgruppe' Industrie;
Member, Akademie fuer Deutsches Recht (Academy for German Law);
Chairman, Ausschuss fuer das Recht (Academy for German Law); mittee
for the Law of Copyright); Akademie fuer Deutsches Recht; Member,
Arbeitsgemeinschaft fuer Deutsche und Ungarische Rechtsbeziehungen
(Working Association for German-Hungarian Legal Relations), Akademie
fuer Deutsches Recht; Member, Arbeitsgemeinschaft fuer Vierjahres-.
planfragen im Rahmen des Patentausschusses (Working Association for
Four Year Plan Questions within Framework of Patent- Commlttee),
Akademie fuer Deutsches Recht; Member, Patent- und Gebrauchs—
musterrechts-Ausschuss (Patents ~ and Trademarks Law Committee);
Urheberrechts-Ausschuss (Patent Law Committee), Warenzeichen- und
Wettbewerbsausschuss (Trademarks and Competition Committee),
Deutsche Arbeitsgemeinschaft fuer Gewerblichen Rechtsschu‘z und Ur-
heberrecht (German Working Association for Legal Protection of In-
dustry and Patent Law); Ordentliches Mitglied (Full Member); Inter-
nationale Rechtskammer (International Chamber of Law); Chairman,
Sektion “Gewerblicher Rechtsschutz” (Section “Industrial Legal Protec-
tion”), ‘Internationale Rechtskammer; Member, Ausschuss fuer Fragen
des gewerblichen Rechtsschutzes (Committee for Questions of Industrial
Legal Protection)§ Internationale Handelskammer (International Cham-~
ber of Commerce); Member, Ausschuss fuer Fragen internationaler Kar-
" telle (Committee for Questions of International Cartels); Internationale
Handelskammer; Member, Kaiser-Wilhelm-Gesellschaft (Kaiser Wilhelm
Society); Member, Aufsichtsrat, Anorgana G.m.b.H., Frankfurt; Mem-
ber, Verwaltungsrat, Stickstoff Syndicat G.m.b.H., Berlin; Geschaefts-
fuehrer (Manager), Ammonialwerk Merseburg G.m. b.H., Merseburg;
Board Member, International Hydrogenation Patents Co.. The Hague.
Holland; Board Member, International Hydrogenation Engineering and
Chemical Co., The Hague, Holland; and chairman or board member of
other Industrial firms, combines and enterprises within Germany and
the occupied countries. /

TER MEER:

The defendant Fritz téer MEER during the period from 1932 to 1945
was: Member of the Vorstand, and of the Zentralausschuss (Central
Committee): Chlef Technischer Ausschuss (Technical Committee): Chief
Sparte II (D1v1s1on IT) of Farben Member, NSDAP; Member, DAF (Ger-
man Labor Front); Wehrwirtschaftsfuehrer (Military Economy Leader);
Beauftragter (Commissioner) gnd Ruestungsobmann (Armament Com-
‘missioner) of the Generalbeauftragter fuer Italien des Reichsministers
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fuer Ruestung und Kriegsproduktion (Commissioner for Italy of the
Reich Ministry for Armament and War Production); Vice-Chairman and
Member, Praesidium, Wirtschaftsgruppe Chemische Industrie (Economic
Group Chemical Industry); Member, Beirat (Advisory Council), - Wirt-
schaftsgruppe Chemische Industrie; Chief, and Chairman, Produktions-
ausschuss (Production Committee), Sammelgruppe I, Sonstige Anorga-
nische Erzeugnisse (Sub-group I, Other Inorganic Products), Wirtschafts-
gruppe Chemische Industrie; Member, Beirat, Industrie und Handels-
kammer (Chamber of Industry and Commerce), Rhein-Main Region,
Frankfurt; Chairman, Berufsgenossenschaft der Chemischen Industrie
(Trade Association of Chemical Industry), Berlin; Member, Beirat,
Reichsverband der Gewerblichen Berufsgenossenschaften -(Reich Union
of Industrial Trade Associations), Berlin-Wilmersdorf; Member, Haus
der Technik (House of Technology), Gau Hessen-Nassau; Preéident, Emil
Fischer Gesellschaft (Emil Fischer Society); Chairman, Verwaltungsaus-
schuss des Kaiser-Wilhelm-Instituts fuer Chemie (Administrative Com-
mittee of the Kaiser Wilhelm Institute for Chemistry); Member, Stipen-
dien-Ausschuss (Scholarship Committee), Justus-Liebig-Gesellschaft
(Justus Liebig Society); Treasurer, Chemical Group, NS Bund Deutscher
Technik (National Socialist Bund of German Technicians); Chairman,
Aufsichtsrat, Chemische Werke Huels G. m.b. H., Huels; Chairman, Auf-
sichtsrat Versuchswerk fuer Kautschuk-Verarbeitung G.m.b. H., Lever-
kusen; Chairman, Aufsichtsrat Anorgana G.m.b. H.,, Frankfurt; Chair-
man, Aufsichtsrat, Duesseldorfer Waggonfabrik A. G., Duesseldorf;
Chairman, Aufsichtsrat, Waggonfabrik Uerdingen A.G, Uerdingen;
Deputy Chairman, Aufsichtsrat, Duisburger Kupferhuette, Duisburg;
Member, Aufsichtsrat, A. G. fuer Stickstofiduenger, Knapsack/Koeln;
Member, Aufsichtsrat, Chemisché Werke Dornach G.m.b.H., Muel-

"hausen-Dornach; Member, Beirat (Advisory Council) Adam Opel A. G,

Ruesselsheim; Member, Gesellschaftsrat (Company Board), Dr. Alexan-
der Wacker Gesellschaft fuer Elektrochemische Industrie G.m.b. H,,
Munich; Geschaeftsfuehrer (Manager), Bunawerke G.m.b. H., Schkopau;
Member, Verwaltungsrat, S. A. de Matiéres Colorantes et Produits
Chimiques, Francolor, Paris, France; Member, Verwaltungsrat, Aziende
Colori Nazionati Affini, A.S., Milan, Italy; Member Verwaltungsrat,
Societa Lombarda Bianchi and Co., Rho, Italy; Member, Verwaltungsrat,
Soc. Italiana Carboni Attivi, Milan, Italy; Member, Verwaltungsrat,
Fabricacion Nacional de Colorantes y Explosives S. A., Barcelona, Spain;
Member, Aufsichtsrat, Durand and Huguenin, Basle, Switzerland;
Member, Board, General Aniline Works, New York; Member, Board,
American I. G. Chemical Co.,, New York; and chairman or board mem-
ber of other industrial firms, combines and enterprises within Germany,
the occupied countries and elsewhere.
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SCHNEIDER:

The defendant Christian SCHNEIDER during the period from 1932
to 1945 was: Member of the Vorstand and of the Zentralausschuss (Cen-~
tral Committee); Chief, Sparte I (Division I); Chief, Central Personnel
Department; Hauptabwehrbeauftragter (Chief Counter-Intelligence
Agent), OKW-Abwehr; Hauptbetriebsfuehrer (Chief of Plant leaders) of
Farben; Member, NSDAP; Foerderndes Mitglied (Supporting Member)
SS; Member, DAF (German Labor Front); Member Beirat, Wirtschafts-
gruppe Chemische Industrie (Economic Group Chemical Industry); Mem-
ber, Arbeitsausschuss fuer Gesundheitsfuehrung (Committee for Super-
vision of Health), Reichsgruppe Industrie (Reich Group Industry); Mem-
ber, Beirat ‘(Advisory Council), Wirtschaftskammer Mittelelbe,
(Chamber of Economics of the Central Elbe Region); Member, Sachver-
staendigenausschuss (Experts Committee), Reichstreuhaeinder der Arbeit .
(Reich Trustee of Labor), Wirtschaftsgebiet Mittelelbe (Economic Terri-
tory Central Elbe), Magdeburg; Member, Beirat, Industrieabteilung der
Wirtschaftskammer (Industrial Department of the Chamber of Econo~
mics), Magdeburg; Vice-Chairman, Industrie- und Handelskammer
(Chamber of Industry and Commerce), Halle/Saale; Member, Ausschuss
des Reichsinstituts fuer Berufsausbildung in Handel und Gewerbe {Com-
mittee of Reich Institute for Professional Training in Commerce and
Indilstry); Member, Vorstand, Berufsgenossenschaft der Chemischen In-
dustrie (Trade Association of Chemical Industry); Member, Arbeits-
kammer (Labor Chamber), Halle/Saale; Member, Beirat des Gauleiters
des NSDAP (Advisory Council of Gau Leader of NSDAP), Gauleitung
Halle-Merseburg (Gau Administration Halle-Merseburg); Member, Ar-
beitsausschuss der DAF (Working Committee of German Labor Front),
Gauleitung Halle-Merseburg; Member, Unternehmerfuehrerkreis (Asso-
ciation of Employers) of the Gauleitung Halle-Merseburg of the NSDAP;
/'Ass‘istant, Gauwirtschaftsberater der NSDAP (Gau Economic Advisory
of NSDAP), Gauleitung Halle-Merseburg; Member, Preussischer Frovin-
zialrat (Prussian Provincial Council); Honorary Member, Finanzgericht
des Landesfinanzamt (Finance Court of the Country Treasury), Magde-
burg; Member, Aufsichtsrat, Deutsche Gasolin, A.G., Berlin; Member,
Aufsichtsrat, Deutsche Grube A.G., Halle/Saale; Member Verwaltungs-
rat, Stu‘kstoffsyndlkat G.m. b. H.,, Berlin; Geschaeftsfuehrer (Manager),
Ammoniakwerk Merseburg G.m.b.H., Merseburg; and chairman or
board member of other industrial firms, combines and enterprises
within Germany and the occupied countries.

AMBROS:

The defendant Otto AMBROS during the period from 1932 to 1945
* was; Member of the Vorstand; Member, Technischer Ausschuss (Tech-
nical - Comm1ttee), Plant Man'flger at Auschwitz, Schkopau, Ludwigs-
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hafen, Huels, Gendorf, Dyhernfurt, and Falkenhagen; Member, Chemi-
kalien Ausschuss (Chemicals Committee); Chairman, Kommission Kunst-
stoff und Kautschuk (Plastics ‘and Rubber Committee); Chairman,
Kommission fuer Waschrohstoffe (Detergent Raw Materials Committee);
Chairman, Zwischenprodukte Kommission (Intermediates Committee), of
Farben; Member, NSDAP; Member, DAF (German Labor Front); Wehr-
wirtschaftsfuehrer (Military. Economy Leader); Holder of Ritterkreuz
des Kriegsverdienstkreuzes (Knight’s Cross of the War Merit Cross);
Chief, Sonderausschuss Kunststoffe (Special Committee Plastics); Reich
Ministry of Armaments and Munitions; Special Consultant to Chief,
Abteilung Forschung und Entwicklung, Vierjahresplan (Research and
Development Department, Four Year Plan); Chief, Sonderausschuss “C”
(Special Committee C, Chemical Warfare); Hauptausschuss Pulver und
Sprengstoff (Main Committee Powder and Explosives), Ruestungsliefe-
rungsamt (Armament Supply Office); Chief, Fachabteilung ‘Textilhilfs-

mittel (Subgroup Textile Auxiliaries); Wirtschaftsgruppe Chemische

Industrie (Economic Group Chemical Industry); Expert for Buna, Wirt-

. schaftsgruppe Chemische Industrie; Chairman, Produktionsausschuss

(Production Committee), Fachgruppe Karbidchemie, Methanol und Holz-

verkohlung (Subgroup Carbide \Chemistry, Methanol and Charcoal),

Wirtschaftsgruppe Chemische Industrie; Member, Aufsichtsrat, Chemische
Werke, Huels G.m.b.H. Huels; Member, Aufsichtsrat, Chemische

Fabrik Holten G.m.b.H. Oberhausen-Holten; Member, Aufsichtsrat, .
Steedener Kalkwerke G. m. b. H., Dehrn-Lahn; Geschaeftsfuehrer

(Manager), Anorgana G.m.b. H., Frankfurt; Geschaeftsfuehrer, Luranil-
Baugesellschaft m.b. H.,, Ludwigshafen; Geschaeftsfuehrer, Monturon

G.m. b. H.,, Falkenhagen; Deputy Geschaeftsfuehrer, Buna Werke G. m. -
b. H., Schkopau; Member, Arbeitsausschuss (Working Committee);
Deutsch-Koloniale Gerbstoff Gesellschaft G. m. b, H., Karlsruhe; Member, .
Aufsichtsrat, Fuerstengrube G.m.b. H., Kattowitz, Poland; Member, Ver-

waltungsrat, S. A. de Matieres Colorantes et de Produits Chimiques,
Francolor, Paris, France; and chairman or board member of numerous,
industrial firms, combines and enterprises within- Germany and the
occupied countries.

BRUEGGEMANN:

The defendant Max BRUEGGEMANN during the period from 1932
‘to 1945 was: Member and Secretary, Vorstand; Deputy General Manager,
Leverkusen; Deputy Chief, Verkaufsgemeinschaft Pharmazeutika und
Pflanzenschutz (Sales Combine Pharmaceuticals and Plants Protective
Agents); Director, Legal, Patent, and Personnel Departments, Betriebs-
gemeinschaft Niederrhein (Works Combine Lower Rhine) of Farben;
Member, NSDAP; Member DAF (German lL.abor Front); Vice-Chairman,
Industrie- und Handelskammer (Chamber of Indusiry and Commerce),
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Solingen; Vice-President, Verwaltungsrat, ,Vereini"gung der Hersteller
Chemisch-Pharmazeutischer Praeparate, “Vepha” (Union of the Manu-
facturers of Chemical-Pharmaceutical Preparations), Berlin; Member,
Aufsichtsrat, Fluoritwerke (A.G., Berlin; Member, Aufsichtsrat,
Chemosan A. G., Troppau; Member, Aufsichtsrat, Injekta A. G., Berlin;
Member, Aufsichtsrat, Behringwerke A. G., Marburg; Geschaeftsfuehrer
(Manager), Titangesellschaft G.m. b. H., Leverkusen; Member, Aufsichts-
rat, Koelner Verlags-Anstalt und Druckerei A. G., Koeln; and chairn'iqn
or board member of numerous industrial firms, combines and enter-
prises within Germany and the occupied countries.

BUERGIN:

The defendant Ernst BUERGIN during the period from 1932 to 194>
was: Member, Vorstand; Member, Technischer S Ausschuss Y(Technical
Committee); Chief Betriebesgemeinschaft Mitteldeutschland (Works
Combine Central Germany); Chief, Bitterfeld Plants; Supervisor, Wolfen
Farben Plants; Chairman, Chlor-Unterkommission (Chlorine Sub-Com-
mittee) of Farben; Member, NSDAP; Member, DAF (German Labor
Front); Wehrwirtséhaftsfuehrer (Military Economy Leader); Collaborator
of Krauch in Four Year Plan; Chairman, Technischer Ausschuss (Tech-
nical Committee), Fachgruppe Soda, Aetzalkalien, Chlor, Salzsaeure und
verwandte Erzeugnisse (Sub-group Soda, Caustic Alkalines, Chlorine,
Hydrochloric- Acid and related Products), Wirtschaftsgruppe Chemische
Industrie Economic Group Chemical Industry); Member, Aufsichtsrat,
Deutsche Grube A. G., Halle/Saale; Member, Aufsichtsrat, Alu-
miniumwerk G.m.b.H., Bitterfeld; Member, Aufsichtsrat, Deutsche
Magnesit A. G., Munich; Chairman, Beirat (Advisory Council), Metall-
guss G.m.b.H., Leipzig; Member, Beirat, Westfaelische Leichtmetali-
-werke, G. m. b. H,, Néchrodt; Member, Aufsichtsrat, Nordisk Lettmetall
A.S., Oslo, Norway; Member, Verwaltungsrat, Kraftwerk Ryburg-
Schwoerstadt A.G., Rheinfelden, Switzerland; Member, Aufsichtsrat,
Sociedad Electro-Quimica de Flix, Flix, Spain; and Chairman or board
member of other industrial firms, combines and enterprises within Ger-
many and the occupied countries.

BUETEFISCH:

The defendant Heinrich BUETEFISCH during the period from 1932
to 1945 was: Member, Vorstand; Chief, Leuna Works, Member, Tech-
nischer Ausschuss (Technical Committee) of Farben; Wehrwirtschafts-
fuehrer (Military Economy Leader); Holder of Ritterkreuz des Kriegs-
verdienstkreuzes (Knight's Cross of the War Merit Cross); Member,
Freundeskreis Himmler (Himmler Circle of Friends); Member, NSDAP;
Obersturmbannfuehrer (Lieutenant-Colonel) SS; Member, DAF (German-
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Labor Front); Member NSKK; Member, NSFK; Member, NS Bund

Deutscher Technik (National Socialist Bund of Technicians); Colla-

borator of Krauch in Four Year Plan; Chief Committee for Oil, Reich

Ministry of Armament and Munitions; Produktionsbeauftragter (Produc-

tion Commissioner) for 0il, Ruestungsministerium (Ministi'y of Arma-

ments); Chief, Wirtschaftsgruppe Kraftstoff Industrie (Economic Group

Liquid Fuel Industry); Chief, Arbeitsgemeinschaft fuer : Hydrierung,

Synthese und Schwelung (Working Association for Hydrogenation, Syn-

thesis and Smoldering), (Wirtschaftsgruppe Kraftstoff Industrie; Pre-
sident, Technischer Experten-Ausschuss (Technical Experts Committee), -
Convention Internationale de I’azote (International Nifrogen Convention);

Chairman, Arbeitsgemeinschaft Duengung (Working Association Ferti- ,
lizers); Chairman, Aufsichtsrat, Norddeutsche Hydriérwerke Poelitz A. G.,

Poelitz, Pomerania; Member, Aufsichtsrat, Kontinentale Oel A. G., Ber-

lin; Member, Aufsichtsrat, Mineraloelbaugesellschaft A. G., Berlin;

Member, Aufsichtsrat, Sueddeutsche Kalkstickstoffwerke A. G.,‘ Trost-

berg; Member, Verwaltungsrat, Stickstoff-Syndikat G.m.b.H., Berlin;

Member, Vorstand, Braunkohle-Benzin A. G., Berlin, 'Deputy Geschaefts-

fuehrer (Manager), Ammoniakwerk Merseburg G. m. b. H., Merseburg;
Chief, Technischer Ausschuss (Technical Committee), Stickstoff-Syndikat
G. m. b. H,, Berlin; Chairman, Aufsichtsrat, Fuerstengrube G. m. b. H,,
Kattowitz, Poland; Deputy chairman, Aufsichtsrat, Steinberg Naphta
A. G., Vienna, Austria; Member, Aufsichtsrat, Stickstoff Ostmark A. G,
' Linz, Austria; Member, Aufsichtsrat, Gewerkschaft Austrogasco; Vienna,
Austria; Member, Aufsichtsrat, Donau-Chemie A. G., Viehna, Austria;
Chairman, Verwaltungsrat, Donay Oel, G.m.b.H. Vienna, Austria;
Member, Aufsichtsrat, A. G. Dynamit Nobel Pressburg, Czechoslovakia;

Member, Aufsichtsrat, Apollo-Mineraloel- Raffinerie A. G, Pressburg,
Czechoslovakia; Member, Aufsichtsrat, Stickstoffwerke A. G., Maria Rast,
Yugoslavia; Member, Aufsichtsrat, Bosnische Elektrizitaet A.G., Jajce,
Yugoslavia; Member, Aufsichtsrat, Nitrammonia. S.A.R., Bucharest,
Roumania; Member, Aufsichtsrat, Azot S.A.R., Bucharest, Roumania;
Member, Aufsichtsrat, A.G. fuer industrielle Sprengstoffe, “Ipari”,
Budapest, Hungary; and chairman or board member of other industrial
firms, combines and enterprises within Germany and the occupied
countries.

HAEFLIGER:

The defendant Paul HAEFLIGER during the period from 1932 to
1945 was: Member, Vorstand; Member, Kaufmaennischer Ausschuss
(Commercial Committee); Vice-chairman, Central Management, Ver-
kaufsgemeinschaft Chemikalien (Sales Combine Chemicals); Chief,
Metals Section, Verkaufsgemeinschaft Chemikalien; Member, Chemika-
lienaus~shies (Chemicals Comittee); Member, Suedosteuropa-Ausschuss -
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(Southeast Europe Committee); Mémber, Ostasien-Ausschuss East Asia
Committee); Member, Ost-Ausschuss (East Committee); Member,
Propaganda ~Kommission (Propaganda Committee) of . Farben;
Member, DAF (German Labor Front); Chairman, Aufsichtsrat,
Deutsche Edelsteingesellschaft vorm. Hermann Wild A. G, Idar-Ober-
stein; Deputy Chairman Aufsichtsrat, Deutsche Magnesit A.G., Munich;
Member, Verwaltungsrat, Schwefel G.m.b. H., Frankfurt, Member, Ver-
waltgngsrat, Schwefelnatrium G.m. b. H.,, Frankfurt; Member, Beirat,
(Advisory Council), Pyrophor G.m.b. H., Essen; Member, Beirat, West-
~ faelische Leichtmetallwerke G. m.b.H. Nachrodt; Member, Aufsichts:
rat, Chemische Werke Auésig-Falkenau G.m.b.H., Aussig; Czechoslo-
.vakia; Deputy Chairman, Aufsichtsrat, Carbidwerk Deutsch-Matrei A. G.,
.Vienna, Austria; Member, Aufsichtsrat, Donau Chemie A. G., Vienna,
Austria; Member, Beirat, Elektrochemia Suedosteuropaeische Handels-
gesellschaft m. b. H.,, Vienna, Austria; Member, Beirat, Nordisk Lett-
metall A. S., Oslo, Norway; Member, Aufsichtsrat, S. A. Magnesio Italiani
Sulcis, Torino, Italy; and chairman or board member of other industrial
firms, combines and enterprises within Germany and the occupied

countries.

ILGNER:

The defendant Max ILGNER during the period from .1932 to 1945
was: Member, Vorstand, Chief, Berlin NW 7 Departments, including
Wirtschaftspolitische Abteilung, WIPO (Economic Policy Department),
Volkswirtschaftliche Abteilung, VOWI (Economic Research Department),
and Zentralfinanzverwaltung, ZEFI (Central Finance Administration);
Member, Kaufmaennischer Ausschuss (Commefcial Committee), of
Farben; Member, NSDAP; Member, DAF (German Labor Front); Mem-
ber, NSKK; Member, NS Reichskriegerbund (National Socialist Reich
Soldiers’ Bund); Member, Reichsfilmkammer (Reich Film Chamber);
Member, Reichskolonialbund (Reich Colonial Bund); Wehrwirtschafts-
fuehrer (Military Economy Leader); Member, Circle of Foreign Trade
Experts, Ministry of Propaganda; Member, Circle of Foreign Trade '
Experts for Foreign Economic Questions; President, Vereinigung Carl
Schurz (Carl Schurz Association); Vice President Mitteleuropaeischer
. Wirtschaftstag (Central European Economic Diet); Member, Praesidium,
Deutsch-Amerikanischer Wirtschaftsverband (German-American Econo-
mic Association); Member, Vorstand, Wirtschaftsverband fuer Mittel-
und Suedamerika (Economic Association for Central and South America);
Deputy Chairman, Vorstandsrat (Board of Directors), Deutsch-Bulga-
rische Handelskammer (German-Bulgarian Chamber of Commerce);
Member, Praesidium, Deutsch-Norwegische Handelskammer (German-
Norwegian Chamber of Commerce); Member, Ausschuss: fuer Aussen-
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handel und Waehrungsfragen der Internationalen Handelskammer (Com-
mittee for Foreign Trade and Currency Questions of the International
Chamber of. Commerce); Paris; Deputy Member, Kuratorium (Council of
Trustees), Institut fuer Konjunkturforschung (Institute for Market Ana-
lysis), Berlin; Chairman, Suedostausschuss (South-east Committee),
Reichsgruppe Industrie (Reich Group Industry); Chairman, Ungarnaus-
schuss (Hungary Committee), Reichsgruppe Industrie; Chairman,
Deutsche Gruppe des Deutsch-Rumaenischen Expertenausschusses fuer
Industrie-Finanzierungsfragen (German Group of the German-Rouma-
nian Experts Committee for Questions of Financing Industry)), Reichs-
Suedostausschuss (Southeast Committee), Wirtschaftsgruppe Chemische
Industrie; Member, Arbeitskreis fuer Aussenwirtschaftsfragen (Working
Committee for Foreign Trade Questions); Member, miscellaneous Ger-
man political and public agencies and international propaganda associa-
tions; Member, - Aufsichtsrat, Deutsche Gasolin A.G., Berlin; Member,
Aufsichisrat, Deutsche Ueberseeische Bank, Berlin; Member, Verwal-
tungsrat, Stickstoff-Syndikat G.m.b.H., Berlin; Geschaeftsfuehrer
(Manager), Bunawerke G.m.b.H., Schkopau; Deputy Manager,
Ammoniakwerk Merseburg G.m.b. H.,, Merseburg; Chairman, Aufsichts-
rat, Donau Chemie A.G., Vienna, Austria; Member, Aufsichtsrat, Credit-
anstalt-Bankverein, Vienna, Austria; Member, Aufsichtsrat, Chemische
Werke Aussig-Falkenau, G. m. b. H., Aussig, Czechoslovakia; Second Vice-
President, Verwaltungsrat, A.G., Dynamit Nobel, Pressburg, Czechoslo-
vakia; Chairman, Aufsichtsrat, Nordisk Leitmetall A. S., Oslo, Norway;
Member, Verwaltungsrat, A.G. fuer industrielle Sprengstoffe, “Ipari”,
Budapest, Hungary; Member, Verwaltungsrat, Prima Societata Romana
de Explosivi S. A. R. Bucharest, Roumania; Member, Verwaltungsrat,
Azot S. A. R, Bucharest, Roumania; Vice-President, American I. G.
Chemical Corp., New York; and chairman or board member of other
industrial firms, combines, . enterprises within Germany, the occupied
countries, and elsewhere.

JAEHNE:

The defendant Friedrich JAEHNE during the period from 1932 to 1945
was: Member, Vorstand; Chairman Technische Kommission (Engineering
Committee); Chief, Engineering Department, Hoechst; Deputy Chief,
Betriebsgemeinschaft Maingau (Works Combine Main Valley); Member,
Technischer Ausschuss (Technical Committee), of Farben; Member,.
NSDAP; Member, DAF (German Labor Front); Wehrwirtschaftsfuehrer
(Military Economy Leader); Member, Grosser Beirat (Greater Advisory
Council), Reichsgruppe Industrie (Reichgroup Industry); Member, Finanz-
ausschuss (Finance Committee), Werkluftschutz-Bereichsvertrauensstelle
Hessen (Hesse Regional Trustee Agency for Plant Air Raid Protection),
Reichsgruppe Industrie, Frankfurt; Vice-Chairman, and Chief Industrie-
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Abteilung (Industrial Department). Gauwirtschaftskammer Hessen (Gau
Chamber of Economics, Hesse) Bezirksstelle Hessen (District Office
Hesse), Reichsgruppe Industrie; Member, Praesidium, Deutscher Normen-
ausschuss (German Standardizing Committee); Member, Vorstand und
Beirat (Advisory Council), Reichsverband der Technischen Ueber-
wachungsvereine (Reich Union of Technical Supervisory Associations);
Vorstand-~Beiratsmitglied (Member, Advisory Council, Vorstand), and
Chief, Technischer "Ausschuss (Technical Committee), Berufsgenossenschaft
der Chemischen Industrie (Trade Association of the Chemical Industry);
Bezirksbevollmaechtigter fuer Wirtschaftstransporte der Reichsbahn-
direktion (Regional P}enipotentiary for Business Transport of the Reich
‘Railway Management), Frankfurt; Member, Kuratorium (Board of Trus-
tees, Reichs-Roentgenstelle beim Staatlichen Materialprliefungsamt
" (Reich X-ray Agency of the Government Office for Testing of Materials),
Berlin;. MembBer, Grubenvorstand (Mine Management), Gewerkschaft
Auguste-Victoria;, Marl-Huels; Member, Aufsichtsrat, Gesellschaft fuer
Lindes Eismaschinen A.G., Hoellriegelskreuth; Member, Aufsichtsrat,
Alzerke G.m.b.H., Munich; and chairman or board member of nume-
rous industrial firms, combines and enterprises within Germany and the
occupied countries.

KUEHNE:

The defendant Hans KUEHNE during the period from 1932 to 1945 was:
Member, Vorstand; Member, Technischer Ausschuss (Technical Committee);
Chief, Anorganische Kommission (Inorganic Committee); Chief, Betriebs-
‘gemeinschaft Niederrhein (Works Combine Lower Rhine); Betriebsfiihrer
(Plant Leader), Leverkusen Plant, of Farben; Member, NSDAP; Member,
DAF (German Labor Front); Member, Beirat (Advisory Council) and Indus-
trie-Abteilung (Industrial Department), Wirtschaftskammer (Chamber of
Economics), Duesseldorf; Member, Beirat, Handelskammer (Chamber of
_ Commerce), Munich-Gladbach; Member Bezirksarbeitskammer (District

Labor-Chamber), Essen; Geschaeftsfuehrer (Manager), Ostmark Branch
Office, Wirtschaftsgruppe Metallwaren und verwandte Industriezweige
(Economic Group Metalware and Related Industrial Products); Chairman,
Aufsichtsrat, - Duisburger Kupferhuette, Duisburg; Deputy Chéirman,
Aufsichtsrat, A. G. fuer Lithoponefabrikation, Wuenschendorf/Elster; De-
puty Chairman, Aufsichtsrat, Erzgesellschaft zur Erschliessung von Nicht-
eisenmetallen m.b.H., Berlin; Member, Aufsichtsrat, A.G. fuer Chemische
“Industrie, Gelsenkirchen-Schalke; Member, .Aufsichtsrat Rheinisch-West-
faelisches Elekirizitaets-Werk A.G., Essen; Member, Aufsichtsrat, Rheini-
sche Fluss- und Schwerspatwerke A.G. Frankfurt; Member, Aufsichisrat,
Sachtleben A.G. fuer Bergbau und Chemische Industrie, Koeln; Member,
Aufsichtsrat, Chemische Werke Huels G.m.b.H., Huels; Member, Ver-
waltungsrat, Chemische Fabrik Marienhuette G.m.b.H., Fuerstenwalde/
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Spree; Geschaeftsfuehrer (Manager), Titangesellschaft. m.b.H., Leverku-
sen; Member, Gesellschaftsrat (Company Council), Deutsche Aktivkohle
G.m.b.H., Frankfurt; General Director and Chairman, Vorstand, Donau
Chemie A.G., Vienna, Austria; Member, Aufsichtsrat, Chemische Werke
Aussig-Falkenau G.m.b.H., Aussig, Czechoslovakia; Vice-Chairman, Ver-
waltungsrat, A.G. Dynamit Nobel, Pressburg, Czechosldvakia;_ Member,
Aufsichtsrat, Societa Italiana del Litopone, Milan, Italy; Member, Auf-
sichtsrat, Societe Italiana Carboni Attivi, Milan, Italy; Vice-Chairman.
Aufsichtsrat, Lack und Oelindustrie,” Zagreb, Yugoslavia; Chairman, Ver-
waltungsrat, Bosnische Elektrizitaets A.G., Jajce, Yugoslavia; Vice-Chair-
man, Verwaltungsrat, Stickstoffwerke A.G., Maria Rast, Yugoslavia; and
chairman or board member of numerous industrial firms, combines and
enterprises within Germany and the occupied countries.

LAUTENSCHLAEGER:

The defendant Carl Ludwig LAUTENSCHLAEGER during the period
from 1932 to 1945 was: Member; Vorstand; Member, Technischer Aus- -
schuss (Technical Committee); Betriebsfuehrer (Plant Leader), Hoechst
Plant; Chief, Betriebsgemeinschaft Maingau (Works Combine Main Valley)
of Farben; Member, NSDAP; Member, DAF (German Labor Front);
Wehrwirtschaftsfuehrer (Military Economy Leader); Member, Vorstand,
Koch-Institut, Frankfurt; Member, Vorstand, Behring-Institut, Marburg;
Member, Forschungsrat (Research Council), Kaiser-Wilhelm-Gesellschaft
fuer Psychiatrie (Kaiser Wilhelm Society for Psychiatry), Munich; De-
puty Chairman, Aufsichtsrat, A.G. zur Gemeinnuetzigen Beschaffung von
Wohnungen, Frankfurt; Member, Aufsichtsrat, Behringwerke A.G., Mar-
burg; and c¢hairman or board member of other industrial firms, combmes
and enterpnses within Germany and the occupied countnes

MANN:

The defendant Wilhelm Rudolf MANN during the period from.1932
to 1945 was: Member, Vorstand; Member, Kaufmaennischer Ausschuss
(Commercial Committee); Member, Ostasien-Ausschuss (East Asia Com-
mittee); Chairman, Ostausschuss (East Committee); Member, Pharmazeu-
tische Hauptkonferenz (Pharmaceutical Main Committee); Member, Phar-
mazeutische Wissenschaftliche und Technische Zeniralkonferenz (Phar-
maceutical Scientific and Technical Central Committee); Chief Verkaufs-
gemeinschaft Pharmazeutica und Pflanzenschutz (Sales Combine Phar-
maceuticals and Plant Protective Agents) of Farben; Member; NSDAP;
Sturmfuehrer (Lieutenant) SA; Member, DAF (German Labor Front);
Reichswirtschaftsrichter (Reich Economic Judge); Member, Grosser Beirat
(Greater Advisory Council), Reichsgruppe Industrie (Reich Group Indus-
try); Chairman, Kolonialwirtschaftlicher Ausschuss (Colonial Economy
Committee), Reichsgruppe Industrie; Member, Werberat der Deutschen
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Wirtschaft (Council for Propaganda of German Economy), Ministry of
Propaganda; Member, Ausschuss fuer Allgem. Angelegenheiten (Com-
mittee for General Affairs) and Ausschuss fuer Auslandswerbung (Com-
mittee for Foreign Propaganda), Werberat der Deutschen Vyii‘tschaft;
Member, Beirat (Advisory Council), Forschungsinstitut fuer Werbewissen-
schaft (Research Institute for Science of Propaganda) Berlin; Member,
Staendiger Beirat (Permanent Advisory Council), Wirtschaftsstelle des
Reichsverbandes der deutschen Zeitungsverleger (Economy Office of the
Reich Union of German Newspaper Publishers), Berlin; President, Gesell-
schaft .fuer Konsumforschung (Society for Consumer Research), Berlin;
Member, Verwaltungsrat, Institut fuer Wirtschaftsbeobachtung der deut-
schen Fertigware (Institute for Economic Observation of German Finished
Goods), Nuernberg; Deputy Chairman, Aufsichtsrat, Behringwerke A.G.,
Marburg; Deputy Chairman, Aufsichtsrat, Chemisch-Pharmazeutische
A.G. Homburg, Frankfurt; Chairman, Verwaltungsrat, “Degesch”, Deut-
sche Gesellschaft fuer Schaedlingsbekaempfung G.m.b.H., Frankfurt,
Chairman, Aufsichtsrat Chemosan Union A.G., Vienna, Austria; Chair-
man, Aufsichtsrat, Hellco A.G., Troppau, Czechoslovakia; and Chairman
“or board member of other industrial firms, combines, enterprises within
Germany, the/occupied countries and elsewhere.

OSTER:

The defendant Heinrich OSTER during the period from 1932 to 1945
was: Member, Vorstand; Member, Kaufmaennischer Ausschuss (Commer-
cial Committee); Member, Ostasien-Ausschuss (East Asia Committee)
Chief, Verkauf Stickstoff und Oel (Sales Organization Nitrogen and Oil}
of Farben; Member, NSDAP; Foerderndes Mitglied (Supporting member),
SS-Reitersturm; Member, DAF " (German Labor Front); Chief, Fachab-
teilung Stickstoff (Sub-department Nitrogen); Wirtschaftsgruppe Chemi-
sche Industrie (Economic Group Chemical Industry); Member, Arbeits-
kammer. (Labor Chamber), Berlin-Brandenburg; Member, Unterausschuss
Duengemittel und Sprengstoffe (Sub-Committee Fertilizers and Explo-
sives), Gau Berlin; Member, Hauptausschuss Chemie (Main Committee
Chemistry); Gau Greater Berlin; Geschaeftsfuehrer (Manager), Stickstoff-
Syndikat G.m.b.H., Berlin; Geschaeftsfuehrer, Stickstoff Ost G.m.b.H.,
Berlin; Deputy Geschaeftsfuehrer- Ammoniakwerk Merseburg G.m.b.H.,
Merseburg; Member, Aufsichtsrat, Sueddeutsche Kalkstickstoff A. G,
Trostberg; Member, Aufsichtsrat, Stickstoffwerke Ostmark A.G., Linz,
Austria; Member, Vorstand, Norsk Hydro Elektrisk Kvaelstofaktiesels-
kabet Oslo, Norway; Member, Aufsichtsrat, Stickstoffwerke A.G., Maria
Rast, Yugoslavia; and chairman .or board member of other industrial
firms, combines, enterprises and banks within Germany, the occupied
countries- and elsewhere. .- - :
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WURSTEB: / o ) :

The defendant Carl WURSTER during the period from 1932 to 1945
was: Member, Vorstand; Member, Technischer Ausschuss (Technical
Committee); Chief, Betriebsgemeinschaff Oberrhein (Works Combine
Upper Rhine); Betriebsfuehrer Plant Leader, Ludwigshafen-Oppau,;
Member, Chemikalien-Ausschuss (Chemicals Committee); Chairman, An-
organische Kommission (Inorganic Committee) of Farben; Member, -
NSDAP; Member, DAF (German Labor Front); Wehrwirtschaftsfuehrer
(Military Economy Leader); holder of Ritterkreuz des Kriegsverdienst-
kreuzes (Knight’s Cross of the War Merit Cross); Collaborator of Krauch
in Four Year Plan, Amt fuer Deutsche Roh~ und Werkstoffe (Office for
German Raw Materials and Synthetics); Acting vicechairman and
member, Praesidium, Wirtschaftsgruppe Chemische Industrie (Economic
Group Chemical Industry); Chief, and Chairman, Technischer Ausschuss’
(Technical- Committee), Fachgruppe Schwefel und Schwefelverbindungen
(Sub-Group for Suphur and Sulphur Compounds), Wirtschaftsgruppe
Chemische Industrie; Member, Beirat (Advisory Council), and Bezirks-
obmann (District Chairman), Saarpfalz, Wirtschaftsgruppe Chemische
Industrie; Member, Beirat, Wirtschaftskammer Westmark (Chamber of
Economics Westmark), Saarbruecken; President, Wirtschaftskammer
Ludwigshafen (Chamber of Economics, Ludwigshafen); Member, Auf-
sichtsrat, Sueddeutsche Holzverzuckerungswerke A.G., Regensburg;
Member, Aufsichtsrat, Duisburger Kupferhuette, Duisburg; and chair-
man or board member of other industrial firms, combines, enterprises
. within Germény, the occupied countries,*and elsewhere. .

\

DUERRFELD:

The defendant Walter DUERRFELD during the period from 1932 to
1945 was: Director; Chief Engineer, Leuna Works; Director and Con- .
struction Manager, Buna-Auschwitz Plant and Monowitz Concentration
Camp of Farben; Member, NSDAP; Member, DAF (German Labor
Front); Hauptsturmfuehrer (Captain), NSFK; Bezirksobmann (District
Chairman); upper Silesia, Wirtschaftsgruppe Chemische . Industrie
(Economic Group Chemical Industry).

GATTINEAU:

The defendant Heinrich GATTINEAU during the period from 1932
fo 1945, was: Director: Chief, Wirtschaftspolitische Abteilung, WIPO
(Economic Policy Department); Deputy Liaison Officer of the. 1. G.
Sparten (Divisions) for Austria;. Member, Suedosteuropa-Ausschuss
(Southeast Europe Committee) of Farben; Member, NSDAP; Standarten-
fuehrer (Colonel) SA; Member, DAF (German Labor Front); Member,
Werberat der Deutschen Wirtschaft (Council for Propaganda of German
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Economy), Ministry of Propaganda; Member, Committee for Sou'th'east‘
. Europe, Wirtschaftsgruppe Chemische Industrie (Economic Group Che-

mical -Industry); Member, Vorstand, Donau Chemie A.G., Vienna,

‘Austria; Acting Director, A.G. Dynamit Nobel, Pressburg, Czechoslo-

vakia; Acting Director, Chemische Industrie A. G., Pressburg, Czecho-

slovakia; Member, Vorstand, Ostslowakische Chemische Fabrik A. G,

Kostolany, Czechoslovakia; Member, Verwaltungsrat, Dynamona A. G,

Pressburg, Czechoslovakia; Member, Verwaltungsrat, Apollo Naphta-

handels A.G., Prague, Czechoslovakia; Member, Verwaltungsrat, Nobel-

Bickford A.G., Pressburg, Czechoslovakia, Member, Verwaltungsrat,

Apollo Mineraloel Raffinerie A. G., Pressburg, Czechoslovakia; Member,

Verwaltungsrat, Stickstoffwerke A. G., Maria Rast, Yugoslavia; Chair-

man, Verwaltungsrat, Lack- und Oelindustrie A. G., Zagreb, Yugoslavia,

Chairman, Verwaltungsrat, A.G., Dynamit Nobel, Belgrade, Yugoslavia;

Member, Verwaltungsrat Bosnische Elektrizitaets A. G., Jajce, Yugo-,
slavia; Member, Verwaltungsrat, A.G. fuer Sprengstoff und Chemische.
Produkte, Zagreb, Yugoslavia; Member, Verwaltungsrat, Azot S. A. R.,

Bucharest, Roumania; Member, Verwaltungsrat, Prima Societata

Romana de Explosiv; S. A. R., Bucharest, Roumania; Member, Ver-

waltungsrat, Nitrammonia S. A. R., Bucharest, Roumania; Member, Ver-

waltungsrat, A. G. fuer industrielle Sprengstoffe, “Ipari”, Budapest,

Hungary; and chairman or board member of other industrial firms, com-

bines and enterprises within Germany and the occupied countries.

VON DER HEYDE: )

The defendant Erich von der HEYDE during the period from 1932
to 1945 was: Prokurist; Member, Wirtschaftspolitische Abteilung, WIPO
(Economic Policy Department); Chief, Liaison Office, Nitrogen and
Gasoline, Berlin NW 7; Deputy to Schneider, Hauptabwehrbeauftragter
(Counter-Intelligence Agent), Counter-Intelligence Branch- OKW, in
charge of defense and counter-intelligence of Berlin NW 7, of Farben;
Member, NSDAP; Member, DAF (German Labor Front); Hauptsturm-
fuehrer (Captain) SS; Member of Wehrwirtschfats-Ruestungsamt (Mili-
tary Economics and Armament Office) of OKW. '
KUGLER: ) ”

The defendant Hans KUGLER during the period from 1932 to 1945
was: Director; Member, Kaufmaennischer Ausschuss (Commercial Com-
n{ittee); Second Vice-Chairman, Farben-Ausschuss (Dyestuffs Committee);
Member,k Engerer Farben-Ausschuss (Dyestuffs Steering Committee);
Member, Coloristische Kommission (Dyestuffs Application Committee);
Chief, Sales Department Dyestuffs for Hungary, Roumania, Yugoslavia,
Greece, Bulgaria, Turkey, Czechoslovakia, Austria, the Near East, and
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Africa; Member, Suedosteuropa-Ausschuss (Southeast Europe - Com-
mittee) of Farben; Member, NSDAP; Member, DAF (German Labor
Front); Deputy Chief, Fachgruppe 16, Teerfarben und Teerfarben-
-zwischenprodukte (Sub-Group 16, Tar Dyes and Tar-Dye Intermediates),
Wirtschaftsgruppe Chemische Industrie (Economic Group Chemical In-
dustry); Member, Beirat fuer Exportfragen der Pruefungsstelle Chemie
(Advisory Council for Export Questions of the Supervisory Office
Chemistry); Reich Economic Ministry Commissioner, Aussig Falkenau
Factories, Verein fuer Chemische und Metallurgische Produktion, Prague,
Czechoslovakia; Acting Manager, Teerfarbenwerke Aussig G.m.b. H.,
Aussig, Czechoslovakia, Member, Beirat (Advisory Council), Chemische
Werke Aussig-Falkenau G.m.b.H., Aussig, Czechoslovakia; Member,
Commercial Committee, S. A. de Matieres Colorantes et Produits.
Chimiques Francolor, Paris, France.

APPENDIX B

Historial Listing of the Firms which were
Merged in 1926 to Form FARBEN

In 1904, the first Interessengemeinschaft (Combine of Interests or
Trust) of the German Dyestuffs Industry was formed consisting of the
following firms:

Badische Anilin & Soda Fabrik, of Ludwigshafen
Farbenfabriken vorm. Friedr. Bayer & Co., of Leverkusen
Farbwerke vorm. Meister .Lucius & Bruening, of Hoechst
am Main '
Aktiengesellschaft fuer Anilinfabrikation, of Berlin
Leopold Cassella & Co., G. m. b. H., of Frankfurt a. M.

Kalle & Co., A. G., of Biebrick

These concerns had been formed in the 1860’s and individually
represented the most powerful chemical firms in Germany. With the
1904 pooling of technological and financial resources, these six firms
achieved an almost complete domination of the organic dyestuffs, phar-
maceuticals, explosives and synthetic chemical industries of the world.

In 1916 the Chemische Fabriken vorm. Weiler — ter Meer, Uerdingen,
and Chemische Fabrik' Griesheim — Elektron, Frankfurt a. M., were
brought into the combine.
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On December ‘9, 1925, the Badische Anilin- und Soda-Fabrik, the
largest of the component firms of the Interessengemeinschaft changed
its name to I. G. Farbenindustrie Aktiengesellschaft, and transferred its
home. office to Frankfurt. Five other firms were merged with Badische:

Farbenfabriken vorm. Friedr. Bayer & Co., of Leverkusen
Farbwerke vorm. Meister Lucius & ~Bruening, of Hoechst
am Main . !
Aktiengesellschaft fuer Anilinfabrikation, of Berlin

Chemische Fabriken vorm. Weiler — ter Meer, Uerdingen -

" Chemische Fabrik Griesheim — Elektron, Frankfurt a. M.

The two firms, Leopold Cassella & Co., G. m. b. H. and Kalle & Co,,
Aktiengesellschaft which had belonged to the 1904 combine were not
included in the formal merger since the majority of their shares were
already held by the other firms. They were included, however, in the
reorganization attending the merger.

In 1926, after the formal incorporation, a number of concerns were
brought into the development' of the combine. Among these were five
of Germany’s most important explosives companies:

Dynamit-Aktiengesellschaft vorm. Alfred Nobel & Co., Troisdorf
Rheinisch-Westfaelische Sprengstoff-A. G., Koeln »
Aktiengesellschaft Siegener Dynamitfabrik, Koeln ’

A. Riebeck’sche Montanwerke A.G., Halle

Koeln-Rottweil A. G., Berlin
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MILITARY TRIBUNALS

. CASE No. 7

 THE UNITED STATES OF AMERICA

— against —
! !
J

WILHELM LIST, MAXIMILIAN VON WEICHS, LOTHAR
RENDULIC, WALTER KUNTZE, HERMANN FOERTSCH,
FRANZ BOEHME, HELMUTH FELMY, HUBERT LANZ, .
ERNST DEHNER, ERNST VON LEYSER, WILHELM
'SPEIDEL, and KURT VON GEITNER,

- Defendants

- OFFICE OF MILITARY GOVERNMENT FOR GERMANY (US)
NURNBERG 1947






INDICTMENT

o

The United States of America, by the undersigned Telford Taylor,
Chief of Counsel for War Crimes, duly appointed fo represent said .
Government in the prosecution of war criminals, charges the defendants
herein with the commission of War Crimes and Crimes against Humanity,
as defined in.Control Council Law No. 1Q, duly enacted by the Allied
Control' Council on 20 December 1945, These crimes included murder,
ill-treatment, and deportation to slave labor of prisoners of war and
" other members of the armed forces of nations at war with Germany,
and of civilian populations of tetritories occupied by the German armed
forces, plunder of public and private property, wanton desiruction of
cities, towns, and villages, and other aftrocities and offenses against
civilian populations.

The persons accused as guilty of these crimes and accordingly named
as defendants in fhls case are:

WILHELM LIST — Generalfeldmarschall (General of the Army) Com-
mander-in-Chief Twelfth Army, April 1941 — October 1941; Wehrmachts-
befehlshaber Siidost (Armed Forces Commander Southeast); June 1941
— October  1941; Commander-in-Chief Army Group A, July 1942 —
September 1942, ‘

MAXIMILIAN VON WEICHS — Generalfeldmarschall (General of the
Army); Commander-in-Chief Second Army, April 1941.— July 1942;
Commander-in-Chief Army Group B, July 1942 — February 1943; Com-
mander-in- Chief Army Group F and Supreme Commander Southeast,
~August 1943 — March 1945,

LOTHAR RENDULIC — Generaloberst (General); Commander—in-,Chief
Second Panzer Army, August 1943 — June 1944; Commander-in-Chief
Twentieth Mountain Army, July 1944 — January 1945; Wehrmachts-
befehlshaber Nord (Armed Forces Commander North), December 1944
— January 1945; Commander-in-Chief Army Group North, January 1945
— March 1945; Commander-in-Chief Army Group Courland, March 1945
. — April 1945; Commander-in-Chief Army Group South, April 1945 —
May 1945,

WALTER KUNTZE — General der Pioniere (Lieutenant General,
Engineers); Acting Commander-in-Chief Twelfth Army, October 1941 — -
August 1942,



HERMANN FOERTSCH — General der Infanferie (Lieutenant Gene-
ral, Infaniry); Chief of Staff Twelfth Army, May 1941 — August 1942:
Chief of Siaff Army Group E, August 1942 — August 1943; Chief of
Staff Army Group F, Augusf 1943—March 1944,

FRANZ BOEHME — General der Gebl-rgsiruppen (Lieutenant Gene-
ral, Mountain Troops); Commander XVIIl Mountain Army Corps, April
1941 — December 1941; Plenipotentiary Commanding General in Serbia,
September 1941 — December 1941;. Commander-in-Chief Second. Pan-
zer Army, June 1944 — July 1944; Commander-in-Chief Twentieth Moun-
tain Army and Wehrmachisbefehlshaber Nord (Armed Forces Commander
North), January 1945 — May 1945.

HELMUTH FELMY — Geﬁeral der Flieger (Lieutenant General, Air
.Force); Commander Southern Greece, June 1941 — August 1942; Com-
mander LXVIlI Army Corps, June 1943 — October 1944,

HUBERT LANZ — General der Gebirgstruppen. (Lieutenant General,
Mountain. Troops); Commander 1st Mountain Division October 1940 —
January 1943; Commander XXI! Mountain Army Corps, August 1943 —

October 1944,

~ ERNST DEHNER — General der Infanterie (Lieutenant General, In-
faniry); Commander LXIX Army Reserve Corps, August 1943 —
March 1944, ' '

ERNST VON LEYSER — General der Infanterie (Lieutenant General,
Infaniry); Commander XV Mountain Army Corps, November 1943 —
July 1944; Commander XXI Mountain Army Corps, July 1944 —
Apml 1945. ) -

L WILHELM SPEIDEL — General der Flieger (Lieutenant General, Air.
Force); Commander Southern Greece, October 1942 — September 1943;
- Military Commander Greece, September 1943 — June 1944,

KURT VON GEITNER — Generalmajor (Brlgadler General), Chief of
Staff fo the Commanding General in Serbia, July 1942 — August 1943;

Chief of Staff to the Military Commander of Serbia and Mlllfary Com-
mander Soufheasi August 1943 — Ociober 1944.

* k¥ ¥

Reference is hereby made to Appendix “A” of this Indictment for
~ a fuller statement of the pasitions held by each of the defendants herein: -
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COUNT dNa

1, Between Sepiember 1939 and May 1945, all of fhe defendants
unlawfully, wilfully and knowingly committed War Crimes and Crimes
against Humanity, as defined in Article 1l of Conirol Council Law No. 10,
in that they were principals in, accessories to, ordered, abetted, took a
consenting part in, were connected with plans and enterprises involving,
and were members of organizations or groups connected with, the
murder of hundreds of thousands of persons from the civilian popula-
tions of Greece, Yugoslavia and Albania, by iroops of the German
Armed Forces under the command and jurisdiction of, responsible to,
and acting pursuant fo orders issued, executed and distributed by,
the defendants herein. The victims of these crimes included persons from
all walks of life — doctors, lawyers, clergymen, artists, teachers, laborers,
farmers — who, regardless of age or sex, were rounded up from the
streets, from their homes, or from their places of work, and placed in
prison camps and stockades. When attacks by lawfully constituted enemy
military forces, and attacks by unknown persons, against German froops .
and installations took place, these persons were, without benefif of
investigation or irial, summarily hanged or shot. They were executed. at
arbitrarily established ratios varying from 50 to, 100 for each German
soldler killed and 25 to 50 for each German soldier wounded.

.. 2. Other thousands of non-combatants, arbifrarily de5|gna1\ed as par-
tisans”, “communists”, “communist suspects”, “bandits” and “bandit sus-
pects”, also without benefit of investigation or trial, were terrorized, for-
tured and murdered, in reiallahon for attacks by lawfully constituted
enemy military forces and attacks by unknown persons against German
troops and .installations. -

3. These acts of collechve punishment were part of a dehberaie
scheme -of terror and intimidation, wholly unwarranted and unjustified
by military necessity and in ﬂagrant violation of the laws and customs
of war, to compel the inhabitants of the aforementioned ferritories to
turnish information concerning the size, strength and disposition of their
national-armies, fo reduce the mtanpower potential of the armies of
resistance, and fo decimate for future generations the native populahons
of these occupied territoties.

"4, Pursuant to, and in implementation of, this scheme of terror and

- intimildafion, the defendants ‘herein issued, executed, and disiributed, ta

froops ‘under their command and jurisdiction, orders for the execution
of 100 hosfages" in retaliation for each German soldier killed, 50
“hostades” in retaliation for each German soldier wounded, 10 hostages”
in retaliation for each person under German protection k|||ed 5 “hos-

5



Y A -

tages” in retaliation for each person under German proiechon wounded
and up to 100 “hostages” in retaliation for each attack ‘upon any “object”
under German protection. ‘

5. The murders and other crimes charged in this Count included,

but were not limited to, the following:

, a. On or about 28 April 1941, the Commander-in-Chief of the Second
.Army ordered the execution of 100 Setbs, taken from all classes of the

population, in refaliation for the death of one German soldier and the

" wounding of two others, and publicly announced that “in the fufure '
100 Serbs will be ruthlessly shot for every German harmed as a result

" of a surprise attack conducted by Serbs”. :

b. On or about 3 September 1941, in Serbia, troops of the LXV
Hoeheres Kommando (Corps Command), under the command and juris-
diction of the Twelfth ‘Army, executed 20 “communists” in reprisal for
the death of three German soldiers killed in a surprise attack on the
Rtanj mine. *

c. On or about 30 Ociober 1941, the Plenipotentiary Commanding
General of Serbia, in his ten-day report to the Commander-in-Chief
Twelfth Army and Supreme Commander Southeast, stated that the follow-

. ing executions had faken place: “405 hostages in Belgrade (tofal up to
now- in Belgrade, 4750), 90 communists in Camp Sabac, 2300 hostages )
in Krageujevac, and 1700 hostages in Kraljevo.”

d. On or about 29 November 1941, in Belgrade, Yugoslavia, froops
under the command and. jurisdiction of the Commanding General in
Serbia executed 100 “hostages” in retaliation for the killing of a Ger-
man sergeant. . |

e. On or about 17 March 1943, the Commandmg General in Serbia
ordered troops under his command and jurisdiction o execute 10 “com-
munists” in refaliation for the destruction of 14 telegraph poles south-

_west of Topola, Serbia during thie night 25—26 February 1943.
- f. On or about 27 June 1943, troops under the command and juris-
dicticn of the Commanding General in Serbia executed 350 “com-
munists” in refaliation for the murder of three German customs officials.
. On or about 15 August 1943, troops under the command and
junsdlchon of the commanding General in Serbia executed 150 hostages
_in refaliation for the murder, on 9 August 1943, of two German soldiers
“and. the wounding of two others on the road near Pozarevac, Serbia.

h. On or about 15 September 1943, the Military Commander of
Serbia and Military Commander Southeast ordered troops under his
command and jurisdiction fo execule 450 “communist suspects” in re-
taliation for the attack of 1 September 1943 on a German column near
Crkvice, Serbia, as a result of which seven German policemen were
_killed and four wounded.

6



i. On or about 15 September 1943, in Croatia, as a measure of
revenge for a railway raid, froops of the 173rd Reserve Division, under
the command and jurisdiction of the LXIX Reserve Corps, executed 40
“hostages” at the place of the raid.

j. On or about 30 Septembér 1943, in retaliation for sabotage on an
electric installation, troops under the command and jurisdiction of the
XXHl Mountain Corps executed 17 civilians.

k. On or about 28 September 1943, in Croatia, troops of the 173rd
Reserve Division, under the command and jurisdiction of the LXIX Re-
serve Corps, executed 40 “hostages” in retaliation for an attack on a
railway.

I. On or about 3 October 1943, in reprisal for an -attack on a motor-
cycle escort in which a non-commissioned officer was killed, iroops under
the command and jurlsdlchon of the XXII Mountain Corps “executed
four hostages at once” and reported that “further reiallahon measures

were continuing”.

m. On or about 1/0 Ociob-er 1943, in retaliation for a raid on a
freight train 12 km. southeast of Vinkovci, Croatia, troops of the 187th
Reserve Division, under the command and jurisdiction of the LXIX Re-
‘serve Corps, executed 20 “bandit suspects” taken from near the place
of the raid. )

n. On or about 26 November 1943, in refaliation for an attack by
“bandits” on the road Tripolis-Sparta, Greece, troops under the com-
mand and jurisdiction of the LXVIHI Infantry Corps executed 100
“hostages” at the site of the attack. :

o. On oir. about 2 December 1943, in retaliation for an aftack on
a railway station southeast of Tripolis, Greece, froops under the com:
mand and jul’lSdlChOn of the LXVIII Infantry Corps execufed 50 “hos-
1ages

p- On or about 5 December 1943, in Aighion, Greece, tfroops under
the command and jurisdiction of the LXVIII Infantry Corps shot 50 “hos-
tages” in reprisal for recent attacks. :

g. On or about 10 January 1944, troops under the command and
jurisdiction of the Military Commander of Greece executed 50 “com-
munists” in re’ral‘iaﬂon for the murder of fwo German policemen.

. On or aboui 21 March 1944, troops ‘under the command and
Jurlsdlchon of the Military Commander of Greece executed 52 “hos-
tages” in Tripolis, Greece and 44-“hostages” in Sparta, Greece as a
reiallahon measure., :
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s. On or about 28 March 1944, while carrying out a mopping-up -
operation, troops of the 7th SS “Prinz Eugen” Division and detachments
. of the 369th “Devil's” Division, under the command and jurisdiction
of the Second Panzer Army, raided numerous peaceful Croafian villages,
burned the inhabitants alive and set fire to their property: 300 persons
were killed at Krivodol, five in Smilici, 40 in Legatori, 65 in Grubi-’
sipici, 80 in Bandovina-Blazévici, 645 in Vostani and 700 in Rudi. In
Otok 22 persons and in Ovrlije 150 persons were. burned to death;
in Sladovici seven persons were shot and the enfire village burned to
the ground R :

t. On or about 5 April 1944, troops of the 4th SS (Polizei) Panzer
.Grenadier Division, under the command and jurisdiction of the LXVIH In-
fantry Corps, bruially murdered 215 persons, mostly old men, women
and children, in the village of Klissura, Greece, in refaliation for the
death of two German soldiers killed in the neighborhood of ihai village
by members of Greek “parfisan” unifs. ’

“u. On or about 10 June 1944, troops of the 4th SS (Pollzel) Panzer
Grenadier Regiment, under the command and jurisdiction of the LXVIII
Infantry Corps, shot and killed, in the village of Distomon, Greece, 300
“bandits” and “bandit suspects” and set the village on fire.

. v. On ‘or about 11 August 1944, in reprisal for an aftack east of
Kukes, Albania in which two cars were set on fire, froops of the 21st
SS “Skanderbeg” Division under the command and jurisdiction of the
- XXI M’ounfam Corps, hanged six “hostages” at fhe place of the aitack.

w. On or about 15 August 1944, in Athens, Greece, froops under
the command and. jurisdiction of the Military Commander of Greece
executed 200 Greek citizens and 100 “communists” in refaliation for the

" death of the German General KRECH, °

6. The acts and conduct of the defendants set fc;rfh in this Count
were committed unlawfully, wilfully and knowingly, and constitute viola-
tions of international conventions, of the Hague Regulations, 1907, of
the laws” and customs of war, of the general principles of criminal law
» as derived from the criminal laws of all civilized nations, of the internal -

penal laws of the countries in which such crimes were committed, and
were declared, recognized, and ‘defined as crimes by Arficle Il of Con-
trol Council Law No. 10.



COUNT TWO

7. Between September 1939 and May 1945, all of the defendants
unlawfully, wilfully and knowingly committed War Crimes and Crimes
against Humanity, as defined in Atrticle Il of Control Council Law No. 10,
in that they were prmCIpals in, accessories to, ordered, abetted, took a
conseniing part in, were connected with plans and enterprises involving,
and were members of organizations or groups connected with, the
plundering and looting of public and private property, the wanton
desfruction of cities, fowns and villages, frequently together with the
murder of the inhabitants thereof, and the commission "of other acts
of devastation not justified by military necessity, in the occupied ter-
ritories of Norway, Greece, Yugoslavia and Albania, -by froops of the
German Armed Forces under the command and jurisdiction of, res-
ponsible to, and acting pursuant to orders issued, executed and distri-
buted by, the defendants herein. The defendants ordered troops under
their command and jurisdiction to burn, destroy and level to the ground
_ entire villages and towns, and, on numerous occasions, to execute the

inhabitants of such villages and towns. Such arbifrary, inhumane and
disproportionafely harsh measures of reprisal dislocated hundreds of
families, made thousands of peaceful non-combatants homeless and des-
titute, and brought untold suffering, humiliation, misery and death to
vast numbers of innocent civilians. * '

8. This program of wholesale devastation was carried out not only
as part of a cruel, senseless pacification-through-terror scheme, wholly
unwarranted and unjustified by military necessity and in flagrant viola-
tion .ot the laws and customs of war, but also in furtherance of a long-
range plan to despoil and retard for decades the economic and indus-
trial potential of the occupied territories.

9. The acts of destruction and other crimes charged ‘in this Count
included, but were not limited to, the following:

a. On or about 10 October 1944, the Commander-in-Chief of the
Twentieth Mountain Army, the defendant RENDULIC, issued an order,
" to froops under his command and jurisdiction, for the complete des-
truction of all shelter and means of existence in, and the fotal evacuation
of the entire cw'lhan populahon of, the northern Norwegian province
of Finnmark. Durlng the months of October and November 1944 this
order was effectively and ruthlessly carried out. For no compelling
mlhtary reasons, and in literal execufion of instructions to show no
sympathy to the civilian population, the evacuated residents were made
to witness the burning of their homes and possessions and the destruc-
tion of churches, public buildings, food supplies, barns, livestock, bridges,
transport facilities and natural resources of an. area in which' they and ;
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their- families had lived for generahons Relatives and friends were
separated, many of the evacuees became ill from cold and disease,
hundreds died from exposure or perished at sea in the small boats
and fishing smacks used in the evacuation, while still oihers were sum-
marily shot for refusing to leave their homeland—in all, the fhorough-
ness and brutality, of this evacuation left some 61 000 men, women and

" children homeless, starving and destitute.

b. On or about 25 September 1941, in Serbia, troops under the com-
mand and jurisdiction of the Commanding General in Serbia were .
ordered fo! burn, and did burn, villages and farms in and around the
plains of Drina and at the bend of the Sava river.

. ¢. During the months of Sepiember and October 1941, in the course
of so-called “punitive expeditions” (Strafexpeditionen), troops under the
command and jurisdiction of the Twelfth Army burned and complefely .
desfroyed the following villages in the Valjevo district of Serbia: Grabe-
vica, Divci, Dracic, Jovanja, Selic, Loznica, Lukavac, Petnica, Popucke,
Babjic, Susoke, Skela, Grabovac, Zabrizje, Siublme, Pricevic and Beo-
luzevic.

d. On or about 15 Augusi 1943, during the course of a reprisal
. raid south of Avilje, Serbia, troops under the command and jurisdiction
- of the Commandmg General in Serbia burned 460 houses

. e. On or about 24 September 1943, during the execu’rion of “Action

Kammerhofer”, troops of the 173nd Reserve Division, under the com-
mand and jurisdiction of the LXIX Reserve Corps, set fire to two Croa-
tian villages.

f. On or about 5 October 1943, in retaliation for ihe murder of a
Regimental Commander and for telephone “sabotage”; troops under the
command and jurisdiction of the XXII Mountain Corps destroyed the
Greek village of Akmotopos and executed its entire population.

. g On or about 16 October 1943, troops of the 187th Resetve
Division, under the command and jurisdiction of the LXIX Reserve Corps,
arrested the inhabitants of the Croatian villages of Paklonica and Vo-
carica as “hostages” and then burned the villages to the ground.

h, On or about 15 November 1943, froopé of the 187th Reserve
Division, under the command and jurisdiction of the LXIX Reserve Corps,
burned the village of Jamena, Croatia. :

. On or about 27 November 1943, troops of the 173rd Reserve
Division, under the command and jurisdicfion of the LXIX Reserve Corps,
" burned the Croatian village of Grgurevci. ‘

j- On or about 1 December 1943, in the course of retaliation ac-
tivities against “bandits” in the district of Korca, Greece, froops under

e
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the command and jurisdicton of the XX1l1 Mountain Corps destroyed one
village and shot all of the able-bodied male inhabitants found therein.

k. On or about 15 December 1943, in the course of confinuing
refaliation activities in the district of Kalavritha, Greece, froops under
the command and jurisdiction of the LXVIIl Infaniry Corps burned four -
villages, completely leveled Kalavritha, destroyed two convents, and
executed 511 male “hostages”.

l. During  the period January 1944 — March 1945, froops of the
392nd Infantry Division, under the command and jurisdiction of fhe’
XX! Mountain Corps, burned, plundered and looted the Croafian vil- .
lages of Dreznica, Pisac, Tuzevic and Vojvodersa.

m., On or about 28 March 1944, troops of the 7th SS “Prinz Eugen”
Division under the command and jurisdiction of the Second Panzer
Army burnled, plundered and looted the Dalmatian villages of Ofok,
‘Ovrnje, Ruda and Dolac Donji.

. n. On or about 15 May 1944, troops under the command and juris-
diction of the LXVIIl Infantry Corps burned fifty houses in the village
of Kimi, Greece, in refaliation for an attack on a German fruck.

o. On or about 11 July 1944, troops of the 369th “Devil’s™ Division,
under the command and jurisdiction of the Second Panzer Army, des-
troyed by fire the Croatian villages of Zagnjesde and Udora,.executing
the male population of those villages and transporting the female
population to the concentration camp at Stolac, Croatia.

p. Oni-or about 13 August 1944, pursua\ni to an order of the Com-
mander-in-Chief Army Group F and Supreme Commander Southeast, the
defendant WEICHS, the Greek village of Karpenision was burned to
fha _ground.

10. The acts and conduct of ihe defendants sef for’rh in :this Count
were .commiffed unlawfully, wilfully and knowingly, and constitute
violations of International Conventions, of the Hague Regulations, 1907,
of the laws and customs of war, of the general principles of criminal
law as derived from the criminal laws of all civilized nations; of the
internal penal laws of the countries in which such crimes were com-
~ mitted, and were declared, recognized, and defined as crimes by

Arficle 1I of Control Council Law No. 10.
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- COUNT THREE

11. Between Sepiember 1939 and May 1945, all of the defendants
unlawfully, wilfully and knowingly committed War Crimes and Crimes

~ against Humanity, as defined in Arficle Il of Control Council Law No. 10,

in. that they were principals in, "accessories fo, ordered, abetted, took
a consenting part in, wefe connected with plans and enterprises in-
volving, and were members of organizations or groups-connected with,
the initiation and drafting of certain illegal orders, and their subsequent '
issuance and disiribution to, and execution by, froop units of the Ger-
man Armed Forces under the command and jurisdiction. of, and res-
ponsible to, the defendants herein. Such illegal orders directed inter
alia that enemy troops be refused quarter and be denied the status
and rights of prisoners of war, and that surrendered members of -the
‘military forces of nations at war with Germany be summarily executed.
Such illegal orders further directed that regular members of the national
armies of Greece, Yugoslavia and ltaly be designated and ftreated

" by troops of the German Armed Forces subordinate to the deféndants

herein as “partisans”, “rebels”, “communists” and “bandits”, and that
the relatives of the members of such national armies be held responsible
for said members' lawful acts of warfare. These orders ‘were carried
out thoroughly and ruthlessly, and as a result thousands of soldiers and
prisoners-of-war were murdered and illfreated-

12. The murders and other crimes charged in this Count ‘included,
bu‘ were not llmlfed to, the followmg

‘a. On or aboui 28 April 1941, 1he Commander-in-Chief of the
Second Army issued and distributed, fo troops under his command and
jurisdiction, an order stating that “whoever appe€ars in the Serbian

~ uniform with a weapon in his hand iransgresses international law and

is fo.be shot to death lmmediafely that “if in any area (of Serbia)
an armed band appears, then evén the men capable of bearing arms
who are seized are to be shet to death, because they were in the
proximity of the band, if it cannot immediately be ascertained  with
cerfainty that they were not connected with the band”, and, further,

” “that the bodies of all persons shot o death are to be hanged up and

‘left hanging”.
I
b. During & period of time after June 1941, all of the defendants

‘herein issued, executed and disir’jbu'ied, to troops under their command

and jurisdiction, an order for the summary execution of political Com-
missars, even fhough such persons were regularly attached to, and wore
the recognized uniform of, members of the established military forces
of enemy. belligerents.
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c. On or about 23 July 1941, the Commander-in-Chief Twelfth Army
and. Supreme Commander Southeast issued and- distribufed, to froops
‘under his command and jurisdiction, an order to punish resistance in
lhe occupied ferrifories of Greece and Yugoslavia “not by legal pro-
secufion of the guilly, but by spreading terror and applying draconic
measures”.

d. On or about -2 October 1941, the Plenjpotentiary Commanding
" General in Serbia ordered troops under his command and jurisdiction
" lo execute 2100 Yugoslavian prisoners of war in retaliation for the death
of 21 German soldiers. i

e. On or about 4 October 1941, the Plenipotentiary Commanding
General in Serbia issued an order to troops under his command and
jurisdiction to give no quarter to members of the Yugoslav National
Army. ‘ ' v

f. On or about 14 October 1941, the Plenipotentiary Commanding
General in Serbia ordered froops under his command and jurisdiction
to arrest all wives, and male relatives aged 15 years and over, of -
members of the Yugoslav National Army and to confine them in con-
ceniration camps. '

g. On or about 2 November 1941, the Plenipotentiary Commanding

General in Serbia issued an order to troops under his command and

jurisdiction fo continue the practice of shooting, after a short inter-
" rogation. all “partisans” captured in combat. )

h. During a period of time after 18 October 1942, all of the defend-
ants herein, except the defendant LIST, issued, executed, and distributed
to troops under their command and jurisdiction an order to execute
in battle, or within 24 hours affer capture, all members of Allied “com-
mando” and “military mission” units, whether or not such persons were
regularly attached fo, and wore the recognized uniform of, duly autho-
rized members of the established military forces of enemy belligerents.

i. On or about 11 September 1943, the Commander-in-Chief and
the Chief of Staff of army Group F and Supreme Command Southeast,
the Commander-in-Chief Second Panzer Army, the Commanders of the
LXVIll Infantry Corps, XXII' Mountain Corps, LXIX Reserve Corps, and®
XV Mountain Corps and the Military Commander of Serbia and Military
Commander Southeast, issued, executed and distributed to troops under
their command and jurisdiction an order for the execution of one staff
officer and 50 men of each Division of the surrendered lialian Army
which, prior fo its surrender, had sold, given away, or destroyed its
weapons, and, for the execution of one officer and 10 men of each such
Division which, prior to its surrender, had -made a motor vehicle unusable.

\ .
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" j. On or about 24 September 1943, the Commander of the XXIl Moun-
tain Corps ordered froops under his command and jurisdiction to execute
the captured ltalian General Gandini and all officers of his staff.

k. On or about 28 Septémber 1943, in Croatia, troops under the
command and jurisdiclion of the Second Panzer Army executed 300
capiured officers of the Italian “Bergamo” Division.

1. On or about 1 November 1943, froops of the 100th Jaeger Division, -
under the command ‘and jurisdiction of the Second Panzer Army, exe-
, cuted two captured colonels, the Operations and Supply Officers res-
pechvely, of fhe ltalianw Ninth Army. ,

13. The acts and conduct of the defendants set forth in this Count
‘were committed unlawfully, wilfully, and knowingly and constitute
violations of international conventions, of the Hague Regulations, 1907,
of the Prisoner-of-War Convenfion '(Gen_eva, 1929), of the laws and
customs of war, of the general principles of criminal law as derived
from the criminal laws of all civilized nations, of the internal penal laws
of the countries in which such crimes were committed, and were decla-
red, recognized -and defined as crimes by Article 1I. of Control_Council’
Law No. 10. ®
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COUNT FOUR

14. Betwaen September 1939 and May 1945, all of the defendants
unlawfully, wilfully and knowingly committed War Crimes and Crimes .
against Humanity, as defined in Article Il of Control Council Law No. 10,
in that they were principals in, accessories to, ordered, abefted, took .
a consenting part in, were connected with plans and enterprises in-
volving, and were members of organizations or groups connected with,
the murder, torture, and systematic terrorization, imprisonment in con-
centration camps, arbitrary forced labor on fortifications and enfrench-
ments fo be used by the enemy, and deporfation to slave labor, of
the civilian populations of Greece, Yugoslavia and Albania, by troops -
of the German Armed Forces under the command and jurisdiction of, -
Fesponsible fo, and acting pursuant to orders issued, executed, and
distributed by, the defendants herein. Great numbers of citizens—"“demo-
crats, nationalists, Jews, and Gypsies”,—were arbifrérily seized and
thrown info concentration camps where they were systematically beaten,
tortured, ill-treated and murdered, while other masses of the civilian
population were forcibly conscripted for labor in the Reich and the
occupied territories, transported in frains without adequate heat or -
sanifary conditions, and there, separated from family and friends, were
made to labor long hours under inhumane conditions.

15. The murders, imprisonment in concentration camps, deportation
to slave labor and other crimes charged in this Count included, buf
were not limited to, the following: _

a. On or about 23 September 1941, troops of the 342nd Division,
under the command and jurisdiction of the XVIIl Mountain Corps, were
ordered to place the entire male population, between! the ages of 14
and 70, of the town of Sabac, Serb-ia., in a concentration camp.

b. On or about 6 October 1941, the Plenipotentiary Commanding
General in Serbia ordered froops of the 342nd Infantry Division, under
the command and jurisdiction of the XVIH! Mountain Corps, to clear
the district south of Mitrovica and northeast of Ravnje of its entire
. population and to erect in the nearby fown of Zasaviza a concentration
camp capable of accommodating 30,000 persons.

c. On or about 11 October 1941, the Plenipotentiary Commanding
General in Serbia ordered the execution of 2200 Jews from a con-
centration camp in Belgrade, Yugoslavia.
’ d. On or about 10 August 1943, the Chief of Staff Army Group E
and Supreme Command Southeast issued, executed, and distributed to
troops subordinate fo that command an order to deport the male
populafion of whole villages in the occupied tetritories of Greece and
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.Yugoslavia for forced labor in Germany, and “to answer atfacks on
German soldiers and damage fo German property in all cases by the.
shooting or hangmg of hostages, the desiruchon of surroundmg wl-
lages, efc.”

e. On or abouf 30 November 1943 during “Action Hafenfahrf
- froops of the 100th Jaeger Division, under the command and jurlsdlchon
of the Second Panzer Army, were ordered fo arrest and deport fo the
conceniration camp at Semlin all “communlsfs in the Albanian cifies
of Durazzo and Shijeb. T

f..On or about 2 December 1943, the Commander—m-Chlef of the
Second Panzer Army ordered troops under his command and jurisdic-
tion engaged in the operation. “Panther” to evacuate the male popula-
tfion of Croahan towns and villages for deportation to forced labor in
Germany.

g. On or about 3 December 1943, during Operation “Panther”, the
Commander of the XVth Mountain Coerps ordered froops under his
command and jurisdiction to deport the able-bodied population of
numerous Croatian villages to Germany for forced labor.

16. The acts and conduct of the defendants set forth in this Count
were committed unlawfully, wilfully and knowingly and constitute viola-
tions of infernational conventions, of the Hague Regulations, 1907, of .
the laws and customs of war, of the general principles of criminal law
as derived from the criminal laws of all civilized nahops, of the inter-
nal penal laws of the countries in which such crimes were commitied,
and were declared, recognized and, defined as crimes by Article Il
of Control, Council Law No. 10.

‘WHEREFO*RE, this Indictment is filed with the Secretary General of
the Military Tribunals and the charges herein made against the above- .
named defendants are hereby presented to the Military Tribunals,

y . TELFORD TAYLOR
' Brigadier General, USA _
Chief of Counsel for War Crimes
Acting on behalf of the United Sfates of America

o .
~ Nurnberg, 10 May 1947 -
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APPENDIX A,

Statement of Milifary Comm_ands Held by Each of the Defendants,.
" September, 1939 fo May, 1945

The followmg is a list of the high military commands held by each
of the defendants in the German Armed Forces during the period
September 1939 — May 1945, Each:of the defendants, in holding and -
exercising these commands, committed War Crimes and Crimes agamsf
Humanity as set forth in this Indictment. .

LIST: : i B

The defendani Wilhelm LIST during the period Sepiember 1939——
May 1945 was: (1939) Commander-in-Chief Fourteenth Army during
the campaign against Poland; (1939—1940) Commander-in-Chief Twelfth
Army in the West; (1941) Commander-in-Chief Twelfth Army and
Supreme Commander Southeast during the campaign agains!, and
subsequent occupation of, Greece; (1942) Commander-in-Chief Army
Group “A” on the Eastern Front; refired on 10 September, 1942,

Decorations:

Ritterkreuz [Knlghls Cross); Slovakisches Slegerkreuz [Slovaklan Yie-
tory Cross); Grobkreuz des Heiligen Aléxander mit Schwert {Grand Cross
of the Holy Alexander with Sword], Grohkreuz des Ungarischen Mili-
taerischen Verdienstordens mif Schwert {Grand ,Cross of the Hungarlan
Military Order of Merit with Sword); Michael der Tapfere ll. und lll-Klasse
(Order of Michael the Brave 2nd and 3rd Class); Grohoffizier des Orden
vom Haus Savoyen mit Schwert (Officer of the Orders of the House of
Savoy with Sword).

Promotions: : i

(1939) Generaloberst (General) (18 July 1940) Generalfeldmarschall
(General of the Army). .

WEICHS:

The defendant Maximilian von WEICHS during the period Septem-
ber 1939—May 1945 was: (1938—1939) Commanding General Xili In-
fantry Corps during the occupations of Austria, the Sudetenland, and

| t
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Czechoslovakia, and during the campaign against Poland; (1940—1942)
Commander-in-Chief Second Army during the campaigns against the
Low Countries, France, Yugoslavia and Russia; (1942—1943) Commander-
'in-Chief Army Group “B” on the Eastern Front; (1943—1945) Com-
mander-in-Chief Army Group “F” and Supreme Commander Southeast
during the occupations of Greece, Yugoslavna and Albama, March 1945

—May 1945 Fuehrer Reserve

Decorations: .

Spange zum E.K. Il und zum E K. I [Clasp to the Iron Cross 1st and
Cross); Eicherflaub zum Ritterkreuz des E.K. (Oak Leai to the Knight's
2nd Class); Ritterkreuz des Eisernen Kreuzes {Knight's Cross of the lron
Cross of the Iron Cross); Grofkkreuz zum Ungdarischen Verdienstorden
{Grand Cross to the Hungarian Order for Metiforious Service); Orden
der Italienischen Kronle (Order of the Italian Crown); Bulgarischer St. Ale-
xander Orden (Bulgarian St. Alexander Order] Kroatischer Zvonimir
Orden (Croatian Zvonimir Order).

Promotions: ‘ ‘ ,
(1936) General der Kavallerie (Lieutenant General, Cavalry); (1940)
Generaloberst (General); -(1943) Generalfeldmarschall (General of the

Army).

RENDULIC

The defendant Lothar RENDULIC during the period Sepfembnr 1939
—~May 1945 was: (1939) Chief of Staff XVIl Infantry Corps during the
campaign against Poland; (1940) Commanding General 14th Infantry
Division during the campaigns against the Low Countries and France;
(1940—1942) Commanding General 52nd Infantry Division during the
occupation of France and the campaign against Russia; (1942—1943)
Commandmg General XXXV Army Corps on the Eastern Front; (1943
—1944) Commander-in-Chief Second Panzer Army during the occupa-
tion of Yugoslavia and Albania; (1944) Commander-in-Chief Twentieth
Mountain Army in Finland and Norway and Commander-in-Chief Armed
.Forces in Norway; (1945) Commander-in-Chief Army Group North in
East Prussia, Commander-in-Chief Army Group Courland and Comman-
der-in-Chief Army Group South.

Decorations: } ‘

Eisernes Kreuz | and Il {lron Cross 1st and 2nd Class); Deutsches
Kreuz in Gold (German Cross in Gold}; Rifterktreuz des Eisernen, Kreu- -
zes [Knight's Cross of the Iron Cross); Ostmedaille (Eastern Medal);
Eichenlaub zum Ritterkreuz mit Schwertern [Oak Leaves with Swords to
the Iron Cross).,
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Promotions: . T ‘ : > .

(September 1939) Oberst (Colonel); (December 1939) Generalmajor
(Brigadier General); (1941) Generalleutnant (Major General); (1942) Ge-
neral der Infanterie (Lieutenant General, Infantry); (1944) Generaloberst
{General). | © -

Became a member of the Ausirian Nazi Party in 1932,
Austrian Military’ Aftache in Paris, France (1934—1 936).

KUNTZE:

. The defendant Walter KUNTZE during the period September 1939 to

May 1945 was: (1940, 1941) Commanding General of XXIV Infantry
Corps during the campaigns against the Low Countiries, France and
Russia; (1941) Deputy of Field Marshal LIST, Commander-in-Chief Twelfth
Army Armed Forces Commander Southeast; (1942—1945) in charge of
fraining of Replacement Army; (Autumn 1944) in charge of work on
the West Wall.

Decorations: : .
Spange zum EK. il und EK. | {Clasp to Iron Cross 2nd Class and
Iron Cross 1st Class); Ritterkreuz 'des Eisernen Kreuzes (Knight's Cross
of the Iron Cross); Deutsches Kreuz in Silber (German Cross .in Silver};
Schutzwallehrenzeichen (Medal of the Aflantic Wall); Grohkreuz zum
Bulgarischen Militaerischen Verdiénstorden {Grand Cross fo the Bul=
garian Order for meritorious Military Service); Grokorden der Krone
Koenig Zwonimirs (Order of the crown of King Zwonimir). -

Promotions: " : :
(1938) General der Pioniere (Lieutenant-General, Engineers).

FOERTSCH:

The defendant Hermann FOERTSCH during the period September
1939—May 1945 was: (1939) Chief of Staff of Wehrkreis (Service Com-
mand) VIII; (1939—1940) Chief of Staff of XXVI Infantry Corps in the
West; (1940) Commanding Officer of the General Staff Courses in Ber-
lin; (1941) Liaison Officer of OKH (Army High Command) with Twelfth
Army in the Balkan campaign against Greece; (1941) Chief of Staff of
Twelfth Army; (1942—1943) Chief of Staff of Army Group “E” and later
of Army Group “F”; (Summer 1944) Commanding General of the 21st
Infantry Division on the Easfern Front; (1944) Commanding General of
the X Infantry Corps; (1945) Commander-in-Chief First Army on Western .
frontier of the Reich. : . - .

/
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Decorations:
Spange zum Eisernen Kreuz Il. Klasse und l. Klasse [Clasps fo the Iron
- Cross 2nd Class and 1st Class); Deutsches Kreuz in Gold (German Cross
in Gold); Rrﬂerkreuz des Eisernen Kreuzes (Knight's Cross to the Iron

Cross).
Promotions:

(1938) Oberst (Colonel); (1942) Generalmajor (Bngadler General), ‘
(1943) Generalleutnant (Major General); (1944) General der Infanterie
(Lieufenant General, Infanfry) :

Ty

Publications: 1 .

" Most important -publications: :
Krregskunsi heute und morgen (The Ari of Warfare ioday and tomorrow).

BOEHME: “ S
The defendant Franz BOEHME during the period September 1939—
May 1945 was: (1939—1940) Commanding General, 32nd Infantry Divi- -
sion during the campaigns against Poland, the Low Countries and France;
(1940-1941) Commanding General XVIH Infantry Corps, and (1941) Pleni-
potentiary Military Commander in Serbia; (1942-1943) Commanding Ge-
. neral XVHI Infantry Corps in Finland; (1944) Commander-in-Chief Second .
Panzer Army; (1945) Commander-in-Chief Twentieth-Mountain Army and
- Armed Forces Commander Norway.

Decorations: 4
Eisernes Kreuz I, Klasse und Il. Klasse [Iron Cross 1st and 2nd Class]
Ritterkreuz des Eisernen Kreuzes {Knight's Cross of the lron Crossl,
" Deutsches Kreuz in Gold [German Cross in Gold).

Promotions: \
(1939) Generalleutnant (Major General); 1940 (General der Geblrgs-
fruppen (Lieutenant General, Mountain Troops).

FELMY ' ’ ' R

The defendam‘ Helmufh FELMY durmg the period Sepfember 1939
~—May 1945 was: (1939—1940) Commander of Lufiflotte (Air Fleet)
No. I; (1941) Head of the German Mllliary Mission to Irak; (1941) Mili-
tary Commander Southern Greece and Commander Special Staff “F”
(Staff of former M'rlrfary Mission Irak, at that time located in Greece);
(1942—1944) Commanding General of LXVIil Infantry Corps on Eastern
Front, in Greece; Yugoslavia and Hungary; (1944—1945) Commandmg
General of XXXIV Infantry Corps in Yugoslavia.
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Decorahcﬁ‘;s o .
Spange zum E.K. Il and | (Clasps fo the Iron Cross 2nd Class and
1st Class); Deufsches Kreuz in Gold [German Cross in Gold).

Promotions: .
(1938) General der Fheger (Lleuienanf General, Air Force).
Became a member of the Nazi Party in 1940,

LANZ:

The defendant Hubert LANZ during the periad Sepfember 1939—
May 1945 was: (1939—1940) Chief of Staff of Wehrkreis (Service Com-
mand) V; (1940) Chief of Staff of XVIIl Mountain Corps, during the
campaigns against the Low Countries and France; (1940—1943) Com-
. manding General of 1st Mountain Division during the campaigns against
Yugoslavia and Russia; (1943) Deputy Commander of the XXXXIX Moun-
tain Corps in Russia; (1943—1945) Commandlng General of XXl Moun-
tain Corps in Greece and Hungary .

Decorafions: .

Ritterkreuz des Eisernen Kreuzes (Knight's Cross of the Iron Cross);
Eichenlaub zum Ritterkreuz (Oak Leaves to the Knight's Cross of the .
Iron Cross). .

Promotions: ’

(1939) Oberst (Colonel), (1940) Generalmajor (Bngadler General);
(1942) Generalleutnant (Major General); (1943) General der Gebirgs-
truppen (Lieutenant General Mountain Troops). .

DEHNER:

The defendant Ernst PEHNER during. the period Sepiember 1939—
May 1945 was: (1940) Commander of the 87th Infantry Regiment in
Belgium; (1941—1942) Commanding General of the 106th Infantry Divi-
sion during the campaign against Russia and on occupahon duty in
Northern France; (1942) Commanding General of the LXXXIl Infantry
Corps; (1943—1944) Commanding General of LXIX Reserve Corps in
Croatia; (1944) Military Commander Southern France.

Decorations:

Silberne Spange zum Preussischen Eisernen Kreuz I. und Il Klasse
(Silver Clasps to Prussian Iron Cross 1st and 2nd Class), Infanterie-Sturm-
abzeichen (Infantry Assault Medal); Ritterkreuz des Eisernen Kreuzes
{Knight's Cross of the lron Cross); Medaille “Winterschlacht im Osten” -
(Medal ot the Winter Batile in the East]; Orden vom Hel|lgen Zwonimir
(Order of the Holy Zwonimlr] .
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" Promotions:

(1936) Oberst (Colonel), (1940) Generalmajor (Brigadier General),
(1942) Generalleutnant (Major General); (1942) General der Infanterie
(Lieutenant General, Infantry).

" LEYSER:

The defendant Ernst LEYSER during the period September 1939—
May 1945 was: (1939—1940) Commander of 16%9th Infaniry Regiment
during the campaign against Poland, the Low Counfries and France;
(1941) Commanding General of the 269th Infantry Division in Russia;
(1942) Commanding General of the XXVI Corps in Russia; (1943—1944)
Commanding General of XV Mountain Corps in Croatia; (1944—1945)
Commanding General of XXI Mountain Corps in Albania.

De‘col'allo\ns: _ .

Spange zum Eisernen Kreuz I. und Il. Klasse (Clasps fo the lron
Cross 1st and 2nd Class); Ritferkreuz des Eisernen Kreuzes [Knight's Cross
of the Iron Cross); Deutsches Kreuz in Gold [German Cross in Gold).

Promohons

(1937) Oberst (Colonel); (1941) Generalmajor (Brigadier. General);
. (1942) Generalleutnant (Major General); 1942  General der Infanterie
(Lieutenant General, Infantry). :

SPEIDEL:

The defendant Wilhelm SPEIDEL during the period September 1939
—May 1945, was: (1939) Chief of Staff Luftflotte (Air Fleef) I during
the campaign against Poland; (1940) Chief of Staff Luftilotte (Air Fleet)
Il during the campaigns against Poland, the Low Counfries and France;
(1940—1942) Commanding General and Commander of the German
Air Force Mission in Rumania; (1942) Military Commander Southern
Greece; (1943-—1944) Military Commander Greece; (1944—1945) Com-
mander of the Liaison Staff OKL (Air Force High Command) Southeast;
(1945) Commander, Special Field Police Regiment Ill.

"Decorations:
‘Spange zum Eisernen Kreuz |." und Il. Klasse (Clasps o the Iron Cross
1st Class and 2nd Class); various Rumanian and Bulgarian decorations.

Promotions:

(1937)' Oberst (Colonel); (1939) Generalmajor (Brigadier General);
(1940) Generalleutnant (Major General); (1942) General der Flieger
(Lieutenant General, Air Force). .
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GEITNER:

The defendant Kurt von GEITNER during the period September 1939
—May 1945 was: (1939) Commander of an.Infantry Replacement Regi-
ment; (1940) Operations Officer of Wehrkreis (Service Command) Vili;
(1940) Chief of Staff XXXXV Infantry Corps during the occupation of
France; (1941) attached to Staff of Army Group Center during the cam-
paign against Russia; (1942) Chief of Staff to the Commanding General -
and Commander in Serbia; (1943) Chief of Siaff to the Military Com-
mander of Serbia and Military Commander South-East.

Decorations:

- Spangen zum Eisernen Kreuz |. und ll. Klasse (Clasps to the Iron
Cross 1st and 2nd Class); Kriegsverdienstkreuz ‘1l. Klasse (War Merit.
Cross 2nd Class). S

' Promotions:

(1936) Major der Reserve (Major, Reserve Officer); (1940) Oberst- -
leutnant (Lieutenant Colonel); (1942) Oberst (Colonel); (1944) ‘General-
major (Brigadier General).

Became a member of the Nazi Pai’iy in Spring, 1938.
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MILITARY TRIBUNALS

CASE No. 8

THE UNITED STATES OF AMERICA
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INDICTMENT

The United States of America, by the undersigned Telford Taylor,
Chief of Counsel for War Crimes, duly appointed to represent said
Government in the prosecution of war criminals, charges that the
defendants herein committed Crimes against Humanity and War Crimes,
as defined in Control Council Law No. 10, duly enacted by the Allied
Control Council on 20 December 1945. These crimes included murders,
brutalities, cruelties, tortures, afrocities, deportation, enslavement, plun-
der of property, persecutions and other inhumane acts, as set forth in
Counts One and Two of this Indiciment. All but one of the defendants
herein are further charged with membership in a Criminal Organization,
as sef forth in Count Three of this Indicfment. :

. The persons accused as guilty of these crimes and accordingly named
as defendants in this case are:

ULRICH GREIFELT—Obergruppenfuehrer in Die Schutzstaffeln der
Nationalsozialistischen Deutschen Arbeiterpartei (commonly known ' as
the "SS”) and General of Police (L. General); Chief of the Main Staff
Office (Stabshauptamt) of the Reichs Commissioner for the Strengthen-
ing of Germanism (Reichskommissar fuer die Festigung des deutschen
Volkstums, commonly known as the "RKFDV"); Chief of Amisgruppe "B”
of the Main Staff Office. :

RUDOLF CREUTZ—Oberfuehrer (Senior Colonel) in the SS; Deputy
to GREIFELT and Chief of Amisgruppe "A" of the Main Stalf Office
of the RKFDV, .

. KONRAD MEYER-HETLING—Oberfuehrer (Senior Colonel) in the SS;
Chief of Amisgruppe "C" of the Main Staff Office of the RKFDV.

OTTO SCHWARZENBERGER—Oberfuehrer (Senior Colonel) in the
S5S; Chief of Amt V in Amfsgruppe "B" of the Main Staff Office of the
RKFDV.

_ HERBERT HUEBNER—Standartenfuehrer (Colonel) in the SS; Chief of
Branch Office Posen of the Main Staff Office of the RKFDV and local
representative of the SS Main Race and Settlement Office (Rasse und
Siedlungshauptamt, commonly known as "RuSHA") for the Warthegau.

WERNER LORENZ—Obergruppenfuehrer in the SS and General of
the Waffen-SS and Police (Lt. General); Chief of the Repatriation Office
for Ethnic Germans (Volksdeuische Mittelstelle, commonly known as
"VOMI") of the SS.



HEINZ BRUECKNER—Sfurmbannfuehrer (Major) in fhe SS; Chief of
Amt VI of VOMI.

OTTO HOFMANN—Obergruppenfuehrer (Lt. General) in the SS;
Chief of RuSHA, lJuly 9, 1940—April 20, 1943; later Higher SS and
Police Leader (HSSPF) for Southwestern Germany.

RICHARD HILDEBRANDT—Obergruppenfuehrer in the SS and Gen-
eral of Police (Lt. General); Chief of RuSHA, April 20, 1943—May 1945,

FRITZ SCHWALM—Obersturmbannfuehrer (Lt. Colonel) in the SS;
Chief of Staff of RuSHA and principal RuSHA representative at the
Immigration Cenfer at Lodz (Einwandererzenirale Lodz, commonly
known as "EWZ ).

MAX SOLLMANN—Sfand'arfenfuehrer (Colonel) in the SS; Chief of
Lebensborn, e. V. (Well of Life Society) of the SS; Chief of Main
Department A of Lebensborn.

GREGOR EBNER—Oberfuehrer (Senior Colonel) in the SS; Chief
of the Main Health Department of Lebensborn,

GUENTHER TESCH—Sturmbannfuehrer (Major) in the SS; Chief of
the Main Legal Department of Lebensborn.

INGE VIERMETZ—Depuiy Chief of Main Department A of Lebens-

born.
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" COUNT ONE—CRIMES AGAINST HUMANITY

1. Between September 1939 and April 1945, all the defendants herein
committed Crimes Against Humanity as defined by Confrol Council
Law No. 10, in that they were principals in, accessories to, ordered,
abetted, took a consenting part in, were connected with plans and
enterprises involving, and were members of organizations or groups
connected with: ~

Afrocities and offenses, including but not limited to murder,
extermination, enslavement, deportfation, imprisonment, torture, per-
secutions on polifical, racial and religious grounds, and other inhumane
and criminal acts against civilian populations, including German civilians -
and nafionals of other counfries, and against prisoners of war.

2. The acts, conduct, plans and enterprises charged in Paragraph 1
of this Count were carried out as part .of a systematic program of *
genocide, aimed at the destruction of foreign nations and ethnic groups,
in part by murderous extermination, and in part by elimination and
suppression of nafional characteristics. The object of this program was
to strengthen the German nation and the so-called "Aryan” race at
the expense of such other nations and groups by imposing Nazi and
German characteristics upon individuals selected therefrom (such im-
position being hereinafter called "Germanization”), and by the ex-
termination of "undesirable” racial elements. This program was carried
out in part by .

a) Kidnapping the children of foreign nationals in order to select
for Germanization those who were considered of "racial value”; '

b) Encouraging and compelling aborlions on Eastern workare fnx
the purposes of preserving their working capacily as slave labor and
nahons,

c) Taking away, for the purpose of exterminafion or Germanlzahon,
infants born to Eastern workers in Germany; ,

d) Execufing, imprisoning in concentration camps, or Germanizing
Eastern workers and prisoners of war who had had sexual infercourse
with Germans, and imprisoning the Germans involved;

e) Prevenfing marriages and hampering reproduction of enemy
nationals;

f) 'Evacuaﬁng enemy populations from their native lands by force
and resettling so-called "ethnic Germans” (Volksdeutsche) on such lands;

g) Compelling nationals of other countries to perform work in
~Germany, to become members of the German community, to accept
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German citizenship, and to join the German Armed Forces, the Waft-
fen-SS, the Reich Labor Service and similar organizations;

h) Plundering public and private property in Germany and in the

* incorporated and occupied ferritories, e. g., taking church property,

real estate, hospitals, aparfments, goods of all kinds, and even personal
effects of concentration camp inmates; and

i) Participating in the persecution and extermination of Jews

3. Throughout the period covered by this Indictment, all of the
defendants herein were associated d‘lrecily or indirectly with the Main
. Staff Office (Stabshauptamt) of the Reich Commissioner .for the
Strengthening of Germanism (Reichskommissar fuer die Festigung des
deutschen Volkstums, commonly known as the "RKFDV”), with the
Repatriation Office for Ethnic Germans (Volksdeutsche Mittelstelle,
~ commonly known as "VOMI"), with the SS-Main Race and Seftlement
Office (SS-Rasse und Siedlungshauptamt, commonly known as "RuSHA"),
and with the Well of Life Society (Lebensborn, e. V., commonly known
as Lebensborn).

4, Heinrich Himmler, Reichs Fuehrer of the SS and Chief of the
German Police, was also the RKFDV. In his capacity as RKFDV he
established the Main Staff Office (Stabshauptamt) with the defendant
ULRICH GREIFELT in charge. The Main Staff Office was responsible,
among other things, for bringing "ethnic Germans” info Germany, for
evacuating non-Germans from desirable areas in foreign lands, and for
establishing new settlements of Germans and "ethnic Germans” in such
areas. These acfivifies.involved transfer of populations, Germanization
of citizens of other countries, deporfation of Eastern workers, deporta-

“tion fo slave labor of members of other counfries eligible for Ger-

manization, kidnapping of so-called "racially valuable” children for
Germanization, participation in the performance of abortions on Eastern
‘workers, murder and plunder of property. ULRICH GREIFELT was Chief
of the Main Staff Office and in personal charge of Amisgruppe B,
-which consisted of the offices for economy, agriculture, and finance;
RUDOLF CREUTZ was Chief of Amisgruppe A, which consisted of the
Central Office and the offices for reseftlement of folkdom, and labor,
and was in personal charge of Amt Z (Central Office); KONRAD MEYER-
" HETLING was Chief of Amtsgruppe C, which consisted of the Central
Land Office and the offices for planning and construction, and was
in personal charge of Amt VI (Planning); OTTO SCHWARZENBERGER
was Chief of Amt V (Finance); and HERBERT HUEBNER was Chief of
Branch Office Posen.

5. The Office for Repatriation of Ethnic Germans (VOMI) was
responsible, among' other things, for the selection of "ethnic Germans”,
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their evacuation from their native country, their transportation into
"VOMI" camps, their care in these camps including temporary employ-
ment as well as ideological fraining, and their indocirination after final
employment or réseftflement. It took large amounts of personal effects
of concentration camp inmates and of real estate, for the use of
reseftlers. VOMI also played a leading part in the compulsory conscrip-
tion of enemy nationals into the Armed Forces, Waffen-SS, Police and
similar organizations. In addition, it participated in the compulsory Ger-
manization of "ethnic Germans” and people of German descent, in the
forcing into slave labor of individuals considered eligible for Ger-
manization, and in the kidnapping of foreign children. WERNER LORENZ
was the Chief of VOMI; and HEINZ BRUECKNER was Chief of Amt VI
(Safeguarding of German Folkdom in the Reich—Sicherung deutschen
Volkstums im Reich). '

6. The SS Main Race and Settlement Office (RuSHA) was responsible,
among other things, for racial examinations. These ‘racial examinations
were carried out by RuS leaders (Rasse und Siedlungs-Fuehrer) or their
staff members, called racial examiners (Eignungspruefer), in connection
with: cases where sexual intercourse between workers and prisoners
of war of the Eastern nations and Germans had occurred, pregnancy
of Eastern workers, children born to Eastern workers, classification of
people of German descent, selection of enemy nationals, particularly
Poles and Slovenes, for slave labor and Germanization, kidnapping
of children eligible for Germanization, transfers of populations, and
persecution and extermination of Jews. OTTO HOFMANN was the Chief
of RuSHA from 1940 to 1943; RICHARD HILDEBRANDT was the Chiet
of RuSHA from 1943 fo 1945; FRITZ SCHWALM was Chief of Staff of
RuSHA; and HERBERT HUEBNER was the RuS leader for the Warthegau.

7. Lebensborn was responsible, among other things, for the kidnap-
ping of foreign children for the purpose of Germanization. MAX SOLL-
MANN was the Chief of Lebensborn and in personal charge of Main
Department A, which consisted of offices for reception into homes,
guardianship, foster homes and adoption, statistics, and registration;
GREGOR EBNER was the Chief of the Main Health Department; GUEN-
THER TESCH was the Chief of the Main Legal Department; and INGE
VIERMETZ was Deputy Chief of Main Department A. .

8. The RKFDV Main Staff Office, VOMI, RuSHA, and Lebensborn
were inter-related in their operations, purposes, and functions. The Main
Staff- Office was the driving force for cafrying out the program set
forth above in Paragraph 2. VOMI, RuSHA and Lebensborn participated
in the execution of various portions of this program. RuSHA, in carrying
out racial investigations and examinations, took a leading part in the
accomplishment of . the program. Since negative results of racial in-
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vestigations and examinations led to the extermination or imprisonment
in concentration camps of the individuals concerned, the Main Staff
Office, as well as VOMI], RuSHA and Lebensborn, acled in close
cooperation with the SS Reich Main Security Office (SS Reichssicher-
heitshauptamt, commonly known as the "RSHA"). The RSHA imposed
capital punishment and imprisonment in conceniration camps upon
individuals designated by RuSHA, after examination, and upon those
persons who resisted measures which the Main Staff Office, VOMI,
RuSHA and Lebensborn sought fo carry out.

9. The ties between the Main Staff Office, VOMI, RuSHA and Lebens-
born were not only organizational but also personal. Higher SS and |
Police leaders, such as the defendant OTTO HOFMANN, after his
“resignation as Chief of RuSHA, represented at the same time the RKFDV.
In some instances, RuS leaders also represented Lebensborn.

10. The fundamental purpose of the four organizations described as
set forth above in Paragraphs 4 to 9 inclusive, was to proclaim and
safeguard the supposed superiority of "Nordic” blood, and to exter-
minate and suppress all sources which might "dilute” or "taint” it. The
underlying objective was to assure Nazi dominance over Germany and
German domination over Europe in perpetuity. In carrying out the
plans and enterprises constituting a vast integrated scheme to commit
genocide and thereby to strengthen Germany, the defendants herein
parficipated in criminal acftivities, including but not limited to those
sef forth hereinafter in Paragraphs 11 {o 21, inclusive, of this Indictment.

11. Kidnapping of Alien Children. An exiensive plan of kidnapping
"racially valuable” alien children was instituted. This plan had the two-
' fold purpose of weakening enemy nations and increasing the popula-
tion of Germany. It was also used as a method of refaliation and in-
timidation in the occupied counfries. During the war years, numerous
Cze/ch, Polish, Yugoslav and Norwegian children were taken from their
parents or guardians and classified” according to their "racial, value”,
Also included in this program were the illegitimate children of non-
German mothers, fathered by members of the German armed forces
in the occupied couniries. Those children considered to be "racially
valuable” were selected for Germanization and placed in foster homes
or designated children’s homes. In carrying out this program, numerous
birth certificates were falsified and German names were given fo those
children selected for Germanization. The defendants GREIFELT, CREUTZ,
MEYER-HETLING, SCHWARZENBERGER, HUEBNER, HILDEBRANDT,
HOFMANN, SCHWALM, SOLLMANN, EBNER, TESCH, VIERMETZ,
LORENZ and BRUECKNER are charged with special respensibility for
and parficipation in these crimes,
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12. Abortions.  All known cases of pregnancy among deported
Eastern slave workers were submitted fo RuSHA. Examinations ‘were
conducted of the racial characteristics of the expectant mother and
‘father. In the majority of instances, where the racial examinations
vielded negative results showing that the expected child was not of
"racial value”, the Eastern women workers were induced or forced to
undergo aborfions, When the expected child was found to be of
"racial value"” it was taken shortly after birth, as described below in
Paragraph 13. The desired results of this systematic program of abor-
tions were immediately, to keep the women available as labor, and,
ultimately, fo reduce the populations of the Eastern nations. Abortions
on Polish women in the Government General were also encouraged
by the withdrawal of abortion cases from the jurisdiction of the Polish
courts, The defendants GREIFELT, CREUTZ, MEYER-HETLING, SCHWAR-
ZENBERGER, HOFMANN, HILDEBRANDT, SCHWALM, HUEBNER, LO-
RENZ and BRUECKNER are charged with special responsibility for and
participation in these crimes.

13, Taking Away Infants of Eastern Workers. Often cases of pregnan-
cy among workers were nof discovered unfil too late for an abortion
to be performed or until the child was actually born. ‘Racial examina-
tions of the expectant mother and father were carried out. When the
child was determined to be of "racial value”, it was taken immediately
after birth by the National Socialist Public Welfare Association (NSV)
or Lebensborn, for the purpose of Germanization., Numerous children
not selected for Germanization were taken from their. mothers and
placed in designated collection centers for the purpose of extermina-
tion. The defendants GREIFELT, CREUTZ, MEYER-HETLING, SCHWAR-
ZENBERGER, HUEBNER, HILDEBRANDT, HOFMANN, SCHWALM, SOLL-
MANN, EBNER, TESCH and VIERMETZ are charged with special res-
ponsibility for and participation in these crimes.

14, Punishment for Sexual Intercourse with Germans. Czechs, Poles
and ofher Eastern workers or prisoners of war who had had sexual
intercourse with Germans were examined by the racial examiners of
RuSHA. Those who were.found to be not "racially desirable” were
imprisoned in concentration camps or executed. Those found "racially
valuable” were Germanized. The defendants GREIFELT, CREUTZ,
MEYER-HETLING, SCHWARZENBERGER, HOFMANN, HILDEBRANDT,
and SCHWALM are charged with special responsibility for and parti-
cipation.in these crimes.

15. Hampering Reproduction of Enemy Nationals. To further weaken _
enemy - nations, both restrictive and prohibitive measures were taken

to . discourage marriages and reproduction of enemy nationals. The
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ultimate aim and natural result of these measures was to impede pro-
creation among nationals of Eastern countries. The defendants GREI-
FELT, CREUTZ, MEYER-HETLING, SCHWARZENBERGER, HOFMANN,:
HILDEBRANDT, SCHWALM, HUEBNER, LORENZ and BRUECKNER are
charged with special responsibility for and parficipation in these crimes.

16. Forced Evacuation and Resettlement of Populaftions. In occupied
Aerritories enemy populations were forcibly evacuated from their homes
and transferred either fo other occupied fterritories, particularly to the
Government General, or to Germany for slave labor. They were replaced
by Germans and “ethnic Germans”. The laiter were systematically
collected in foreign countries, either occupied or under German domina-
tion, brought to camps and then fransferred to occupied areas from
which the native population had been removed. Before resettlers were
transferred to their final destinafion they were racially and politically
examined by the Staff of the Immigration Center at Lodz (Einwanderer-
zentrale Lodz). "O" Cases, i. e., those who were found "racially valu-
able" and politically reliable were fransferred to Eastern areas. "A"
Cases, i. e., those who were found less reliable but "racially valuable”
were broughiL to Germany proper. "S" Cases, i. e., those found not
"racially valuable” were either sent to the Government General or
refurned to their native counfries. In addition, special actions were
undertaken in France and Belgium tfo transfer cifizens allegedly of Ger-
man descent from these countries either to Germany or fo Alsace-
Lorraine, depending on their political reliability. Those found "racially
valuable” were given German citizenship and settled either in Ger-
many or in the Eastern occupied territories; men of military age were
inducted into the Armed Forces or Waffen-SS; those found not "racially
valuable” were brought to parts of France other than Alsace-Lorraine
or placed in concentration camps. At the same time the populations
of non-German descent in Alsace-Lorraine, Luxembourg, Eupen, Mal-
medy and Moresnet were evacuated. The defendants GREIFELT, CREUTZ,
MEYER-HETLING, SCHWARZENBERGER, HUEBNER, LORENZ, BRUECK-
NER, HOFMANN, HILDEBRANDT and SCHWALM are charged with
special responsibility for and participation in these crimes.

17. Forced Germanization of Enemy Nafionals. After the outbreak
of the war, large numbers of nationals of other countries who were
considered fo be "ethnic Germans” - or of German descent were clas-
sified and registered in the four DVL (German Peoples’ List) Groups.
These four DVL Groups may be broadly characterized as follows:
Group |—"ethnic Germans” aciively pro-German before the occupation;
Group Il—"ethnic Germans” who had been known as such before the
occupation; Group lll—persons allegedly of German descent who could
easily be Germanized, and members of minority Slavic groups which

-
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were considered fo have Germanic affiliations; and Group IV—persons
allegedly of some German descent who were actively anti-German.
Persons in Groups | and H were given full German citizenship while
persons in Groups Il and IV received German citizenship subject to
revocation. One of the main purposes of this procedure was to procure
men for induction into the Armed Forces, the Walifen-SS, -the Police,
and similar organizations, and, thus, to force them to fight against the
countries to which they owed allegiance. Members of these groups
who deserted were executed, Persons classified in DVL ‘Groups HI and
IV were subjected to extraordinary limifations of their economic and
civil rights. Individuals who refused fo file application for Germanization
under this procedure were placed in concentralion camps, their children
taken away, and their property confiscated. The defendants GREIFELT,
CREUTZ, MEYER-HETLING, SCHWARZENBERGER, HUEBNER, LORENZ,
BRUECKNER, HOFMANN, HILDEBRANDT and SCHWALM are charged |
with special responsibility for and patticipation in these crimes.

18. Slave labor. In addition to the DVL program, selected foreign
nafionals without any German ancesiry were sent fo Germany as slave
labor and for possible future Germanization. Most of them were
employed in agriculiure, industry and as domestic help. Those who
refused fo submit to slave labor or Germanization were placed in
concentration camps. The defendants GREIFELT, CREUTZ, MEYER-HET-
{ING, SCHWARZENBERGER, HUEBNER, LORENZ, BRUECKNER, HOF-
MANN, - HILDEBRANDT and SCHWALM are charged with special
responsibility for and participation in these crimes.

19. Conscription of Non-Germans. Nationals of occupied or domina-
ted” counfries who were not of German descent were compelled. to
join the Armed Forces, Waffen-SS, Police and similar organizations.
This conscription was done by VOMI in close cooperation with the
SS Central Office (SS-Hauptamt) and fhrough associations such as the
Association of Germans Abroad (Verein fuer Deutschtum im Ausland,
commonly known as the "VDA"). The defendants LORENZ and BRUECK-
NER are charged with special responsibility for and parhCIpahon in
these crimes.

20. Plunder. The plunder of private and publ-ic property, b‘oih in
Germany and in the occupied ferritories, formed a large part of the
activities carried on by the defendants named herein. Great amounts
of private property were confiscated for use of resettlers or for-other
purposes. Church property and cultural goods were seized for the same
purpose, The 'value of landed property confiscated from Poles and
Jews in Poland alone was esfimated by the defendant GREIFELT af
seven hundred million to eight hundred million. marks. Personal effects
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confiscated from concen’rrahon camp inmates were distributed among -
resettlers. Lebensborn took over Jewish and Polish hospitals and Jewish
apartments and goods. Concentration camp enterprises were founded
by the WVHA (the SS Main Economic and Administrative Office) in
agreement with the Main Staff Office and the proceeds placed in
special accounts. The Main Staff Office was thus a partner in the ex-
ploitation of the slave labor of the Jews and other inmates of con-
centration camps and in the taking over of Jewish property in the
Government General. The defendants GREIFELT, CREUTZ, MEYER-
HETLING, SCHWARZENBERGER, HUEBNER, LORENZ, BRUECKNER,
- HOFMANRN, HILDEBRANDT, SCHWALM, SOLLMANN, EBNER, TESCH
and VIERMETZ are charged with special respon5|b|||ty for and par-
ticipation m these crimes.

21. Persecution and Extermination of Jews. The RKFDV Main Staff
Office was responsible for the evacuation of large numbers of Jews
from the occupied and incorporated ferritories. RuSHA also participa-
ted extensively in the persecution and exitermination of Jews, The
Genealogy Office (Ahnentafelamt) of RuSHA prepared and retained in
ifs files the names of all Jewish families in the Reich and persons
having any Jewish ancestry. This office also participaied in preparing
similar files in the Netherlands, Belgium, Norway, Denmark, Danzig,
and France where it worked together with the RSHA (Reich Main
Security Office). These files were used for enforcing discriminatory -
measures against Jews and preparing transport lists of Jews to be taken
from Germany and the occupied countries to the extermination camps
in the East. The defendants GREIFELT, CREUTZ, MEYER-HETLING,
SCHWARZENBERGER, HOFMANN, HILDEBRANDT, SCHWALM and
HUEBNER are charged with special responsibility for and participation in
these crimes,

22. The defendant HILDEBRANDT is charged with special respon-
sibility for and participation in the extermination of thousands of Ger-
man nationals pursuant to the so-called "euthanasia program” of the
Third Reich, from September 1939 to February, 1940.

23. The acts and conduct of the defendants set forth in this Count
were commifted unlawfully, wilfully, and ‘knowingly and constitute
violations of international conventions, particularly of Articles 4, 5, 6,
7, 23, 43, 45, 46, 47, 52 and 56 of the Hague Regulations, 1907, and
of Arficles 2, 3, 4, 9 and 31 of the Prisoner of War Convention (Geneva,
1929), of the laws and customs of war, of the general principles of
criminal law as derived from the criminal laws of all civilized nations,
of the infernal penal laws of the couniries in which such crimes were
committed, and of Article Il of Confrol Council Law No, 10.
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_COUNT TWO—WAR CRIMES

24. Between September 1939 and April 1945, all the defendants
herein committed War Crimes, as defined by Control Council Law
No. 10, in that they were principals in, accessories to, ordered, abetied,
toock a consenting part in, were connecied with plans and enterprises
involving, and were members of organizations or groups connected
with: atrocities and offenses against persons and property constituting
violations of the laws or customs of war, including but not limited to
plunder of public and private property, murder, extermination, enslave-
ment, deportation, imprisonment, torture, and ili-treatment of and other
inhumane acts against thousands of persons. These crimes embraced,
but were not limited to, the particulars set out in Paragraphs 11 to 21,
inclusive, of this Indiciment, which are incorporated herein by reference, .
and were commitied against prisoners of war and civilian populations
of countries and ferritories under the belligerent occupation of, or
otherwise controlled by, Germany.

25, The acts and conduct of the defendants set forth inithis Count
were committed unlawfully, wilfully, and knowingly and constitute
violations of international conventions, including the Articles of the
Hague Regulations, 1907, and of the Prisoner of War Convention
(Geneve, 1929), enumerated in Paragraph 23 of this Indictment, of the’
laws and customs of war, of the general principles of criminal law
as derived from the criminal laws of all civilized nations, of the infernal
penal laws of the countries in which such crimes were committed, and
of Article Il of Control Council Law No. 10.
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EOUNT THREE—MEMBERSHIP IN CRIMINAL ORGANIZATION

26. All of the defendants herein, except defendant VIERMETZ, are
charged with membership, subsequent to September 1, 1939, in the
Schutzstaffeln der Nationalsozialistischen Deutschen Arbeiierpartei
‘(commonly known as the "SS"), declared to be criminal by the Inter-
national Military Tribunal and Paragraph 1 (d) of Arficle Il of Control
Council Law No, 10. o

Wherefore, this Indictment is filed with the Secretary General of
the Military Tribunals and the charges herein made against the above
named defendants are hereby presented fo the Military Tribunals.

TELFORD TAYLOR
Brigadier General U.S. Army
Chief of ~Counsél for War Crimes

Acting on Behalf of the United States of America

Nurnberg, 1 JULY 1947
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THE UNITED STATES OF AMERICA

~— against —
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INDICTMENT

The United States of America, by the undersigned, Telford Taylor, Chief
of Counsel for War Crimes, duly appointed to represent said Government
in the prosecution of war criminals, charges that the defendants herein ‘
committed Crimes against Humanity and War Crimes, as defined in
Control Council Law No. 10, duly enacted by the Allied Control Council
on 20 December 1945. These crimes included the murder of more than
one million persons, tortures, atrocities, and other inhumane acts, as
set forth in Counts One and Two of this Indictment. All of the
defendants are further charged with membership in criminal organiza-
tions, as set forth in Count Three of this Indictment

The persons accused as guilty of these crimes and accordingly named
as defendants in this case are:

OTTO OHLENDORF -— Gruppentihrer (Major General) in the
Schutzstaffeln der Nationalsozialistischen Deutschen Arbeiterpartei
(commonly known as the “SS”); member of the Reichssicherheitsdienst des
Reichsfiihrers SS (commonly known as the “SD”); Commanding Officer
of Einsatzgruppe D.

HEINZ JOST — Brigadefiihrer (Brigadier General) in the SS; mem-
ber of the SD; Commanding Officer of Einsatzgruppe A.

ERICH NAUMANN — Brigadefiihrer (Brigadier General) in the SS;
Member of the SD; Commanding Officer of Einsatzgruppe A.

OTTO RASCH — Brigadefithrer (Brigadier General) in the SS; mem-
ber of the SD; member of the Geheime Staatspolizei (commonly known
as the “Gestapo”); Commanding Officer of Einsatzgruppe C.

EEWIN SCHULZ — Brigadefithrer (Brigadier General) in the SS;
member of the Gestapo; Commanding Offlcer of Einsatzkommando 5 of
Einsatzgruppe C.

FRANZ SIX — Brigadefiihrer (Brigadier General) in the SS; member
of the SD; Commanding Officer of “Vorkommando Moskau” of Einsatz-
gruppe B. :

PAUL BLOBEL — Standartenfiihrer (Colonel) in the SS member
of the SD; Commanding Officer of Sonderkommando 4a of Einsatz-
gruppe C.

° WALTER BLUME — Standartenfithrer (Colonel) in the SS; member
‘of the SD; member of the Gestapo; Commanding Officer of Sonderkom-
mando 7a of Einsatzgruppe B.



MARTIN SANDBERGER — Standartenfiihrer (Colonel) in the SS;
member of the SD; Commanding Officer of Einsatzkommando la of
Einsatzgruppe A.

WILLY SEIBERT — Standartenfuhrer (Colonel) in the SS; member
of the SD; Deputy Chief of Einsatzgruppe D.

EUGEN STEIMLE — Standartenfiihrer (Colonel) in the SS; member
of the SD; Commanding Officer of Sonderkommando 7a of Einsatz-
gruppe B; Commanding Officer Sonderkommando 4a of Einsatzgruppe C.

ERNST BIBERSTEIN — Obersturmbannfiihrer (Lt. Colonel) in the
SS; member of the SD; Commanding Officer of Einsatzkommando 6 of
Einsatzgruppe C.

WERNER BRAUNE — Obersturmbannfihrer (Lt Colonel) in the SS;
member of the SD; member of the Gestapo; Com.mandmg Officer of
Sonderkommando 11b of Einsatzgruppe D.

WALTER HAENSCH — Obersturmbannfiithrer (Lt. Colonel) in the
SS; member of the SD; Commanding Officer of Sonderkommando 4b of
Einsatzgruppe C.

GUSTAV NOSSKE — Obersturmbannfithrer (Lt. Colonel) in the SS;
member of the Gestapo; Commanding Officer of Einsatzkommando 12 of
Einsatzgruppe D.

ADOLF OTT — Obersturmbannfiihrer (Lt. Colonel) in the SS; mem-
ber ‘of the SD; Commanding Officer of Sonderkommando b of Einsatz-
gruppe B.

EDUARD STRAUCH — Obersturmbannfiihrer (Li. Colonel) in the
SS;*member of the SD; Commanding Officer of Einsatzkommando 2 of
Einsatzgruppe A.

EMIL HAUSSMAN — Sturmbannfithrer (Major) in the SS; member
of the SD; officer of Einsatzkommando 12 of Einsatzgruppe D.

WALDEMAR KLINGELHOEFER — Sturmbannfiithrer (Major) in the
SS; member of the SD; member of Sonderkommando 7b of Emmtz-
gruppe B; Commanding Officer of Vorkommando Moscow.

LOTHAR FENDLER — Sturmbannfiihrer (Major) in the SS; member
of the SD; Deputy Chief of Sonderkommando 4b of Einsatzgruppe C.

WALDEMAR VON RADETZKY - Sturmbannfiihrer (Major) in the
SS; member of the SD; Deputy Chief of Sonderkommando 4a of Ein-
satzgruppe C.

FELIX RUEHL — Hauptsturmfiihrer (Captain) in the SS; member
of the Gestapo; Officer of Sonderkommando 10b of Einsatzgruppe D.

HEINZ SCHUBERT — Obersturmfiihrer (I1st Lieutnant) in the SS;
member of the SD; Officer of Einsatzgruppe D.

MATHIAS GRAF — Untersturmfiihrer (2nd Lieutenant) in the SS;
member of the SD; Officer of Einsatzkommando 6 of Einsatzgruppe C.



3 COUNT ONE
CRIMES AGAINST HUMANITY

1. Between May 1941 and July 1943 all of the defendants herein com-
mitted Crimes against Humanity, as defined in Article II of Control
Council Law No. 10 in that they were principals in, accessories to, or-
dered, abetted, took a consenting part in, were connected with plans
and enterprises involving, and were members of organizations or groups
connected with: atrocities and offenses including but not limited to, per-
secutions on political, racial and religious grounds, murder, extermina-
tion, imprisonment, and other inhumane acts committed against civilian
‘populations including German nationals and nationals of other countries.

2. The acts, conduct, plans and enterprises charged in paragraph’ 1l 5f
this Count were carried out as part of a systematic program of ge-
nocide, aimed at the destruction of foreign nations and ethnic groups by
murderous extermination.

3. Beginning in May 1941, on the orders of Himmler, special task
forces called “Einsatzgruppen” were formed from the personnel of the
SS, the. SD, the Gestapo, and other police units. The primary purpose
of these groups was to accompany the German army ihto the Eastern
territories, and exterminate Jews, Gypsies, Soviet officials, and other
‘elements of the civilian population regarded as racially “inferior” or
“politically undesirable.”

4. Initially four Einsatzgruppen were formed, each of which super-
- vised the operation of a humber of subordinate units called “Einsatzkom-
mandos” or “Sonderkommandos.” Some Einsatzgruppen had, in addition,
other units for special purposes. Each Einsatzgruppe together with its
subordinate units consisted of about 500 to 600 persons. Einsatzgruppe A,
‘operating mainly in the Baltic region, included Sonderkommandos la and
1b and Einsatzkommandos 2 and 3. Einsatzgruppe B, operating mainly
‘in the area toward Moscow, included Sonderkommandos 7a and 7b,
Binsatzkommandos 8 and 9, and special units named Vorkommando Mos-
cow (also known as Sonderkommando 7¢) and Trupp Smolensk. Einsatz-
gruppe C, operating mainly in the area toward Kiev, included Son-
derkommandos 4a and 4b and Einsatzkommandos 5 and 6. Einsatz-
gruppe D, operating mamly in the area of southern Russia, included
Sonderkommandos 10a and 10b and Einsatzkommandos 11a, llb, and 12

5. All of the defendants herein, as officers or staff members of one
or more Einsatzgruppen or their subordinate units, committed murders,
atrocities, and other inhumane acts as more specifically set forth in
paragraphs 6 to 9, inclusive of this Count.

6. Einsatzgruppe A and the units under its command committed mur-
ders and other crimes which included, but were not limited to the

following:



(a) During the period 22 June 1941 fo 15 October. 1941, in Lithuania,
Latvia, Esthonia, and White Ruthenia, Einsatzgruppe A murdered 118,
430 Jews and 3,398 Communists.

(b) On or about 4 July 1941 in“the city of Riga, Sonderkommando 1la
and Einsatzkommando 2, together wilh auxiliary police under their
command, carried out pogroms in which all synagogues were destroyed,
and 400 Jews were murdered. :

(¢) During October 1941, in Lsthonia, Einsatzkommando 1a, together
with Esthonian units under their command, committed murders pur-
suant to a program for the extermination of all Jewish males over
sixteen except doctors and Jewish elders.

(d) During the period 7 November 1941, to 11 November 1941, in
© Minsk, Sonderkommando lb murdered 6,624 Jews.

(e) During the period 22 June 1941, to 16 January 1942, in its opera-
tional areas, Einsatzkommando 2 murdered 33,970 persons.

(f) On 30 November 1941 in Riga, 20 men of Einsatzkommando 2
participated in the murder of 10,600 Jews.

(g) During the period 22 June 1941, to 19 Séptember 1941, in Lithuania,
Einsatzkommando 3 murdered 46,692 persons.

(h) During the period 22 June 1941, to 10 August 1941, in the area of
Kauen and Riga, Einsatzgruppe A murdered 29,000 persons.

(i) During the perioc 2 October 1941, to 10 Octoker 1941, in the vi-
cinity of Krasnowardeisk, -Einsatzgruppe ‘A murdered 260 persons,

(J) During the period 15 October 1941, to 5 November 1941 in the
vicinity of Krasnowardeisk, Einsatzgruppe A murdered 156 persons..

(k) During the pei'iod 24 October 1941, to 5 November 1941, in the
vicinity of Krasnowardeisk, Einsatzgruppe A murdered 118 persons,

(1) On 20 November 1941, in the vicinity of Krasnowardeisk, Einsatz-
gruppe A murdered 855 . persons.

(m) In about December 1841, in the ghetto in Witebsk, units of E1n-
satzgruppe A murdered 4,090 Jews.

(n) On 22 December 1941, in Wilna, units of Einsatzgruppe A~ mur-
dered 402 persons includimg 385 Jews.

(0) On 1 February.1942, in Loknia, units of Einsatzgruppe A murdered
the 38 gypsies.and Jews remaining there.

() On 2 and 3 March 1942, in Minsk units of Ein.satzgruppe A
murdered 3,412 Jews.

(d) On 2 and 3 March 1942, in Baranowitschi, units of Emsatzgruppe A
murdered 2,007 Jews.

(r) On 17 March 1942, in Ilja, east of Wilakia, units of Emsatzgruppe ‘
A murdered 520 Jews, :



(s) On or about 7 April 1942, in Kauen and Olita, Lithuania, units of
Einsatzgruppe A murdered 44 persons.

(t) During the period 10 April 1942 to 24 April 1942, in Latvia, units
of Einsatzgruppe A murdered 1, 272 persons including 983 Jews, 204 Com-
munists, and 71 Gypsies.

7. Einsatzgruppe B and the units under its command committed
murders and other crimes which included, but were not limited to, the
following:

‘ (a) In vabou‘t July 1941, in the city of Minsk, units of Einsatzgruppe B
murdered 1,050 Jews and liquidated political officials, “Asiatics”, and
others. )

(b) During the period 22 June 1941 to 14 November 1941, in the
vicinity of Minsk and Smolensk, Einsatzgruppe B murdered more than .
45,467 persons.

(c) On 15 October 1941, in Mogilew, units of Einsatzgruppe B mur-
dered 83 “Asiatics.”

(d) On 19 October 1941 in Mogilew, units of Einsatzgruppe B partici-
pated in the murder of 3,726 Jews.

(e) On 23 October 1941 in the vicinity of Mogilew, units of Einsatz-
‘gruppe B murdered 279 Jews.

. () During the period 22 June 1941, to 14 November 1941, in its opera-
tional areas, Sonderkommando 7a murde;ed 1,517 persons. '

(g) In September or October 1941, in Sadrudubs, Sonderkommando 7a
murdered 272 Jews.

(h) During the period 6 March 1942 to 30 March 1942, in the vi-
cinity of Klinzy, Sonderkommando 7a murdered 1,585 Jews and 45
Gypsies. )

(i) During the period 22 June 1941 to 14 November 1941, in its opera-
tional areas, Sonderkommando 7b murdered 1,822 persons.

(j) During the period from Septemker to October 1941, in Redschitza,
‘White Ruthenia, Sonderkommando 7b murdered 216 Jéws.

) (k) During the period 6 March 1942, to 30 March 1942, in the vicinity

of Bryansk, Sonderkommando Vi) murdered 82 persons, 1ncludmg 27

Jews
(1) During the per1od 22 June 1941 to 14 November 1941, in its opera-

tional areas, Einsatzkommando 8 murdered 28,219 persons.
:(r‘n)‘ In September or October 1941, in the area of Schklow, Einsatz-
kommando 8 murdered 627 Jews and 812 other persons.
"{n) In Sépterﬁber or October 1941, in Mogilew, Einsatzkommando 8,
participated in the murder of 113 Jews.
~(8) In-September or--October 1941, -in Krupka, Emsatzkomrnando 8
murdered 912 Jews, S s .

\



(p) In September or October 1941, in Scholopenitsche, Einsatzkom-
mando 8 murdered 822 Jews.

(q) During the period 6 March 1942 to 30 March 1942, in the v1c1n1ty of
Mogilew, Einsatzkommando 8 murdered 1,609 persons, including 1,551°
Jews and 33 Gypsies.

(r) On 8 October 1941, in the ghetto of Witebsk, Einsatzkommando 9
began murdering Jews and by 25 October 1941, 3,000 Jews had been
executed. ' ‘ ‘

(s) During the period 6 March 1942 to 30 March 1942, in the vicinity
of Witebsk, Einsatzkommando 9 murdered 273 persons, including 170
Jews. B

(t) During the period 22 June 1941 to 14 November 1941, in its opera-
tional areas, the Group Staff of Einsatzgruppe B, and the Vorkommando
Moscow murdered 2,457 persons.

- (u) During the period 22 June 1941 to 20 August 1941, in the vicinity
of Smolensk, the Group Staff of Einsatzgruppe B and the Vorkommando
Moscow murdered 144 persons.

(v) In September or October 1941, in Tatarsk, the Group Staff of Ein-
satzgruppe B and the Vorkommando Moscow murdered all male Jews.

(w) During the period 6 March to 30 March 1942, in the vicinity of
Roslawl, Vorkommando Moscow murdered 52 persons.

(x) During the period 6 March 1942 to 30 March 1942, in the vicinity
of Smolensk, Trupp Smolensk murdered 60 persons, including 18 Jews:.

8. Einsatzgruppe C and the units under its command committed mur-
ders and other crimes Wh1ch included, but were not limited to, the
following:

(a) During the period 22 June 1941 to 3 November 1941, in the vicinity
of Shitomir, Novo Ukrainia and Kiew, Einsatzgruppe C murdered more
than 75,000 Jews. '

(b) On 19 September 1941 in Shitomir, Einsatzgruppe C murdered
3,145 Jews and confiscated their clothing and valuables.

(c) During the period 22 June 1941 to 29 July 1941, in the vicinity:.of
Shitomir, Sonderkommando 4a murdered. 2,531 persons.

(d) During the period 22 June 1941 to 12 October 1941, in 1ts opera-
tional areas, Sonderkommando 4a murdered more than 51,000 persons.

(e) During the period from 27 June to 29 June 1941, in the v1e1n1ty of
Sokal and Luck, Sonderkomrnando 4a murdered - 300 Jews and 317. Com-
munists. :

(f) In July or-August 1941 in Fastow, Sonderkommando 4a murdered
all the Jews.between the ages of 12 and 60

(8) In September or October 1941, in the vicinity: of Wyrna and De
derew, Sonderkommando 4a murdered 32 Gypsies,



(h) On 29 and 30 September 1941 in Kiew, Einsatzkommando 4a,
together with the Group Staff and police units, murdered 33,771 Jews
~and- confiscated their clothing and valuables.

(i) On 8 October 1941 in Jagotin, Sonderkommando 4a murdered 125
Jews.

() On 23 November 1941 in Poltawa, Sonderkommando 4a murdered
1,538 Jews. .

(k) In about July 1941, in Tarnapol Sonderkommando 4b murdered
180 Jews.

(1) During the period from 13 September to 26 September 1941 in
the vicinity of Krementschug, Sonderkommando 4b murdered 125 Jews
and 103 political officials.

(m) During the period 4 October 1941 to 10 October 1941, in Poltawa,
Sonderkommando 4b murdered 186 persons.

(n) From about 11 October 1941 to 30 October 1941 in the vicinity of
Poltawa, Sonderkommand’o 4b murdered 595 persons.

(0) During the period 14 January 1942 to 12 February 1942, in the
vicinity of Kiew, Sonderkommando 4b murdered 861 persons, including
139 Jews and 649 political officials.

(p) During the period from February 1942 to March. 1942, in the vi-
cinity of Artemowsk, Sonderkommando 4b murdered 1,317 persons, in-
cludjng 1,224 Jews and 63 “political activists.” '

(@) During the period from 22 June 1941 to 10 November 1941, in its
operational areas, Einsatzkommando 5 murdered 29,644 persons.

(r) During July or August 1941, in Berditschew, Einsatzkommando 5
murdered 74 Jews.

(s) During the period 7 September 1941 to 5 October 1941, in the
vicinity of Berditschew, Emsatzkommando 5 murdered 8800 Jews and
207 political officials.

(t) On 22 and 23 September 1941, in Uman, Einsatzkommando 5 mur-
dered 1,412 Jews. ,

(u) During the period 20 October 1941 to 26 October 1941, in the
vicinity of Kiew, Einsatzkommando 5 murdered 4,372 Jews and 36
political officials.

(v) During the period from 23 November 1941 to 30 November 194:1
in the vicinity of Rowne, Einsatzkommando 5 murdered 2,615 Jews and
64 political officials.

" (w) During the period from 12 January 1942 to 24 January 1942
in the vicinity of Kiew, Elnsatzkommando 5 murdered about 8,000 Jews
and 104 pohhcal offmals, .



(x) During thé period from 24 November 1941 to 30 November 1941
in the vicinity of Knjepropetrowsk, Einsatzkommando 6 murdered 226
Jews and 19 political officials. '

(y) From about 10 January 1942 to 6 February 1942, in the vicinity of
Stalino, Einsatzkommando 6 murdered about 149 Jews and 173 political
officials. .

(z) In about February 1942, in the vicinity of Stalino, Einsatzkom-
mando 6 murdered 493 persons, including 80 “political activists” and
369 Jews. ' ' '

9. Einsatzgruppe D and the units under its command committed mur-
ders and other crimes which 1nc1uded but were not limited to, the
following:

(a) During the period from 22 June 1941 to July 1943, Einsatzgruppe
D, in the area of Southern Russia, murdered more than 90,000 persons.

(b) On 15 July 1941, in the vicinity of Belzy, Sonderkommando 10a
murdered 45 persons, including the Counsel of Jewish Elders.

(c) In July 1941, in the vicinity of Czernowitz, Sonderkommando 10b
murdered 16 Communists and 682 Jews. '

(d) During the period 22 June 1941 to 7 August 1941, in the vicinity
of Kitschinew, Einsatzkommando 1la murdered 551 Jews. ,

(e) In about July 1941, in Thiginia, Einsatzkommando 11b murdered
151 Jews. .

(f) In about December 1941, in the vicinity of Simferopol, Einsatz-
kommando 11b murdered over 700 persons.

(g) During the period from 22 June 1941 to 23 August 1941, in Babt-
schinzy, Einsatzkommando 12 murdered 94 Jews.

(h) During the period 15 July 1941 to 30 July 1941 in the vicinity of
Chotin, Einsatzgruppe D murdered 150 Jews and Communists,

(i) During the period 19 August 1941 to 15 September 1941, in the
vicinity of Nikolajew, Einsatzgruppe D murdered 8,890 Jews and Com-
munists.

(j) During the period 16 September 1941 to 30 September 1941, in the
viciniaty of Nikowajew and Cherson, Einsatzgruppe D murdered 22,467
Jews.

(k) During the period 1 October 1941 to 15 October 1941, in the area
east of the Dnjepr, Einsatzgruppe D murdered 4,891 Jews and 46 Com-
munists,

(1) During the period 15 January 1942 to 31 January 1942, within its
operational areas, Einsatzgruppe D murdered 3,601 persons, including
3,286 Jews and 152 Communists.



(m) During the period 1 February 1942 to 15 February 1942, within
its operational areas, Einsatzgruppe D murdered 1,451 persons, including
920 Jews and 468 Communists.

(n) During the period 16 'February 1942 to 28 February 1942, within
_its operational areas, Einsatzgruppe D murdered 1,515 persons, including
729 Jews, 271 Communists and 421 Gypsies and other persons.

(0) During the period 1 March 1942 to 15 March 1942 within its
operational areas, Einsatzgruppe D myrdered 2,010 persons, including
678 Jews, 359 Communists, and 810 Gypsies and other persons.

(p) During the period 15 March 1942 to 30 March 1942, within its
operationrali areas, Einsatzgruppe D murdered 1,501 persons, including
588 Jews, 405 Communists and 261 Gypsies and other persons.

10. The acts. and conduct of the defendants set forth in this Count
were committed unlawfully, wilfully, and knowingly, and constitute
" violations of the law of nations, international conventions, general
principles of criminal law as derived from the criminal laws of all
civilized nations, the international penal laws of the countries in which
such crimes were committed, and Article II of Control Council Law
No. 10.



COUNT TWO
WAR CRIMES

@

11. Between 22. June 1941 and July 1943, all of the defendants herein
-committed war crimes, as defined*in Article II of Control Council Law ]
No. 10, in that they were principals in, accessories to, ordered, abetted,
took a consenting part in, were connected with: plans and enterprises
involving, and were members of organizations or groups connected w:th:
atrocities and offenses against persons and property constituting viola-
tions of the laws or customs of war, including, but not limited to.
murder and ill treatment of prisoners of war and civilian populations of
countries and territories under the belligerent occupation of, or other-
wise controlled by Germany, and wanton destruction and devastation
not justified by military necessity. The  particulars concerning these
crimes are set forth in paragraphs 6 to 9, inclusive, of Count One of this
Indictment and are incorporated herein by reference.

12. The acts and conduct of the defendants set forth in this Count
were committed unlawfully, wilfully and knowingly, and constitute
violations of international conventions, particularly of Articles 43 and
46 of the Regulations of the Hague Convention No. IV, 1907, the Prisoner-
of-War Convention (Geneva, 1929), the laws and customs of war, the
general principles of criminal law as derived from the criminal laws
of all civilized nations, the international penal laws of the countries in
which such crimes were committed, and Article II of Control Council
Law No. 10. ' : '



COUNT THREE
MEMBERSHIP IN CRIMINAI; ORGANIZATIONS

13. All the defendants herein are charged with membership, sub-
sequent to 1 September 1939, in organizations declared to be criminal
by the International Military Tribunal and paragraph 1 (d) &f Article II
of Control Council Law No. 10. '

(a) All the defendants were members of the Schutzstaffeln der National-
sozialistischen Deutschen Arbeiterpartei.(commonly known as the “SS").

(b) The defendants Ohlendorf, Jost, Naumann, Rasch, Six, Blobel,
Blume, Sandberger, Seibert, Steimle, Biberstein, Braune, Haensch, Oft,
Strauch, Haussman, Klingelhoefer; Fendler, Von Radetzky, Schubert, and
Graf were members of Aemter III, VI, and VII of the Reichssicherheits-
hauptamt (RSHA) constituting the Reichssicherheitsdienst des Reichs-
fiihrers SS (commonly known as the “SD”).

¢) The defendants Rasch, Schulz, Blume, Braune, Biberstein, Nosske,
and Ruehl were members of Amt IV of the Reichssicherheitshauptamt
-(RSHA) constituting the Geheime Staatspolizei (commonly known as the
“Gestapo”). :

WHEREFORE, this Indictment is filed with the Secretary General
"of the Military Tribunals and the charges herein made against the above
named defendants are hereby presented to the Military Tribunals.

\

Acting on Behalf of the United States of America ™

TELFORD TAYLOR
Brigadier General, U. S. Army
Chief of Counsel for War Crimes

Nurnberg, 25 July 1947
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INDICTMENT

The United States of America, by the undersigned Telford Taylor,
Chief of Counsel for War Crimes, duly appointed to represent said Go-
vernment in the prosecution of war criminals, charges that the defen-
dants herein committed Crimes against Peace, War Crimes and Crimes
against Humanity, and participated in a commeon plan and conspiracy to
commit Crimes .against Peace, all as defined in Control Council Law
Number 10, duly enacted by the Allied Control Council on 20 December
1945. These crimes included planning, preparing, initiating and Wag\ing
wars of aggression and invasions of other countries, as a result of which
incalculable destruction was wrought throughout the world, millions
of people were killed and many millions more suffered and are still
suffering; deportation to slave labor of members of the civilian popula-
tion of the invaded countries and the enslavement, mistreatment, torture
and murder of millions. of persons, including German nationals as well
as foreign nationals; plunder and spoliation of public and private pro-’
perty in the invaded countries pursuant to deliberate plans and policies
intended not only to strengthen Germany in launching its invasions and
waging its aggressive wars and to secure the permanent domination by
Germany of the continent of Europe, but also to expand the private em-~
-pire of the defendants; and other grave crimes as _set forth in this In-
dictment. ) ‘

The persons hereinafter named were all officials of Fried. Krupp AG-,
Essen (1903—1943) and its successor, Fried. Krupp Essen. The original
enterprise of Fried. Krupp was founded in,;1812. It was transformed into -
a corporation (A. G.) in 1903, which was succeeded in December 1943 by
an unincorporated firm, Fried. Krupp, Essen, in accordance with a special
Hitler deécree. These firms constituted successively the Family Enterprise
of the Krupp family and, together with their subsidiaries and other in-
terests, are -hereinafter referred to as “K_RUPP._” The managing body of
the Fried. Krupp ‘A. G. is hereinafter referred to as the “Vorstand”, and
that of the succeeding ‘unincorporated firm, as the “Direktorium.” ’

‘

The persons accused as guilty of these crimes and accordmgly named
as dlefendants in this case are:

; ALFRPD FELIX ALWIN KRUPP VON BOHLEN UND HALBACH —
Sole owner, proprietor, active and directing head of Fried. Krupp, Essen,
and Fuehrer der Betriebe (Leader of the Plants), from December 1943;
successor to Gustav and Bertha Krupp von Bohlen und Halbach, direc-
ting head iand owner respectively of Fried. Krupp A. G.; previously active
head, Chairman of the Vorstand and head of the War Material and
Raw Materials Departments of Fried. Krupp A. G., Essen; Wehrwirt-
schaftsfuehrer (Military Economy Leader); Deputy Chairman of the
Reichsvereinigung Eisen (Re1ch Association Iron) and member of the
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Presidium of the Reichsvereinigurig Kohle (Reich Association Goal) (here-
inafter referred to as the “RVE” and “RVK’); member of the Verwal-.
tungsrat of the Berg and Huettenwerksgesellschaft Ost G. m. b. H. (here-
inafter referred to as the “BHO”); member of the Armament Commis-
sion (Ruestungsrat) in the Office of the Reich Minister for Armament and _
War Production (Reichsminister fuer Ruestung und Kriegsproduktion);
member of the Nationalsozialistische Deutsche Arbeiter Partei (Nazi
Party, hereinafter referred to as the “NSDAP”); sponsoring member of Die
Schutzstaffeln der Nationalsozialistischen Deutschen Arbeiter Partei) (here-
inafter referred to as the “SS”); Standartenfuehrer (Colonel) of the Na-
tionalsocialistisches Flieger Korps (National Socialist Flying Corps, here-
inafter referred to as the “NSFK”).

EWALD OSKAR LUDWIG LOESER — Member of the Vorstand and
head of the Administrative and Finance Departments of Fried. Krupp
A. G. until March 1943; Wehrwirtschaftsfuehrer; Krupp representative in
the Xleiner Kreis (Small Circle, a group which exercised great influence
over the coal, iron and steel industries) Reich trustee for Phillips Radio,
Eindhoven, Netherlands, in 1944. '

EDUARD HOUDREMONT — Member of KRUPP Direktorium and
" deputy member of the Vorstand, head of the Metallurgical, Steel and
Machine Departments; plant leader (Fuehrer des Betriebes), Gusstahl-
fabrik, Essen; Wehrwirtschaftsfiihrer; Special Commissioner for Metal
Substitutes (Sonderbeauftragter fuer Metallumstellung) in Reich Ministry
for Armament and War Production and the Ministry of Economics
(Reichswirtschaftsministerium); advisor to the administrators of the
Four Year Plan; member of the NSDAP.,

ERICH MUELLER — Member of KRUPP Vorstand and Direktorium,
head of the Artillery Designing and Machine Construction Departments
and coordinator of artillery construction; Wehrwirtschaftsfuehrer; arma-
ments advisor to Hitler; advisor to the War Ministry; head of Armament
Committed (Waffenausschuss) in the office of Reich Minister for Arms
and Munitions; Chairman of the Weapons Development Committee (Ent-
wicklungskommission der Waiffen) of the Ministry for Armament and
War Production; member of the NSDAP,

FRIEDRICH WILHELM JANSSEN — Member of KRUPP Direkto-
rium and deputy member of the Vorstand; successor to.Ewald Loeser as
head of the Administrative and Finance Departments; member of the
NSDAP; sponsoring member of the SS.

KARL HEINRICH PFIRSCH — Deputy member of KRUPP Direk-
torium and Vorstand, and head of the War Material and Machine Sales
Departments; head of the Berlin office, 1943—-45;Wehrwirtscha.ftsfuehr9r;
mempber of the NSDAP. )

MAX OTTO IHN — Deputy member of KRUPP Direktorium and
Vorstand, deputy to Ewald Loeser and Friedrich Janssen, concerned par-
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ticularly with personnel and mtelhgence deputy plant leader, Gusstahl—
fabrik, Essen; member of. the NSDAP.

KARL ADOLF FERDINAND EBERHARDT — Deputy member of
KRUPP Direktorium and Vorstand, and successor to Karl Pfirsch as head
of the Wiar Material and Machine Sales Departments; member of the
NSDAP.

HEINRICH LEO KORSCHAN — Deputy member - of KRUPP Vor-
stand; head of the Department of Steel Plants and deputy head of the
Metallurgical Department; trustee ahd administrator of KRUPP wartime
enterprises in. Eastern and Southeastern Europe; managing director of
Krupp Bertha Werk, Breslau; member of the NSDAP.

FRIEDRICH VON BUELOW — An official  of KRUPP, concerned
particularly wiith confidential, intelligence, and public relations matters;
head of the Berlin office, 1932-36; military and political Chief of Coun-

- ter-Intelligence (Hauptabwehrbeauftragter) at KRUPP, Essen, and direct
representative of Krupp with Nazi officials, the Gestapo and SS; chief of
the Works Police (Werkschutz), Gusstahlfabrik, Essen.

WERNER WILHELM HEINRICH LEHMANN — An official of
KRUPPF, deputy to Max Ihn and in charge of Arbeitseinsatz “A” (labor
procurement); member of the NSDAP.

HANS ALBERT GUSTAV KUPKE — An official of KRUPP, head of
experimental firing ranges at Essen; head of the foreign workers camps
(Oberlagerfuehrer); previously an official of the Army Ordnance Office
(Heereswaffenamdt); member of the NSDAP.

Reference is hereby made to Appendix “A” of this Indictment for a
fuller statement of the positions and activities of each of the defendants.

COUNT ONE — CRIMES AGAINST PEACE

1. All of the defendants, with divers other persons, including Gustav
Krupp von Bohlen und Halbach, Paul Goerens and Fritz Mueller, during
a period of years preceding 8 May 1945, committed Crimes against Peace
as defined in Articlé II of Control Council Law Number 10, in that they
participated in the initiation of inwvasions of other countries and wars
of aggression in violation of international laws and treaties, including
but not limited to planning, preparation, initiation, and waging wars

of aggression, and wars in violation of international treaties, agreements,
" and assurances.



9. The defendants held high positions in the political, financial
industrial and economic life of Germany and committed Crimes against
Peace in that they were principals in, accessories to, ordered, abetted,
took a consenting part in, were connected with plans and enterprises’
involving, and were members of organizations and groups, including
KRUPP, connected with the commission of Crimes against Peace.

3. The invasions and wars referred to and the dates of their initiation
were as follows: Austria, 12 March 1938; Czechoslovakia, 1 October 1938
and 15 March 1939: Poland, 1 September 1939; Denmark and Norway,
9 April 1940; Belgium, the Netherlands and Luxembourg, 10 May 1940;
Yugoslavia and Greece, 6 April 1941; the USSR, 22 June 1941; and the
United States of America, 11 December 1941.

4. In these invasions and wars many rmlllons of people were murder- '
ed, tortured, starved, enslaved and robbed; countless numbers became
diseased; millions of homes were left in ruins; tremendous industrial,
capacity capable of feeding millions of people was laid in waste; and a .
large part of the world was left in economic and political chaos. The

' lives and happiness of two billion people were adversely affected as
the result of these invasions and wars of aggression. )

5. The origins, developmen‘t and background of the crimes Wthh the
defendants herein committed, and of the criminal plans in which they
participated, may be traced through a period of over one hundred years
of German militarism, and one hundred thirty-three years, embracing
four generations, of KRUPP armament making. In World War I
KRUPP's contribution to German might included the “Big Bertha” gun
which terrorized the civilian population of Paris. In World War II,
KRUPP, through the defendant Alfred Krupp, following “an example
set by Alfred Krupp in the War of 1870,” offered Hitler the “Big
Gustav” gun, which shelled Sevastopol. Upon the occasion, in 1940, of
the designation, in Hitler's presence, of KRUPP as a “National Socialist
Model Enterprise,” the award was accepted with the words: “It (the
award) is in honor of a social-political attitude, which, while having its

“roots in a 128-year-old tradition, has developed organically so as to fit
into the new times, into the National Socialist ‘Germany.”

© 6. KRUPP, as the pr1nc1pa1 German maker of large caliber artillery,
armor plate and other high quality armament, the largest private
" builder of U-boats and warships, and the second largest producer of
iron and coal in Germany, contributed substantially to the ability of
the Third Reich to wage its invasions and wars of aggression. When
these invasions and wars were first initiated KRUPP was a gigantic
vertical enterprise composed principally of coal and iron ore mines,
transport units, blast furnaces, rolling mills, shipyards, machine, ar-
mament and other manufacturing plants, the most important units and
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subsidiaries of which are named in Appendix “B” of this Indictment.
In 1939 it consisted of tat least 175 domestic and 60 foreign subsidiary
units. Its interests centered in the Ruhr area and particularly in Essen
where the seat of the enterprise was located, but its branches dotted
the globe and during World War II major interests grew up throughout
Europe. .

7. The restrictions whlch the Versailles Treaty placed upon the
armament of Germany were systematically circumvented and violated
by KRUPP. As the KRUPP Vorstand, which at that time included the
defendants Alfred Krupp and Loeser, said in 1938 of the post-Versailles
period, “Our company decided to preserve the precious experience irre-
placable for the war potential of our people. This we did as the trustee
of an historical heritage *** in order to be ready to execute armament
orders when  the time came.” And Gustav Krupp von Bohlen said,
“Even the Allied snoop commissioners were duped.” In March 1941
Gustav Krupp von Bohlen wrote, “Through years of secret work, scien-
tific and basic groundwork was laid in order to be ready again to work
for the German armed forces at the appointed hour without loss of time
or experience.” Manufacture of tanks started in 1926. Research and ex-
perimental work was done on naval armament, including work on sub-
marines, warships, armor plating and fire control. Remote control of
naval fire was demonstrated in 1929. Experimental work on rocket
designing was started in 1930.

8. The program of the Nazi Party coincided with the aspirations of
the KRUPP firm to re-establish a powerful Germany, with KRUPP as
the armament center. The main points of that program, which were
first announced in 1920 and thereafter continually and publicly reiterated
so as to become matters of common knowledge, were to remove the
restrictions which the peace treaties of Versailles and St. Germain
imposed on the military armament and activity of Germany; to reconsti-

_tute the Wehrmacht; and to acquire, by any means deemed opportune,

including war, the territories lost by Germany as the result of the Wo~1d
War of 1914—1918 and other territories asserted to be occupied by so-
called “racial Germans” or to be required by “racial Germans” as
“Lebensraum” or living space. This program proclaimed, among other
‘things, that so-called “racial Germans” were a “master race” entitled
to subjugate other peoples; that the German people should be ruled
under the Fuehrerprinzip (leadership prineciple); and that war was a
noble and necessary activity of Germans.

9. The name, prestige and financial support of KRUPP was used to
bring the NSDAP into power over Germany and to put into effect its
announced program. On 20 February 1933, immediately prior to the
crucial Reichstag election of 5 March 1933, Gustav Krupp von Bohlen,
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j .
together with othei" leading industrialists, met Hitler at Goering’s Berlin
house. Hitler declared his treasonable purpose to seize power by violence
if the Nazis failed in this election. Among other things he stated that:
private enterprise cannot be maintained in the age of democracy; when
the defense of the existing order is left to a majority it will irretrie-
vably go under; it is the noblest task of a leader to find ideals that are
stronger than the factors that pull the people apart; he found them in
Nationalism, in the denial of reconciliation between nations, in the
strength and power of individual personality; if one rejects pacifism,
one must offer a new idea in its place immediately; we must not forget™
that all the benefits of culture must be introduced more or less with
an iron fist, just as once upon a time the farmers were forced to plant
potatoes; we must first gain power if we want to crush the other side
completely; only when one knows that one has reached the pinnacle
of power, that there is no further stand before the Ilast election;
regardless of the outcome there will be no retreat; if the election does
not decide, the decision must be brought about by other means; there -
are only two possibilities, either to crowd back the opponent on the
basis of the constitution, and for this purpose once more this election,
or a struggle will be conducted with other weapons, which may demand
greater sacrifices; the question of restoration of the Wehrmacht will
not be decided at Geneva, but in Germany. At the conclusion of the
speech Goering asked for money, saying that, “The sacrifice asked for
would be so much easier for industry to bear if it realized that the
election of 5 March will surely be the last one for the next ten years,
' possibly for the next hundred years.” Gustav Krupp von Bohlen then
expressed to Hitler the industrialists’ “gratitude for having given us
such a clear picture of his ideas,” and initiated the collection of over
3,000,000 RM from the assembled industrialists with a pledge of 1,000,000
RM from the Ruhr. When the Reichstag met on 24 March 1933 following
the election of 5 March 1933 Hitler introduced the “Enabling Act” which
turned Germany into a dictatorship. The ouster from the Reichstag of
his political opponents and the aid of the Deutschnationale Volkspartei,
which was heavily financed and supported by KRUPP, gave him the
votes needed for its enactment.

10. The NSDAP, having achieved power over the political life of the
country, proceeded to extend its hold to all other phases of German life.
Gustav Krupp von Bohlen undertook, as Chairman of the Reich
Association'of German Industry, the largest association of German in-
dustrialists, to bring that Association into “agreement with the political
aims of the Reich Government.” In April 1933 he submitted to Hitler the
plan of that  Association for the reorganization of German industry -
according to the Fuehrerprinzip (leadership principle). The introduction
of this principle into the sphere of business and industry served to
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pbromote a war economy by centralizing authority through compulsory
memberships in so-called “autonomous” organizations governed by men
committed to carrying.out the program and aggressive aims .of the
Third Reich. :

11, To strengthen the NSDAP Gustav Krupp von Bohlen, in May
1933, organized the Adolf Hitler Spende. This was a fund collected
from every circle of German industry, banking a‘nd.agricullbure, and put
at the-disposal of Hitler, the Stahlhelm and the NSDAP organizations.
Eighty-five per cent of industry contributed to it and it was the greatest
private source of funds for the NSDAP. KRUPP alone. contributed in
excess of 6,000,000 RM to it. Its leadership, originally assumed by Gus-
tav Krupp von Bohlen, subsequently devolved upon the defendant
Alfred Krupp.

12. Immediately after the Nazi seizure of power the rearmament of
Germany was-accelerated. On 21 May 1935 Germany formally renounced
the armament clauses of the Versailles Treaty. By 1939 I-Iit}er was able
to state that: “For more than six years I have worked for the building
up of the German Wehrmacht. During this time more than 90 billions
have been spent for the building up of our army. It is today the best
equipped in the world and in every respect surpasses that of the
vear 1914.” -

13. To produce armaments on this vast scale the entire economic life
of Germany, ahd particularly the armmament industry, was reonganized.
The chief agency through which this was accomplished was the Four
Year Plan, establishment of which was announced on 8 September 1936
at the Nagzi Party rally in Nurnberg. Its purpose was to make Germany
ready for war in four years. In a memorandum to Goering, Plenipotent-
iary for the Four Year Plan, explaining its Jbjectives, Hitler stated °
that thé final solution of Germany’s problem lay in the acquisition of
new territories; that such acquisition was the task of “the political
leadership”; that in order for “the political leadership” to exercise its
responsibilities the German economy had to be mobilized for the
purpose of making Germany self-sufficient in critical war materials.

14. The defendants, and other KRUPP officials whose cooperation
was needed for the accomplishment of the aims of the Four Year
Plan, were advised as to the purposes of the plan and participated. in
its execution. On 17 December 1936 Goering made a speech in the
Preussenhaus in Berlin to the members of the Reichsgruppe Industrie in
which he made clear the intention and decision of the Third Reich to .
wage war. He said, among other things: “The battle\ which we are
approaching demands a colossal measure of productive ability. No limit
on the rearmament can be visualized. The only alternative in this case
is victory or destruction. If we win business will be sufficiently ‘com-
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pensated.” ‘He ended his speech: “Our whole nation is at stake, .We
live in a time when the final battle is in sight. We are already on the
threshhold of mobilization and we are -already at war. All that is
lacking is the actwal shooting.” On 17 March 1937 at a conference held
under the _éu-srpi-ces of the Four Year Plan and which was attended by
high ranking government officials and representatives of the leading
iron and steel firms, including KRUPP, Goering emphasized that the
“shortage of ores must not endanger the program of munition pro-
duction or armaments in case of war.” In the discussion that followed
he agreed that Roechling, a leading -industrialist, had correctly stated
the problem as: “What is the quantity that the German ore mining
industry must be prepared to supply the German nation in case of war,
and in how many years must this goal be attained?” At a second
meeting of that same group held three months later, on 16 June 1937,
_to discuss the progress of the program, Goering made even clearer that
Germany was preparing for war and that production and distribution,
including the export of iron and steel products, had to be adjusted
accordingly. Elsewhere he stated that the purpose of the Four Year
Plan was to create a foundation upon which preparation for war might
be accelerated and the most urgent necessity was to increase iron pro-
duction. Iron was to be used first to increase iron production, and then.
for the armed forces, for warships'and tanks, for the Four Year Plan
and for export for foreign exchange. The export of semi-finished pro-
ducts was to be reduced and care was to be exercised that export did
not facilitate the arming of the enemy. Goering was assured that only
six per cent of Germany's export of iron went to “so-called enemy
countries such as England, France, Belgium, Russia and Czechoslova-
kia.,” The iron and steel industries gave their full cooperation to this
‘program. On' 4 November 1938 at a conference in Duesseldorf of iron
and steel industrialists, including the defendants Alfred Krupp and
Loeser, Goering’s representatives congratulated the members of the
industry upon their accomplishments.

15. KRUPP fully and willingly cooperated in the rearmament of
Germany for foreign aggression. The KRUPP firm, under the direction
of the defendants, synchronized all its activities with the Genman
government and its plans and preparations for invasions and wars. Each
of the defendants, during the period of association with KRUPP, parti-
cipated in its activities in support of the program of aggression and
continued the assistance and aid to the Nazi Party initiated by Gustav
Krupp von. Bohlen as leader of KRUPP in 1933. The assistance KRUPP
rendered under the direction of the defendants, through its research,
foreign organizations, manufactures, and exports, was indispensable to
.the preparation, initiation and waging of Germany's aggressive wars.
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"16. KRUPP laboratories, furriacés and mines were utilized in the
attempt to make Germany self-sufficient and invincible. In cooperation
with the Four Year Plan research was conducted in coal, chemistry and
metallurgy, under the direction of the defendant Houdremont, for the
purpose of reducing Germany’s dependence upon outside sources by
the fullest utilization of German ores and other raw materials, even
those of poor quality. Research in armament production, started prior-
to the Nazi accession to power, was continued on a far vaster scale.
Personnel was doubled and elaborate tests were instituted. German
intervention in Spain in aid of Franco was"used as an opportunity to
test in actual combat the weapons developed by KRUPP. The results
of research carried on by KRUPP were utilized by the entire German -
armament industry. KRUPP gave other German armament firms the
necessary blueprints and information needed to produce vital arma-
ments, including siege guns, tank guns and turrets, mortars and caissons
for field guns. The defendant Mueller, working in close cooperation
with German military authorities, fully utilized KRUPP research and
personnel to design the weapons needed to meet the special conditions
to be antidipated in the invasion of particular countries.

17. All the productive facilities of the KRUPP {firm were coordinated
with the program for rearmament. Direct production of armaments on
a vast scale started in 1933 and continued in increasing volume until
. the last years of the war. Strict secrecy measures were instituted almost
immediately upon the start of the rearmament program to conceal its
scope. The KRUPP firm actively cooperated in the disguised methods
of financing used to conceal Germany's rearmament program. It was
one of the founders of the Metallurgische Forschung Gesellschaft, m.b.H.
(MEFO), through which Germany concealed the expenditure of
12,000,000,000 RM for rearmament purposes between 1935 and 1938.
KRUPP was one of the principal users of the “MEFO” bills until their
discontinuance in 1938, when it was no longer deemed necessary to
conceal the vast progress of German rearmament. The KRUPP firm was
one of the chief sources of supply of offensive weapons, such as heavy
tanks, artillery. and submarines, needed for the waging of aggressive
war. The “Gustav” gun which shelled Sevastopol, the submarines that
formed the “wolf packs” which harried Atlantic shipping, and the
tanks which overran most of Europe and North Africa for ‘Germany
were KRUPP products. In addition to finished armament products the
facilities of the KRUPP firm were used to manufacture intermediate
products for wsale to other "armament manufacturers. Production -
throughout KRUPP was regulated sirictly in accordance with the re-
quirements of the German war machine.

18. The products of the KRUPP shipyards and plants were indis-
pensable to the rebull_dmg of the German navy. By 1939 the Germania .
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Yards were constructing one submiarine a month. In addition to this
they were building a battleship, an aircraft carrier, cruisers, and other
vessels for the German navy. The “Bismarck,” “Tirpitz,” “Admiral
Graf Spee,” “Admiral Scheer” and “Deutschland” were armed by
KRUPP. In building and arming the German navy KRUPP disregarded
the limitations imposed by intermational treaties upon the armament
and size of German vessels, and pérticipatevd in concealing the breach
of those treaties.

19. To ‘meet the demands of the German rearmament program
KRUPP altered and expan&ed its production facilities, A new synthetic
gasoline plant, the KRUPPSCHE Treibstoffwerk G m.b.H., was established
at a cost of 20,000,000 RM, as part of the program to make Germany
self-sufficient in the event of war. The shipbuilding facilities of the
Germania yards were enlarged in accordance with the shipbuilding
program of the German navy under which it was planned to build three
battleships a year. The other production facilities of KRUPP were
similarly enlarged. Production of iron and steel by the Gusstahlfabrik
and the Friedrich-Alfred Huette, increased from 1,500,000 tons in 1932
to 4,000,000 tons in 1938. Production, in Reichsmarks, in the business
year ending 1942 was about five and one half times that of the pre-
Hitler, depression year ending in 1932. The number of employees in-
creased from 35,000 in 1932 to 112,000 in 1939. Part of this expansion
was financed directly by the German government and large German
banks and part by KRUPP, and resulted in a production in excess of ~
and different from the needs of a peacetime economy.

20. The exports and foreign affiliates and resources of KRUPP were
fully utilized by the defendants to assist the Third Reich in the
economic penetration of foreign countries for the purpose and with
the result of weakening the economies and military defensive strength
of foreign countries and strengthening the economies and offensive
military strength of the German Reich and its allies.

21. KRUPP’s foreign patents and agreements abroad were used to
restrict foreign production, keep foreign' prices high, provide KRUPP
with technical information and general economic intelligence and furnish
foreign exchange to KRUPP through royalty payments. These patents
and agreements affected particularly stainless Steel and tungsten
carbide, ‘the latter of which is of ‘great importance in the production of
machine tools. Under the terms of the licenses given in the United
States for the use of certain steel formulas, KRUPP required that it be
supplied with the production figures of the American licensees. After.
the outbreak of war in 1939 the KRUPP subsidiary in the United
States, the Nirosta Company, .continued to demand these rights, even
in respect- to royalty-free production by American plants on United
States government contraocts. To facilitate use of its foreign patents and
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licenses in the interest of Germany KRUPIP cloaked its interests in
foreign enterprises. .

22. KRUPP, in these and o!cher wiays, carried on esp1on'age activities
on behalf of the German government. Its business connections abroad
enabled it to secure information concerning armameng development and
progress outside Germany. This information was turned over to com-
‘petent military strength of the countries in question.

23. The KRUPP connections abroad were used for the. d.lssermnatlon
of Nazi propaganda. Personal letters setting out the Nazi viewpoint,
booklets sympathetic to the NSDAP, and similar material, were sent
out by KRUPP to the people with whom it did business abroad. This
was done-in close cooperation with the interested government bureaus
charged with distributing propaganda and in such fashion as to conceal
its official origin. The Third Reich was thus enabled.to increase the
effectiveness of its propaganda devices. The defendant Ihn supervised
much of this KRUPP activity, which was part of German preparation
for waging aggressive war-

24. KRUPP export business, like its research, production and foreign
affiliations, was likewise coordinated with the Nazi a